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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, g and commercializing small molecule drugstfa treatment of serious diseases.
Telaprevir, our lead drug candidate, is an orahbltiép C protease inhibitor and one of the mostaaded of a new class of antiviral treatments
in clinical development that targets hepatitis @isj or HCV, infection. Telaprevir is being evakrin a fully-enrolled registration program
focused on treatment-naive and treatment-experiepagents with genotype 1 HCV. We currently intéadile a new drug application, or
NDA, for telaprevir in the United States in the @ed half of 2010, assuming the successful compiaifmur ongoing registration progra
We also are developing, among other compoundsyYX-a drug candidate for the treatment of patiefitts cystic fibrosis, or CF. In the fir
half of 2009, we expect to begin a registrationgpam for VX-770 that focuses on CF patients with @651D mutation in the gene
responsible for CF.

HCV infection is a life-threatening disedbat affects approximately 3.2 million people fie tUnited States and causes inflammation of
the liver, significantly increasing the risk thapatient will develop liver failure or liver cance&senotype 1 HCV is the most prevalent HCV
genotype in North America, the European Union aaphd. Our Phase 3 clinical trial ADVANCE is desidiie evaluate telaprevir in
treatment-naive patients with genotype 1 HCV, whih goal of supporting registration of telaprewrdstablishing that telaprevir-based
treatment regimens can significantly improve sustdiviral response, or SVR, rates while decreas$iadotal treatment duration for most
patients from 48 weeks to 24 weeks. Our PhasenRalitrial REALIZE is designed to evaluate a tetapr-based treatment regimen in each
major category of patients with genotype 1 HCV hlawe failed to achieve an SVR with prior treatmeith pegylated-interferon, or peg-
IFN, and ribavirin, or RBV. We designed our regision program based on data from our Phase 2[zalitrials, including data from our
PROVE 1 and PROVE 2 clinical trials in treatmentwegpatients, in which the SVR rates in the 24-wiedkprevirbased treatment arms wi
61% and 69% compared to 41% and 46% in the coatno$, respectively. Our registration program adsleaised on promising interim data
from our Phase 2b clinical trial in treatment-exgeced patients. Safety data from our Phase Zaelitials indicated that the most common
adverse events, regardless of treatment assignmerd,fatigue, rash, headache and nausea. Gasstiiatl disorders, skin adverse events,
including rash and pruritus, and anemia were mm@guient, and the rash more frequently severe gieflaprevir arms than in the control a
over the dosing period. We are collaborating ongllobal clinical development program for telaprevith Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V., a
Johnson & Johnson company, and Mitsubishi Tanaben®d Corporation. We have retained exclusive coroiaeights to telaprevir in Nor!
America.

Cystic fibrosis is an inherited disordeatthesults in a progressive decline in lung funttod a significant decrease in the life expect
of patients with CF. The drug candidates that veed@veloping for CF are designed to address therlyinlg cause of CF by partially
restoring the function of defective cystic fibrosi@nsmembrane conductance regulator, or CFTReipoin CF patients. In October 2008, we
completed a Phase 2a clinical trial of VX-770 ingfients with CF who had the G551D mutation th&bived dosing VX-770 over 14-day
and 28-day periods. The primary endpoint for thiisical trial was safety, and no serious adversengv attributable to VX-70 were observe
Based on the promising lung function data from diisical trial, as measured by improvements in FEVWhe lung function test most

commonly used to monitor CF disease progressiahpased also on observed changes in biomarkersabktto measure the activity of the
CFTR protein, we are working with regulatory autties in North America and Europe to finalize tresidjn of a registration program for VX-
770.

We have built a drug discovery capabilitgittintegrates biology, pharmacology, biophysibgnaistry, automation and information
technologies in a coordinated manner, with the gbatore efficiently identifying promising drug cdidates to address significant unmet
medical needs. Using our drug discovery capabiityhave identified, among other drug candidatéaptevir; VX-770; VX-813
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and VX-985, two additional HCV protease inhibitovs§-809, a drug candidate designed for patients @iEF; and VX-509, a Janus Kinase 3,
or JAK3, inhibitor that targets immune-mediateddanfmatory diseases, or IMID. We intend to contitmévest in our research programs
with the goal of adding promising new compoundsuodrug development pipeline. We also co-discayéosamprenavir calcium, an HIV
protease inhibitor that is being marketed by GlariBKline plc as Lexiva in the United States andziren Europe.

OUR STRATEGY

Our goal is to become a fully integrateotéchnology company with industry-leading capabtitin research, development and
commercialization of innovative drugs that provalistantial benefits to patients with serious dissaThe key elements of our strategy are:

Complete development of and successfuthnuercialize telaprevir. We are investing significant resources in @gistration program
for telaprevir, which is designed to support regison of telaprevir for treatment-naive and treaitrexperienced patients infected with
genotype 1 HCV. We are focused on 24-week respguigked telaprevir-based treatment regimens fotrtreatnaive patients and on treati
all categories of treatment-experienced patientdyding null responders to peg-IFN and RBV, whe tie most difficult category of HCV
patients to treat successfully. In preparatiorttierplanned launch of telaprevir, we are invesitmgur marketing organization and beginning
a dialogue with commercial health insurers and gawent organizations regarding the public heakk posed by HCV and the potential for
specifically targeted antiviral agents to providéstantial benefits to patients, thereby redudiegiturden of HCV infection on the health ¢
system.

Establish a leadership position in the traant of HCV infection. We believe that if telaprevir is launched oa timeline that is
currently anticipated, our most substantial iniiampetition will be from combination treatmentiragns involving protease inhibitors, if
any, that are approved on a similar timeline tagedvir. Over the longer term, we believe thatttmeat of HCV infection will continue to
require combination drug therapies in order to eodioptimal SVR rates, including potentially alkbdrug combinations that would not
require or would reduce reliance on interferonsictvimequire weekly injections. We are pursuing bass development activities with
potentially complimentary therapies including pobmase inhibitors, other direct acting antiviralsg aovel interferons, which could be
developed in combination with telaprevir or ourliearstage protease inhibitors.

Develop our CF drug candidates.We believe that we have the potential to dgvelod commercialize drug candidates that could be
used to treat a range of patients with CF. In itg fialf of 2009, we intend to commence a regigtnaprogram for VX-770 that will focus on
adult and pediatric patients with the G551D mutatia the first half of 2009 we also are planningdmmence a Phase 2a clinical trial of
VX-809, a drug candidate targeted at a broader grbpati@nts with CF that have mutations resultinglifferent defects in the CFTR prote
We believe that drugs that address the underlydnges of CF can provide meaningful benefits tcepédi

Invest in research and early developmentVe intend to continue to invest significanto@ses in research and early development
across a relatively broad array of therapeuticsadee to the relatively high potential for failwany specific effort. We believe this
diversified strategy is essential to the strendtbuv business as we seek to identify additionahpsing drug candidates that could populate
our future drug development pipeline. We direct msearch activities toward therapies designeddoess serious diseases because these
therapies have the potential to deliver the gréa@se for patients, physicians and the healtle sgstem.

Capitalize on collaboration arrangementsidrusiness development opportunitiesCollaborations provide us with financial supgpor
and other valuable resources for our developmetht@search programs. We plan to continue to relyadlaborators to support, develop and
commercialize some of our drug candidates eithetdmade or in markets in which we are not concetimigaour resources. We also seek
opportunistically to license and acquire technatsgresources and drugs or drug candidates thattheypotential to strengthen our drug
discovery platform, pipeline and/or commercial ofipnities.
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PIPELINE

Our pipeline is described in the followitadple. In addition to those listed below, we argaging in preclinical activities with respect to
several additional drug candidates.

Drug or Drug Candidate Clinical Indication(s) Phase Marketing Rights (Region)
Infectious Diseases

Lexiva/Telzir HIV infection Marketed GlaxoSmithKline (Worldwide)’
Telaprevir (VX-950) Chronic HCV infection ~ Phase 3 Vertex (North America)

Mitsubishi Tanabe (Far East)
Janssen (Rest of Worl

VX-813 Chronic HCV infectior Phase 1i Vertex (Worldwide)

VX-985 Chronic HCV infectior Preclinical Vertex (Worldwide)

Cystic Fibrosis

VX-770 Cystic fibrosis Phase 2i Vertex (Worldwide)

VX-809 Cystic fibrosis Phase 1| Vertex (Worldwide)

IMID

VX-509 IMID Phase 1i Vertex (Worldwide)

Cancer

MK-5108 (VX-689) Cancel Phase : Merck & Co., Inc. (Worldwide

AVN-944 (VX-944) Cancet Phase : Avalon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Worldwit
* We sold our rights to future royalties from salé&exiva/Telzir in May 2008.

Telaprevir (VX-950) (investigational oral HCV protease inhibitor for the treatment of chronic HCV infection)

Telaprevir, our lead drug candidate, i®eally-administered hepatitis C protease inhibilitelaprevir is designed to inhibit the NS3-4A
serine protease, an enzyme necessary for HCV agiplic The United States Food and Drug Administrator FDA, has granted "Fast Tra
designation to telaprevir. Telaprevir is being istigated in several concurrent late-stage clirtigalls, including ADVANCE, a Phase 3
clinical trial in treatment-naive patients, ILLUMME, a clinical trial in treatment-naive patieras,d REALIZE, a Phase 3 clinical trial in
treatment-experienced patients. Enrollment in ADV@E ILLUMINATE and REALIZE was completed in Octob2008, December 2008
and February 2009, respectively. We are planningutmmitting an NDA for telaprevir in the secondflwl2010, assuming the successful
completion of our ongoing registration program.

Under our agreement with Janssen, we hetained exclusive commercial rights to telapraviNorth America and are leading the
clinical development program of telaprevir in NoAmerica and the Janssen territories. Jansserhbaght to market telaprevir in the rest of
the world except for Japan and certain Far Easttci@s, where we are collaborating with Mitsubi$anabe. Janssen has agreed to be
responsible for 50% of drug development costs utfteedevelopment program for the Vertex and Janteseitories and to make contingent
milestone payments based on the successful develdpapproval and launch of telaprevir. Jansseib&iresponsible for the
commercialization of telaprevir, including the méamature of its own commercial supply of telaprewintside of North America and the Far
East. Telaprevir was discovered in our collaborgtimow ended, with Eli Lilly and Company. We exptcpay Eli Lilly certain royalties on
future sales of telaprevir, if approved.

Background: Prevalence and Treatment of Chronic Hegptitis C Virus Infection

HCV infection causes an inflammation of liwer called chronic hepatitis. This condition garogress to scarring of the liver, called
fibrosis, or more advanced scarring, called cirthd2atients with cirrhosis may go on to develepilifailure or the complications of cirrhos
including liver cancer. The World Health Organipathas reported that HCV is responsible for moas th0% of all liver cancer cases and
two-thirds of all liver transplants in the develdpgorld.

The World Health Organization has estimaled about 170 million people are chronically stéel with HCV worldwide and that an
additional 3 million to 4 million people are infect each year. The Centers for Disease Control eexkRtion have estimated that
approximately 3.2 million people in the United $&are chronically infected with HCV.
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Our clinical development activities relatedelaprevir are focused on genotype 1 HCV, wiiscthe most prevalent form of HCV in the
United States, the European Union and Japan. Wevkdhat approximately 2.6 million patients in theited States have genotype 1 HCV.
We believe that these patients include approximatg0,000 patients who have already been diagnegbdyenotype 1 HCV and 1.8 million
patients who remain undiagnosed.

In addition to being the most prevalentriaf HCV, genotype 1 HCV is currently the most idififit to treat of the primary HCV
genotypes. The current standard treatment for tiofedy genotype 1 HCV, which was first approve®@01, is a combination of peg-IFN
and RBV, generally administered for 48 weeks. Ttdatment regimen is associated with significamé siffects, including fatigue, flu-like
symptoms, rash, depression and anemia. Among patid1o begin treatment, a significant percentageatients infected with genotype 1
HCYV fail to show a long-term sustained responsta¢oapy. For example, on an intent-to-treat b&<i% and 46%, respectively, of
genotype 1 HCV patients in the control arms of Bhase 2b clinical trials known as PROVE 1 and PRQ\4ehieved an SVR. In another
recent clinical trial conducting by another compamyolving approximately 3,070 treatment-naive @atts in the United States with
genotype 1 HCV, between 38% and 41% of patientsivery peg-N and RBV achieved an SVR. We believe that ov&),@00 patients wit
genotype 1 HCV in the United States have undergoioe therapy with peg-IFN and RBYV, but have faitedachieve an SVR.

Telaprevir Clinical Development

In October 2008, we completed enrollmemADVANCE, a Phase 3 clinical trial of telaprevirdea treatment regimens in treatment-
naive patients with genotype 1 HCV. The ADVANCELtis an international 3-arm double-blinded placebatrolled clinical trial that
enrolled approximately 1,050 patients. The clinicial contains two telaprevir-based treatment amwng in which patients receive 12 weeks
of telaprevir-based triple combination therapy and in which patients receive 8 weeks of telaprbased triple combination therapy, in e
case taking peg-IFN and RBV for a subsequent pearidine after telaprevir. Patients in both of teaprevir-based treatment arms who meet
extended rapid viral response criteria, or eRVH, a@mplete all treatment after 24 weeks, whileigrats who are responding to treatment but
do not meet the eRVR criteria will continue recetvpegt-N and RBV for a total of 48 weeks of therapy.aahieve an eRVR a patient m
have undetectable HCV RNA levels at week 4 and wige#fter the start of treatment. In February 2089 announced that dosing of
telaprevir or placebo, 8 or 12 weeks, depending@stment arm assignment, as part of the combimagigimen, is complete in all patients
enrolled in the ADVANCE trial. We expect to have Bdata from this clinical trial in the first half 8010.

ADVANCE Clinical Trial Design

Weok 8 \Wask 12 Waak 24 Week 48 Week 72

VR oRAVA: stop af Wesk 24/Follow-Lip
n=350 - FEGREY

Mo aFVR: conlinug PEG/AEBY 1o Waeh 48 Fallaw.Up

TR, eRVH: stop at Weak 24/Follow-Up
Nu35) (RSl PEG/ARBY I—
o R Mo aBVA: conlinug PEGARBRY 1o Wooek 48 Fallow-Lip

n=350 PEGRBY Follaw-Lip

7] Telaprewir (VX-950) + Peginta navirin nterderan/Ribavirin oliow-Up
B Tel WX-050) + P riecon/fi { Paginter Ribavi F

@RVA = extended rapid viral responsa (undatectable HTY RNA al Wioak 4 AND Weirk 12)
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In February 2009, our collaborator TiboRd@mrmaceuticals Ltd., which is a Johnson & Johreonpany and an affiliate of Janssen,
completed enrollment of approximately 650 patiéntthe Phase 3 clinical trial referred to as theAREZE trial. The REALIZE trial is an
international 3-arm clinical trial of telaprevirded treatment regimens in patients with genotyp€V who failed to achieve an SVR with
previous treatment with peg-IFN and RBV. The REAEIlixicludes the following patient groups:

. null responders—those patients who achieved lessdl? log reduction in HCV RNA levels at week Tpor therapy;

. partial responders—those patients who achieveebat b 2 log reduction in HCV RNA levels at week it failed to achieve
undetectable HCV RNA levels by week 24 of priorépgy; and

. relapsers—those patients who achieved undetedtdtleRNA levels at the completion of at least 42 wseef prior treatment,
but relapsed after treatment ended.

REALIZE Clinical Trial Design

Wesk 4 Week 12  Week 18 Week 48 Wesk 72
ne260 RN Fallow=Lip
n=260 iy ' Fallow-Lip

n=130 RBY Follaw:Up

[ Telaprevir (VX-950) + Peginterferon/fibavirin ] Pegintederon/Ribavirin [ Follow-Up

In December 2008, we completed enrolimépadients in a clinical trial, referred to as the UMINATE clinical trial, which includes
evaluation of 24-week and 48-week total treatmemations in treatment-naive patients infected \gihotype 1 HCV who achieve eRVR in
response to telaprevir-based treatment regimens.clihical trial is a randomized, open-label trilaat enrolled approximately 500 patients.
ILLUMINATE is designed to supplement SVR data ob&al from the ADVANCE trial to evaluate the beneiii, for patients who achieve
an eRVR, of extending treatment with peg-IFN andVRBbm 24 to 48 weeks. We expect to have SVR dat fthis trial in the first half of
2010.

ILLUMINATE Clinical Trial Design

Waak 12 Waek 24 Waok 48 Week 72

Siop al Woas 24/Follow.-Up
aRYAR

Confinue PEG/RBY 1o Weak 48 Fallow-Lip

ho eRVA

Continue PEG/RBY 10 Weehk 48 Faligw-Lp

) Tetapeavir (VX-050) + PeginterdferonRibavirin [ PegimterferanRibavirin [ Follow-Up

@RVA = sxtandid ragid viral response (undetectable HOV AMNA af Wk 4 AND Woek 12)
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Telaprevir Clinical Data
Treatment-Naive Patients

We have completed two Phase 2b clinicalgrof telaprevir-based combination therapy ingrds with genotype 1 HCV, which enrolled
an aggregate of approximately 580 treatment-nadtieqts and are referred to as PROVE 1 and PRO\@haAn intent-to-treat basis, in the
24-week telaprevibased treatment arms of PROVE 1 and PROVE 2, 6 169%, respectively, of patients achieved an S\ driteria fo
SVR in PROVE 1 and PROVE 2 required that the p&ibave undetectable HCV RNA level$ess than 10 IU/mL as measured by the R
TaqMan® assay—24 weeks post-treatment. On an Hxeinéat basis, 41% and 46%, respectively, of patientise control arms of PROVE
and PROVE 2 achieved an SVR.

An undetectable HCV RNA level measured 2&ks following completion of therapy is the currerdgthod for determining whether a
patient has achieved an SVR. For PROVE 1 and PRV have SVR data for all of the clinical triaires. For some of our other clinical
trials of telaprevir, we do not yet have final SdRta for all patients in one or more of the clihical arms. If SVR data is not available, we
may occasionally present information, if we hayedncerning undetectable HCV RNA levels at 12 wsgmbst-treatment, HCV RNA levels
at the end-of-treatment and/or on-treatment HCV R&l&ls after patients have completed 4, 12, 286owveeks of treatment.

SVR has become the accepted measure afespecause prior clinical trials and observatisnalies by third parties suggest that n
viral relapse occurs in the first 24 weeks aftenptetion of therapy, with very low rates of relapsere than 24 weeks after completion of
treatment. In PROVE 2, we had approximately 118pé in the telaprevir-based treatment arms winieaed an SVR—undetectable HCV
RNA 24 weeks after the end-of-treatment—and whoeviellowed out to 48 weeks after the end-of-treatm®f these, two patients
experienced viral relapse after the 24-week pesttinent SVR assessment. Each of these two lafssiegppatients had discontinued
treatment after approximately 60 days, and ond@&htwas in the PROVE 2 treatment arm that excliREd. In the REALIZE, ADVANCE
and ILLUMINATE clinical trials, SVR rates will be easured in each of the telaprevir-based treatnrerg and the control arms 72 weeks
after treatment commences regardless of the plagimedion or actual duration of therapy.

Patients Who Did Not Respond To Prior Therapy

We also have reported results of an intenralysis from PROVE 3, a randomized, double-blpidcebo-controlled Phase 2b clinical
trial of telaprevir-based combination therapy itigats with genotype 1 HCV who did not achieve &RSwith a previous treatment with peg-
IFN and RBV. The interim analysis included 115 eats who received treatment with a 24-week teldptmsed regimen—12 weeks of
telaprevir-based triple-combination therapy follal®y an additional 12 weeks of peg-IFN and RBVtiramt. Of the 115 patients in this
treatment arm, 66 were prior non-responders, winicludes null responders and partial respondersyet@ prior relapsers; and 9 were prior
breakthroughs—patients who had viral rebound dupingr treatment. The following table summarizes tbsults of this interim analysis
performed 12 weeks after completion of therapytffierpatients in this 24-week telaprevir-based meat arm of PROVE 3. SVR rates for
patients in this clinical trial arm are not yet déable.

Number of Patients with
Percentage of Patients wit

Total Number  Undetectable HCV RNA
Undetectable HCV RNA

Patient Group of Patients 12 weeks postreatment 12 weeks post-treatment
Non-responders (includes null and partial respon 66 27 41%
Relapser: 40 29 73%
Breakthrough:t 9 4 44%
Total 11t 60 52%
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In the control arm of PROVE 3, which is exading 48 weeks of peg-IFN and RBV only, data dadéd that on an intent-teeat basis 89
of the 114 patients in the control arm had undatdetHCV RNA at week 12 on-treatment, and 30% hatktectable HCV RNA at week 36.
In prior third-party studies of peg-IFN and RBVtieatment-failure patients, the proportion of patsevho had undetectable HCV RNA at
week 36 on-treatment has been significantly highan the proportion who ultimately achieved SVRdHf-treatment and post-treatment
data—including SVR rates—are not yet availabletffiercontrol arm of PROVE 3. Patient dosing has lweenpleted in all arms of PROVE 3
and all patients are now being followed post-treatm

In addition to the 24-week telaprevir-basegimen that includes RBV described above and@eeek control arm described above,
other treatment regimens are being evaluated in\HR® a 24-week telaprevir-based treatment armautikBV, and a 48-week treatment
arm that includes 24 weeks of telaprevir dosingambination with peg-IFN and RBV followed by 24 Wweef peg-IFN and RBV alone. The
interim PROVE 3 analysis supports the inclusio®BWV in future clinical trials of telaprevir-baseegimens in treatment-failure patients,
similar to earlier observations in our clinicabts with treatment-naive subjects. Available omtimeent results from the PROVE 3 treatment
arm in which patients received 24 weeks of treatmath telaprevir suggest that additional dosingedéprevir beyond 12 weeks does not
confer additional benefit to patients.

We also are conducting a clinical triafereed to as the 107 Study, in patients who didawbieve an SVR in the control arms of the
PROVE 1, PROVE 2 or PROVE 3 clinical trials. Inglaiinical trial, these treatment-experienced pasi@re being treated with telaprevir
triple combination therapy for 12 weeks followed1®/or 36 weeks of treatment with peg-IFN and RBdha depending on their prior
response to treatment and their response to treaimehe 107 Study. The following table summaridata from an interim analysis of results
from the 107 Study. The interim results includeadat patients who have reached the applicable uneasent date or would have reached the
applicable measurement date, but who discontingadnhent or whose HCV RNA levels became detectatide to that date.

Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of
Patients with Patients with Patients with
Total Number  Undetectable HCV RNA  Undetectable HCV RNA  Undetectable HCV RNA

Patient Group of Patients 4 weeks on-treatment 12 weeks on-treatment 24 weeks on-treatment
Null Responder 48 40% (19 of 48 61% (28 of 46 43% (18 of 42
Partial Responde 33 85% (28 of 33 90% (26 of 29 82% (18 of 22
Relapser: 22 91% (20 of 22 94% (16 of 17 83% (5 of 6)
Breakthrought 1 100% (1 of1) 100% (1 of1) 0% (0of1)

Safety

Our Phase 2 clinical trials enrolled mdrart 1,000 patients with genotype 1 HCV. The advevest profile has been generally
consistent across these clinical trials. Safeta ffatm our Phase 2 clinical trials indicated ttnt tnost common adverse events, regardless of
treatment assignment, were fatigue, rash, headauwheausea. The most common adverse events repuootedrequently in patients
receiving telaprevir have been gastrointestinah&s/eskin events—rash and pruritus—and anemia.€Thave been reports of severe rashes in
clinical trials involving telaprevir-based treatmi®nn our Phase 2 clinical trials, the most comraduerse event leading to discontinuation
among patients receiving a telaprebb@ised treatment regimen was rash. In PROVE 1 a@MPR rash resulted in treatment discontinuat
in approximately 7% of patients in the telaprevaisbd treatment arms. Other adverse events reported Phase 2 clinical trials were similar
in type and frequency to those seen with peg-IFNRBYV treatment.
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Additional Telaprevir Trials

In the PROVE, ADVANCE, REALIZE and ILLUMINAE clinical trials, the patients in the telaprebased treatment arms are being
dosed with 750 mg of telaprevir three-times dailyerg eight hours. In order to explore the safety antiviral activity of a twice-daily—
every twelve hours—dosing regimen of telaprevihoféc is conducting the C208 clinical trial, whietrolled approximately 160 treatment-
naive patients infected with genotype 1 HCV. Thegppsee of the C208 trial is to compare twice-daigidg regimens of telaprevir:125 m¢
every 12 hours—in combination with peg-IFN and RBth three-times daily dosing regimens—750 mg g\&hours—in combination witl
peg-IFN and RBV. Two different types of peg-IFNokvn as alfa-2a and alfa-2b, are being used incthigal trial. The following table
summarizes the week 4 and week 12 interim data thenC208 trial.

Percentage of Percentage of
Patients with Patients with
Total Number Undetectable HCV RNA  Undetectable HCV RNA

Telaprevir Dosing Combination Therapy of Patients 4 weeks on-treatment 12 weeks on-treatment
750 mg every 8 houl alfa-2a (PEGASYS)/RB' 40 80% 93%
750 mg every 8 houl alfa-2b (PEGINTRON)/RB) 42 69% 93%
1,125 mg every 12 hot
alfa-2a (PEGASYS)/RB' 40 83% 83%
1,125 mg every 12 hot
alfa-2b (PEGINTRON)/RB\ 39 67% 85%

In this analysis, in the three-times dailfia-2a treatment arm and the three-times daib-2lf treatment arm four patients and two
patients, respectively, discontinued treatmenttduedverse events and one patient and three patiespectively, experienced viral
breakthrough. In the twice-daily alfa-2a and twitaly alfa-2b arms, four patients and three pasiergspectively, discontinued treatment due
to adverse events, and two patients and threenpgtiespectively, experienced viral breakthrodyk.believe that this interim data support
the potential for further evaluation of twice-dadlgsing of telaprevir.

Tibotec also is conducting two clinicabts of telaprevir in patients with different HCVrgstypes. Tibotec has completed an interim
analysis of one of these trials, which we refeagahe C209 clinical trial. C209 is a clinical teploring the viral kinetics of telaprevir in
approximately 50 patients with genotype 2 or gepetg HCV infection. The interim analysis was cortddafter all subjects had completed
2 weeks of telaprevir dosing in combination witlggEN and RBV. Preliminary viral kinetic resultstate end of week 2 of dosing suggest
that telaprevir has substantial antiviral actidtyainst genotype 2 HCV. Analyses of viral dynanaics underway to further characterize the
antiviral activity of telaprevir against genotyp&ZV. Preliminary viral kinetic results at the eofdweek 2 do not support further
investigation of telaprevir in patients with genagy3 HCV infection. In the other of these clinit@ls, Tibotec is evaluating telaprevir-based
treatment regimens in patients infected with gepet HCV.

We are planning to initiate with Tibote®hase 2 clinical trial of telaprevir in patientdtwHIV/HCV co-infection in the second half
20009.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Clinical Program

Mitsubishi Tanabe has initiated registratidals of telaprevir in Japan focused on evabratif 24-week telaprevir-based regimens in
approximately 300 patients with genotype 1 HCV. §éhtrials include both treatment-naive patientstesmtment-experienced patients. In
these clinical trials, telaprevir is being dosed¥a weeks in combination with peg-IFN and RBV. $dibishi Tanabe expects to have SVR
data from its Phase 3 clinical trials of telapremimid-2011.

VX-813 and VX-985 (investigational oral HCV protease inhibitors for the treatment of chronic HCV infection)

VX-813 and VX-985 are novel, investigatibhlCV protease inhibitors we discovered. We haveaited a Phase 1a clinical trial of VX-
813 in healthy volunteers and VX-985 is in pre-iciath development. In the first quarter of 2009, teeminated development of VX-500,
another protease inhibitor, based on interim reduim a Phase 1b clinical trial. We have worldwigwelopment and commercialization
rights to VX-813 and VX-985.
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Cystic Fibrosis

Cystic fibrosis is a recessive genetic diso that affects about 30,000 people in the Undes and 70,000 worldwide. While CF is a
systemic disease, progressive loss of lung funésidhe primary cause of increased mortality inguas with CF. Abnormally thick mucus in
the lungs of patients with CF leads to chronic lurfgctions, lung inflammation and ultimately pregsive decline in lung function. Some
patients with CF also experience problems with tige, due to a lack of CFTR function in the paastaesulting in the need for enzyme
replacement therapy. According to the Cystic Filsré®undation in 2006, the predicted median agaiofival for patients with cystic fibros
is 37 years. The underlying cause of CF is a gealgtiinherited deficiency in the production origity of the CFTR protein. The CFTR
protein is involved in controlling the movementabiloride ions into and out of cells in the lungeswglands, pancreas and other organs.

CF develops when neither of the two copfethe CFTRgene, referred to as alleles, produce sufficienttfional CFTR protein. There
are numerous mutations in tB&TRgene that result in CF, including the G551D mutatiad the F508del mutation. The G551D mutation,
which is present in approximately 4% of the CF gafian in the United States, results in a gatinfipdiewhere the defective CFTR protein
reaches the cell surface but does not efficiemélygport chloride ions across the cell membrane.A308del mutation, which is present in
approximately 90% of the patients with CF in thdteeh States, results in a trafficking defect whitie CFTR protein does not reach the cell
surface in sufficient quantities. In addition te thrimary trafficking defect, we believe basedmnitro studies that the F508del CFTR prot
may also have a gating defect that affects thetimmof any F508del CFTR proteins that do reachcilesurface.

There currently is no available therapyt thaoroves the function of defective CFTR proteiimstead, available treatments for CF
pulmonary disease focus on improving mucus cle& &men the lungs as well as treating lung infectiand inflammation. Improved mucus
clearance is sought through physical therapy, attai of a mucus thinning drug such as Pulmozymlalation of hypertonic saline. Lung
infections are treated with inhaled and systemtibantics while inflammation is treated with antifflammatory agents like ibuprofen. In
addition, the majority of CF patients take pandceahzyme supplements to assist with food absarptialigestion. FEV,, a test of the

amount of air that an individual can exhale in saeond is the lung function test most commonly usedonitor CF disease progression,
which is characterized by progressive decrease&h, values compared to FEWalues observed in healthy individuals. In additiomeing

used to monitor disease progression, the FE¢ét has been used as an efficacy end-point foeutrently approved pulmonary drugs for the
treatment of CF. Since CF is a chronic diseasetaiclinical trials of CF drug candidates haveadived the measurement of FEValues
over a number of months. Mean increases in pretiieEeV ; of between 5% and 10% over 24-week periods have bleserved in the pivotal
clinical trials of the mucus thinning drugs andibiotics most widely used for the management of CF.

We are conducting clinical trials of twaidrcandidates, VX-770 and VX-809, that were designamprove the function of defective
CFTR proteins in patients with CF. We discovered-¥20 and VX-809 in our research collaboration v@ystic Fibrosis Foundation
Therapeutics Incorporated, or CFFT, and with thapsuat and participation of the Cystic Fibrosis Fdation. We hold worldwide
development and commercialization rights to VX-ara VX-809, but we would be required to pay CFFJates on any future sales of VX-
770 or VX-809, if approved.
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VX-770 (investigational oral CFTR potentiator for the treatment of cystic fibrosis)

VX-770 is an investigational drug candidd#signed to increase chloride ion transport acwe#snembranes by partially restoring the
activity of defective CFTR proteins. We are workingh regulatory authorities in North America andr&pe on the design of a registration
program for VX-770 and expect to begin this registm program in the first half of 2009. The VX-7i#istration program will focus on CF
patients who carry the G551D mutation on at leastallele, including both adult and pediatric patse

Registration Program
The registration program for VX-770 is egpeal to include three separate clinical trials:

. The first clinical trial in the VX-770 registratigprogram will be an international clinical trialatwill enroll patients with CF
ages 12 and older with the G551D mutation on atleae of the two alleles. The trial is expectedvaluate VX-770
administered orally twice daily compared to placeker a period of at least six months. We expedatit@te this trial in the
first half of 2009.

. The second clinical trial is expected to be anrirdggonal clinical trial that will enroll patientgith CF ages 6 to 11 with the
G551D mutation on at least one allele. This tsaxpected to evaluate VX-770 administered oralige daily compared to
placebo. We expect that this clinical trial wilvimive a smaller group of patients than the firgtichl trial.

. The third clinical trial is expected to enroll Chtjgnts with the F508del mutation on both of the tdleles. The trial is
expected to evaluate VX-770 when administered ptalice daily. This trial is expected to provideditibnal safety data for
the VX-770 registration program and will be thesficlinical trial to evaluate the clinical activiof VX-770 in patients with the
F508del mutation on both alleles.

The primary efficacy endpoint of all triafsthe VX-770 registration program will be basedREV ; measurements, which were used for

the currently approved CF pulmonary drugs. Addiicsecondary endpoints, including sweat chlorideictvis described below, will also be
measured to determine the effect of VX-770 in hredfb restore the function of defective CFTR prugei

Phase 2a Clinical Trial of VX-770

The Phase 2a clinical trial of VX-770 etedl39 patients with the G551D mutation on at least allele, 20 of whom were enrolled in
Part 1 of the clinical trial and 19 of whom weredaled in Part 2 of the clinical trial. Patientshart 1 of this clinical trial were dosed with
VX-770 or placebo over 14 day periods. In Part thif Phase 2a clinical trial, patients were dasest 28 days in the following three arms:
eight patients received 150 mg of VX-770 twice-giasleven patients received 250 mg of VX-770 twiedyd and four patients received a
placebo twice-daily.

Safety (primary endpoint)

The primary endpoint of the VX-770 Phasel®aical trial was safety. In Part 1, observedede events were similar between VX-770
and placebo treatment over the dosing period. Tevioss adverse events were observed in one pati€art 1, but were not attributed to
VX-770. In Part 2 of this clinical trial, no serieadverse events were reported and no patientsndiisaced treatment over the 28-day dosing
periods. Also in Part 2, all reported adverse atb/emre mild or moderate in severity. A detailefitsaanalysis is ongoing.

Lung Function and CFTR Protein Function (seconésgpoints)

In the VX-770 Phase 2a clinical trial, weasured secondary endpoints of lung function antRgprotein function. We measured
changes in lung function using FEV CFTR activity was
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evaluated through measurements of sweat chlorideasal potential difference, or NPD. Elevated swhboride levels—high levels of salt

in sweat—occur in CF patients and result direathnf defective CFTR activity in epithelial cellstime sweat duct. Patients with CF typically
have elevated sweat chloride levels that are iegxof 60 mmol/L, compared to normal values of feas 40 mmol/L. NPD assesses several
aspects of ion channel activity by measuring v@telganges across the nasal epithelia and is usedissct measure of CFTR activity and
chloride ion movement in upper airway epithelidielTypical assessments of patient NPD show venwy CFTR-mediated chloride ion
transport in the nasal passage of patients with CF.

In Part 1 of the Phase 2a clinical triaM-770, the eight patients who received 150 mgenadaily over 14 days had a 10.1%
improvement in lung function as measured by anease in FEV, . In these patients, sweat chloride levels had amoecrease of 42.3

mmol/L from a mean baseline of 95.5 mmol/L over 1deday dosing period. The NPD component decrelagé&d4 mV, indicating increased
CFTR function. There were no statistically sigrafit changes in any of the efficacy measures ipldeaebo arms of Part 1. The four patients
receiving placebo in Part 1 showed a slight deer@a&EV, , no notable change in sweat chloride levels arid% mV change in NPD.

A summary of data regarding lung functionl diomarkers of the CFTR protein function, inchgll'p-values" from Part 2 of this
Phase 2a clinical trial is set forth in the tabddolwv. The result of statistical testing is ofteffigied in terms of a "p-value,” with a p-value of
0.05 or less generally considered to represerdtstitally significant difference.

FEV ; Mean Sweat Chloride NPD Mean
Treatment Increase from Mean Decrease Sweat Decrease from
Number of Baseline at from Baseline at Chloride Baseline at
Patients Arm day 28 (p-value) day 28 (p-value) Baseline day 28 (p-value)
8 150 m¢  11.6% (p<0.01 -52.8 mmol/L(p<0.01 102 mmol/L -4.3 mV (p<0.05
7 250 m¢  7.4% (p<0.05 -32.4 mmol/L (p<0.0t  94.9 mmol/l -10.1 mV (p<0.0t
4 Placeb:  7.0% (p=0.13  +4.8 mmol/L (p=0.38 98.3 mmol/lL +0.3 mV (p=0.88

The pattern of FEYresponse in the VX-770 arms was characterizedrapid and sustained increase in FE¥irough 28 days. The
increase in FEV, in the placebo arm was not considered statisticadjgificant.

VX-809 (investigational oral CFTR corrector compourd for the treatment of CF)

We are evaluating VX-809, an investigatiararector compound designed to increase the cdrat@®n of CFTR proteins on the cell
surface in patients with CFTR mutations that resuttafficking defects. We have completed two Rhaglinical trials of VX-809 in healthy
volunteers. The first clinical trial was a singledamultiple-dose trial. The second was a singlesdtigical trial examining the
pharmacokinetics and safety of a solid dosage ffriX-809. We have completed an escalating dosenphaeokinetics and safety Phase 1
trial of VX-809 in patients with CF who carry th&®del mutation on at least one of the two allélés.plan to initiate a Phase 2a, 28-day
clinical trial of VX-809 in the first half of 2009n vitro , correctors have shown the ability to restore fiamcof defective F508del CFTR
protein, with increased trafficking of F508del CFpkotein to the cell surface and enhanced gatitigitgcof F508del CFTR protein on the
cell surface.
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Immune-Mediated | nflammatory Disease
VX-509 (oral JAK3 inhibitor for the treatment of IM ID)

We believe that JAK3 is a promising targetthe design of immunosuppressant drugs. We haxgleted a Phase 1 clinical trial of VX-
509, and anticipate it will be investigated for theatment of multiple IMID. The Phase 1 clinicaat enrolled three groups of healthy
volunteers dosed for 14 days with ascending doBeX&09. We anticipate that a Phase 2 clinicaltim rheumatoid arthritis will commence
in the second half of 2009. Basedinrvitro data, VX-509 appears to be a potent and selecthibitor of JAK3. We hold worldwide
development and commercial rights to VX-509 and ek to out-license VX-509.

Cancer
MK-5108 (VX-689): Aurora kinase inhibition for the treatment of cancer (Merck & Co., Inc.)

We are collaborating with Merck & Co., lrie.the area of Aurora kinase inhibitors, includié(-5108 (VX-689). Aurora kinases are
enzymes thought to play multiple roles in the depeient and progression of cancer, acting as regslaft cell proliferation, transforming
normal cells into cancer cells and downregulatifg,mne of the body's natural tumor suppressorsb&lieve that inhibitors of Aurora
kinases may be useful as highly targeted treatnfentsrange of cancer indications. Merck holdsldwide development and
commercialization rights to MK-5108 (VX-689) andizén additional compounds identified during ousearch program with Merck, which
has ended. In the second quarter of 2008, Mertiktied a Phase 1 clinical trial of MK-5108 (VX-68@Jone and in combination with
docetaxel, in patients with advanced and/or rebrgatumors. In the third quarter of 2008, Merckested additional Aurora kinase inhibitors
for possible development.

AVN-944 (VX-944): IMPDH inhibition for the treatmen t of cancer (Avalon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.)

Our collaborator Avalon Pharmaceuticals, lmas the right to develop AVN-944 (VX-944), anRMH inhibitor, for the treatment of
advanced hematological malignancies, such as leiakéymphoma or myeloma. Inosine 5-monophosphalydi®genase, or IMPDH, is an
enzyme thought to be critical for the synthesigudinosine triphosphate, a molecule required for Bj#Athesis and cellular signaling.
IMPDH is over-expressed in many cancer cells, aapgén hemotological malignancies. Reports in neatiliterature and presentations at
scientific conferences provide a clinical rationfmethe development of IMPDH inhibitors for theatment of hematologic malignancies.
Results from certain preclinical studies of AVN-944X-944) indicated that AVN-944 (VX-944) inhibitettiein vitro proliferation of
lymphoid and myeloid cells, the principal cells daiwed in the most common types of human leukenfigN-944 (VX-944) is currently in
Phase 2 clinical development. In August 2008, Arakestructured its operations and indicated thabi evaluating the clinical data from our
AVN-944 (VX-944) development program to assesdeatiias for further development of AVN-944 (VX-944\valon holds worldwide
development and commercialization rights to AVN-$¥X-944) in oncology.

RESEARCH PROGRAMS

We believe that our integrated drug desigproach has significantly enhanced our abilityliswover and develop small molecule drug
candidates directed at biologically complex targetsociated with serious diseases. Our drug desgfiorm integrates biology,
pharmacology, drug metabolism and pharmacokingtss;ology, material sciences, biophysics, meditthemistry and process chemistry,
automation and information technologies in a camatid and simultaneous fashion throughout the désgqrocess. We believe that our
approach has been validated through our successving drug candidates into clinical trials. Weeaetly have decided to focus on several
core therapeutic areas, in order to expand andaewar expertise in specific therapeutic areastargbermit a framework for portfolio
planning and execution. Currently, the four thetdioeareas of highest priority to us are: infecti@liseases, including viral and bacterial
infections; IMIDs; cancer; and neurological diseagrd disorders, including pain. Driven by the claxity of the therapeutic areas selected,
we are
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attempting to identify multiple targets within edakication that, either as a stand-alone or inlmio@tion, could provide treatment options
that are transformational in nature. The objecti/this approach is to enable us to eventually il@wmultiple drugs in each of these
therapeutic areas. We selected these therapeatis By mapping our research strengths, includipgréise in kinases, proteases and
membrane proteins, onto therapeutic areas with tnighet need, with an emphasis on indications wiverbelieve we, independently or in
collaboration with other pharmaceutical companigh,be able to discover, develop, and commercg@limportant medicines for serious
diseases. Within each therapeutic area, we inefatus initially on specific indications.

Our past drug discovery efforts have predua variety of drug candidates that have been aialized or are currently in preclinical
or clinical development. We believe our ongoingesesh programs continue to create potential vaued by generating new drug candidi
in areas of significant unmet medical need. We leremenced preclinical activities for a number aditional investigational compounds
one or more of which may enter clinical developmarz009.

In order to obtain advice regarding ouesssh programs, we have invited respected indiVsdw#h industry, medical and/or research
expertise to participate in advisory boards focusedpecific therapeutic areas and discovery agppes Each of our scientific advisory
boards is comprised of individuals with experiemcéhe relevant area who provide input throughrieatéon with our senior executives
focused on drug innovation and technologies. Thmbwegs of our scientific advisory boards are not leyges and only are expected to de
a small portion of their time to us.

To augment our internal research programesseek to collaborate with leading academic rebeiastitutions, government laboratories,
foundations and other organizations in order tcaade research in our areas of therapeutic intasasell as in areas of basic technological
enablement. We have established relationshipsawghnizations and organized consortia of orgaromatfrom around the world with
expertise in areas of interest to us, and interdevterage that experience to further our resedfolt® For example, in 2008, we entered in
collaboration with CHDI Foundation, Inc., a non-firfoundation committed to accelerating the disegvand development of new drugs that
delay the onset or slow the progression of Huntingtdisease. This collaboration is aimed at dgwe¢passays for use in discovering novel
compounds for the treatment of Huntington's disease

CORPORATE COLLABORATIONS

We have entered into corporate collabonatiwith pharmaceutical and other companies anchargtions that provide financial and ot
resources, including capabilities in research, greent, manufacturing, and sales and marketingypport our research and development
programs.

Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V.

In June 2006, we entered into a licenseeld@ment, manufacturing and commercialization agrent with Janssen. Under the
collaboration agreement, we will collaborate wietmgsen to develop and commercialize telapreviredtite terms of the collaboration
agreement, we retain exclusive commercial rightelaprevir in North America and will continue &eald the development plan for telaprevir
in North America and the Janssen territories. Janssceived exclusive rights to commercialize tedajp outside of North America and the
Far East. In connection with the execution of tokkaboration agreement, we received an up-frontyayt of $165.0 million in July 2006. In
addition, the agreement provided for contingenesidne payments to us, which could total up to $BBdllion if telaprevir is successfully
developed, approved and launched. As of Decemhe2@B, we had received $100.0 million of thesetiogent milestone payments. Jans
has agreed to be responsible for 50% of drug dpwedmt costs under the development program for Nemierica and the Janssen territories.
Each of the parties to the collaboration agreem@hbe responsible for drug supply in their resfpee territories. The collaboration
agreement also includes a tiered royalty averaiginige mid-20% range, as a percentage of net satbg Janssen territories, depending upon
successful commercialization. In addition, Janssdirbe responsible for certain third-party royahiin its territories. Janssen may terminate
the collaboration agreement upon six months' natiass. In
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such an event, all manufacturing, commercializasind intellectual property rights to telaprevir enthe collaboration agreement will revert
to us.

As part of the collaboration agreementipfeing regulatory approval and commercializatiortadfprevir in both North America and
Janssen's territory, we have agreed to establigbbal health initiative with Tibotec, with the deaf advancing the prevention, diagnosis,
treatment and cure of HCV infection, which will pencipally directed toward developing countries.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation

In June 2004, we entered into a licenseeldpment and commercialization agreement with ditshi Tanabe for the development and
commercialization of telaprevir in Japan and certgher Far East countries. Under the terms o&tireement, Mitsubishi Tanabe has the
right to develop and commercialize telaprevir térritory. Under the agreement, we have recgpagainents from Mitsubishi Tanabe for
Phase 2 clinical development, including an up-flmense fee, development milestone payments antfibations to certain drug
development costs incurred by us for telaprevir.rdtmgnized $9.9 million, $4.4 million and $8.6 linih in revenues under this agreement in
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Mitsubishi Tanadis commenced Phase 3 clinical developmentagrlir. We currently are negotiati
the extent of Mitsubishi Tanabe's future sharingwfcosts beyond Phase 2 clinical development@sded in the agreement. We will also
be entitled to royalties on sales of telaprevigpproved, in Mitsubishi Tanabe's territory. Mitmkth Tanabe may terminate the agreement at
any time without cause upon 60 days' prior writtetice.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics I ncorporated

In May 2004, we entered into a collabomratgreement with CFFT pursuant to which CFFT predids with funding for our CF resea
and development programs, which funding was coraglat 2008. We recognized $0.8 million, $15.9 milliand $12.6 million in revenues
under this agreement in 2008, 2007 and 2006, résplc Two drug candidates currently in clinicawklopment, VX-770 and VX-809, were
discovered by us under this research collaboratdmretain the right to develop and commercializg @mpounds discovered in the course
of the research collaboration, including VX-770 an¢-809, and we will pay a royalty to CFFT on thetisales of any approved drugs
discovered in the collaboration.

Merck & Co., Inc.

In June 2004, we entered into a globaktaltation with Merck to discover, develop and conuiadize Aurora kinase inhibitors. Merck
made an up-front license payment to us of $20 omilln June 2004, and provided research fundind.6f&million between June 2004 and
September 2006. In addition, the agreement providieds much as $350 million in milestone paymeatss. Currently, Merck is developing
MK-5108 (VX-689) in a Phase 1 clinical trial invahg patients with advanced and/or refractory tumbrshe third quarter of 2008, Merck
selected additional Aurora kinase inhibitors fosgible development.

Under the agreement, we recognized twogtulee payments totaling $19.5 million in 2005, ¢hneilestone payments totaling
$36.3 million in 2006, one milestone payment of0&®illion in 2007 and one milestone payment of $&ilion in 2008. Under the
agreement, Merck is responsible for developing@mmercializing the drug candidates that resulnfour collaboration worldwide and will
pay us royalties on any product sales. Merck mayiteate the agreement at any time without cause @fadays' advance written notice,
except that a longer notice period is requiredeiriain circumstances.

Avalon Pharmaceuticals, I nc.

In February 2005, we entered into a liceagpeement with Avalon for the development and ceneralization of the IMPDH inhibitor
AVN-944 (VX-944) for the treatment of cancer. Undiee agreement, Avalon has the exclusive worldwiglet and responsibility to develop
and commercialize
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AVN-944 (VX-944) for the treatment of cancer. Avalmade a $5.0 million up-front license payments@nd has agreed to make additional
milestone payments to us for the successful dewstop of AVN-944 (VX944) in multiple cancer indications. Avalon willyas royalties o
any product sales. The agreement provides us withia rights to co-promote AVN-944 (VX-944). Nesthparty has the right to terminate
the agreement other than for cause. If the agreeimérminated, we will regain development and owercialization rights to AVN-944 (VX-
944).

GlaxoSmithKline plc

In 1993, we entered into a collaboratiothvidlaxoSmithKline covering the research, developnaed commercialization of HIV
protease inhibitors, including Agenerase (ampragawid Lexiva/Telzir (fosamprenavir calcium). Thggeement provides that
GlaxoSmithKline will pay us a royalty on all netessof the HIV protease inhibitors covered by theeament. We began earning a royalty
from GlaxoSmithKline in 1999 on net sales of Agexsey, in the fourth quarter of 2003 on net saldsegiva, and in the third quarter of 2004
on net sales of Telzir. Lexiva and Telzir have aepld Agenerase in worldwide markets. In May 2008swid our right to receive future
royalties from GlaxoSmithKline with respect to thdslV protease inhibitors, excluding the amountessary to pay a third party a subroy:
on these net sales, for a one-time cash paymeitGaf.0 million.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We actively seek protection for our produand proprietary information by means of Unitealt&t and foreign patents, trademarks, and
copyrights, as appropriate. In addition, we relpmurade secret protection and contractual arrapgéso protect certain of our proprietary
information and products. We have patents and pgnattent applications that relate to potentiabdargets, compounds we are developing
to modulate those targets, methods of making amuiose compounds and proprietary elements ofliugr discovery platform.

Much of our technology and many of our gsses depend upon the knowledge, experience dlsdagikiey scientific and technical
personnel. To protect our rights to our proprietamgpw-how and technology, we require all employees, dbageour consultants and advis:
when feasible, to enter into confidentiality agresns that require disclosure and assignment td igeas, developments, discoveries and
inventions made by these employees, consultantadvidors in the course of their service to us.

We hold issued patents and pending papiications in the United States, and in foreignroes we deem appropriate, covering
intellectual property developed as part of eacburfsignificant research, development and commigoeagrams. Our intellectual property
holdings include but are not limited to:

. United States and foreign patents and patent ajalits covering telaprevir, VX-813, VX-985 and mastiier HCV protease
inhibitors.
. United States and foreign patent applications doggrotentiators and correctors of the CFTR proteicluding VX-770 and

VX-809 and many other related compounds, and teeotithose potentiators and correctors to treat CF.

. United States and foreign patents and patent aijalits covering inhibitors of a variety of kinageteins, including VX509, ¢
JAK3 inhibitor.

. United States and foreign patent applications dogethe manufacture, pharmaceutical compositicglated solid forms,
formulations, dosing regimens and methods of ughaxfe compounds, including telaprevir and VX-770.

From time to time we enter into non-exchedicense agreements for proprietary third-pagthhology used in connection with our
research activities. These license agreementsatyypigrovide for the payment by us of a license fag may also include terms providing for
milestone payments or royalties for the developra@for commercialization of our drug productsiaggrom the related research.
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MANUFACTURING

As we advance our proprietary drug canéisigtirough clinical development toward commercéion, we will continue to build our
supply chain resources and maintain our qualityrasge resources. We rely on a worldwide networthiodl parties to manufacture and
distribute our drug candidates for clinical trizded we expect that we will continue to do so tetmair commercial supply needs for those
drugs, if they are approved for sale.

Our supply chain for sourcing raw materesl manufacturing drug product ready for distiitiuis a multi-step international endeavor
in which we rely on third-party contract manufaetsrin Asia for the supply of raw materials, andhi@ European Union and the United
States for the application of specific manufactymocesses to the conversion of raw materialsdnig substance and drug substance into
final dosage form. Establishing and managing tloba supply chain requires significant financiahumitments, experienced personnel and
the creation or expansion of numerous third-pastyt@ctual relationships.

We require for our own use, and are resptento Janssen for, a supply of telaprevir fonicial trials in North America and the Europe
Union, respectively. We will require a supply ofagrevir for sale in North America if we are sucfesin obtaining marketing approval. We
have completed the technical development work tmrommmercial formulation of telaprevir and we aranufacturing telaprevir, through ¢
third-party manufacturer network, to meet our, 3ansand Mitsubishi Tanabe's clinical supply ne®ds have established relationships with
multiple thirdparty manufacturers for the manufacture of telaiprmmmercial supply and have completed contramt®@r primary supply ¢
drug substance and most raw materials. We belisv@ast and continuing efforts to expand our refeghips with third-party manufacturers
and oversee their activities will be important tgpgort a timely and effective commercial launcheséprevir and its consistent supply in
subsequent years.

We are completing the transfer of techniicdrmation regarding the manufacture of telapréwiJanssen so that Janssen will be able to
manufacture telaprevir, if approved, for sale insken's territories and as a secondary supplysofidrug substance for us. While we bel
there are multiple third parties capable of prawidimost of the materials and services we needderdo manufacture and distribute
telaprevir, and that supply of materials that carreosecond-sourced can be managed with inventamnimg, there is always a risk that we
may underestimate demand, and that our manufagtaapacity through third-party manufacturers matybeosufficient. In addition, because
of the significant lead times involved in our supphain for telaprevir, we may have less flexigilib adjust our supply in response to chat
in demand than if we had shorter lead times.

We require VX-770 for clinical trials in Kb America and Europe, and will require a supgly¥-770 for sale in North America and
Europe if we obtain marketing approval. We obtai¥70 to meet our clinical supply needs throughiedtparty manufacturer network and
are focused on completing the technical developmenk and commercial formulation of VX-770. Oveethext several years, we expect to
expand our existing relationships with our thirdtpananufacturers or establish new relationshipgh Wiird-party manufacturers, in order to
establish a supply chain for VX-770 and supportgbgential commercial launch and subsequent coniatenapply of VX-770.

We are focusing resources on the developofesystems and processes to track, monitor ardsee our third-party manufacturers'
activities. We regularly evaluate the performanteuw thirdparty manufacturers with the objective of confirgitheir continuing capabilitie
to meet our needs efficiently and economically. Maoturing facilities, both foreign and domestig aubject to inspections by or under the
authority of the FDA and by or under the authoofyother federal, state, local or foreign authestiA failure by any of our third-party
manufacturers to pass an inspection could adveastdgt our ability to launch telaprevir or VX-7#®a timely manner, if we obtain
marketing approval, or adversely affect our abil@ycontinue to distribute telaprevir or VX-770eaftaunch.
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We have established a quality assuranagrgmo intended to ensure that our third-party mastufars and service providers produce
materials and provide services, when applicablactordance with the FDA's current Good ManufantuRractices, or cGMP, and other
applicable regulations.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterizg extensive research efforts, rapid technoléginagress and intense competition. There
many public and private companies, including phaemntical companies, chemical companies and biot#ogy companies, engaged in
developing products for the same human therapatgigs that we are targeting. Many of our competibawve substantially greater financial,
technical and human resources than we do and a® ewperienced in the development of new drugs Weare. In order for us to compete
successfully, we may need to demonstrate improaéstys efficacy, ease of manufacturing and markeeptance of our products relative to
our competitor's products that have received drredeive regulatory approval for marketing.

We face competition based on the safetyedfichcy of our drug candidates, the timing anopgcof regulatory approvals, the availabi
and cost of supply, marketing and sales capalsi/iteimbursement coverage, price, patent proteatiohother factors. Our competitors may
develop or commercialize more effective, safer oraraffordable products than we are able to deveta@mmmercialize or obtain more
effective patent protection. As a result, our cotitpes may commercialize products more rapidly ffecively than we do, which would
adversely affect our competitive position, the lilkeod that our drug candidates, if approved, wadtieve initial market acceptance and our
ability to generate meaningful revenues from thdrsgys. Even if our drug candidates are approvedaahikve initial market acceptance,
competitive products may render our drugs obsaetencompetitive. If any such drug is renderedot#ie, we may not be able to recover
the expenses of developing and commercializingdhag. With respect to all of our drugs and drugdidates, we are aware of existing
treatments and numerous drug candidates in develaiplny our competitors.

HCV Infection

A combination of peg-IFN, which requiresekly injections, and RBV administered for 48 weekthe current standard treatment for
genotype 1 HCV infection. This treatment regimeassociated with significant side effects, inclgpdfatigue, flu-like symptoms, rash,
depression and anemia. A significant portion ofgras who begin treatment do not achieve an SVReBan discussions with physicians
who treat patients with HCV, we believe that thare a significant number of patients with HCV wine waiting to receive treatment until
new therapies are developed that are more effegtiirevolve less difficult treatment regimens. kid&ion, we believe that there are a
significant number of patients with HCV who have aohieved SVR with previous interferon-based tresits.

While we are aware of numerous companiasare developing potentially competitive drug ddatks, Schering-Plough's protease
inhibitor, boceprevir, is the only protease inhibithat is being developed on a timeline compartbtelaprevir. In November 2008, Schering-
Plough completed enrollment in a Phase 3 clinital that included approximately 375 treatment-eigreeed patients but excluded null
responders to prior treatment. In January 2009 ®ugHPlough completed enrollment of a Phase 3 clinigal involving approximately 1,0€
treatment-naive patients with genotype 1 HCV. Webe that Schering-Plough may obtain SVR data fthase Phase 3 clinical trials in
2010 and, if favorable, that Schering-Plough cdilédan NDA with the FDA on a timeline comparabtetélaprevir. If telaprevir and
boceprevir are both approved on a comparable tiraglie believe that the drugs would compete imtheketplace based on, among other
things, safety and efficacy data from their respeatlinical trials, breadth of approved use, cosst of co-therapies and sidéfect profile. In
addition to boceprevir, we are aware of a numbertioér companies developing protease inhibitorsdhain earlier stages of development.
We believe that these earlier-stage drug
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candidates, if approved, would be launched seyesals after telaprevir based on telaprevir's ctitlemelopmental timeline.

There also are companies developing HCYrpetase inhibitors, a class of compounds distirchfprotease inhibitors, for the treatm
of HCV infection. The HCV polymerase is responsitolesynthesizing viral RNA during HCV replicatiow/e expect that polymerase
inhibitors, if successfully developed, may be a ponent of a combination therapy that includes agase inhibitor, such as telaprevir, and
thus likely would be complementary to and not cotitipe with our HCV protease inhibitors.

We are aware of numerous other compoundsriital trials that target HCV through other manisms of action that are in clinical
trials, and we believe that there are many additipotential HCV treatments in research or earlettgpment. We believe that there is a
potential for new oral drug candidates, if apprquede administered together with or without pEftland/or RBV. We expect to explore the
potential for other combination therapies, inclgdaombinations where all the component drugs wbelddministered orally. Future
competition in the HCV treatment market may refolin the administration of a combination of newlaherapies. Oral therapies that
previously have been tested in combination with-ifég and RBV may have a competitive advantage dvesd that have not been previot
tested in combination.

CF

Several companies are engaged in the padateveloping treatments for CF, including a tedinumber of drug candidates that are
designed to improve the function of CFTR protears] a number of antibiotics and anti-inflammatorlEC Therapeutics, Inc. is
investigating ataluren, which was formerly knowrPasC124, a drug candidate designed to improve tbéyetion of CFTR proteins in
patients with nonsense genetic mutations thatthalproduction of CFTR proteins before the protgifully formed. Inspire
Pharmaceuticals Inc. is conducting Phase 3 cliti@s of denufosol tetrasodium, an inhaled moleclesigned to stimulate chloride and
liquid secretions in the airways of patients with.C

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, development, testing, matwfacquality control, approval, labeling, packagistorage, record keeping, promotion,
advertising, distribution and marketing of the doagdidates that we are developing are subjecttemsive regulation by United States and
foreign governmental authorities. In particularaphaceutical products are subject to rigorous jieal, nonclinical and clinical testing and
other approval requirements by the FDA in the Uhiates under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosetjand by comparable agencies in
most foreign countries. In addition to prohibitithge sale and distribution of pharmaceutical proslpeior to regulatory approval, the FDA ¢
comparable agencies in most foreign countries pibtiie pre-approval promotion of investigationalgs. We have summarized the FDA
process below, but other countries may have diffespproval processes with which we or our collabans will need to comply if we seek to
conduct clinical trials or obtain marketing approwethose countries. In addition, even if we ultiraly intend to seek initial marketing
approval in the United States, we may conduct edirhycal trials in other countries, for a varieif/reasons, and therefore the submission of
our initial investigational new drug, or IND, apgdtion in the United States may not occur untégrafine or more foreign-sited clinical trials
have been initiated.

FDA Approval Proces

As an initial step in the FDA regulatoryiew process, toxicity studies in animals and ott@nclinical studies typically are conductec
help identify potential safety problems that migbtassociated with administration of the drug cdaigi being tested. For certain diseases,
animal models exist that are believed to be praaicif efficacy in humans. For such diseases, g dandidate
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typically is tested for efficacy in that animal nedThe results of these initial animal safety distase model studies are submitted to the
FDA as a part of the IND submission, prior to comeement of human clinical trials in the United 8sat~or several of our drug candidates,
no appropriately predictive animal model exists.aA®sult, nan vivo evidence of efficacy will be available until thodeig candidates
progress to human clinical trials. A variety of sbnical studies in a number of animal species, athér nonclinical studies, ordinarily are
conducted while human clinical trials are underwtayprovide supplemental toxicology and other infation. This information as well as the
results from the early clinical trials provide aifmation for the design of broader and more lengtiipan clinical trials.

Clinical trials typically are conductedthree sequential phases, although the phases nealgpvPhase 1 frequently begins with the
initial introduction of the drug candidate into lthg human subjects prior to introduction into patis. The drug candidate may then be tested
in a relatively small number of patients for prahary information, dosage tolerance, absorptiortatmaism, excretion, clinical
pharmacology and, if possible, for early informatin efficacy. Phase 2 typically involves trialsaismall sample of the intended patient
population to assess the efficacy of the drug fepexific indication, to determine dose toleranue the optimal dose range and to gather
additional information relating to safety and pateinadverse effects. Phase 3 trials are undertakémther evaluate clinical safety and
efficacy in an expanded patient population at gaplgically dispersed trial sites, to obtain inforimaton the overall risk-benefit ratio of the
drug candidate and to provide an adequate basgdposed labeling. Each trial is conducted in et@&oce with standards set forth in a
protocol that details the design and objectivetheftrial, the parameters to be used to monitatgaind the efficacy criteria to be evaluated.
For clinical trials in the United States, each poml must be submitted to the FDA to supplementtiginal IND submission. Further, each
clinical trial must be evaluated by an independestitutional Review Board, or IRB, which evaluatdimical research at or for each
institution at which the trial will be conductedhd IRBs will consider, among other things, ethfegators and the safety of human subjects in
the proposed trials.

Data from nonclinical testing and all ctial trials, along with descriptions of the manutfiictg process, analytical tests, proposed
labeling and other relevant information, are sutedito the FDA as part of requesting approval toketathe drug in the NDA. The process
completing nonclinical and clinical testing, suktingg the NDA and obtaining FDA approval for a nemuglis likely to take a number of years
and require the expenditure of substantial ressuiReeparing an NDA involves extensive data cabectverification, analysis and expense,
and there can be no assurance that approval dftigecandidate that is the subject of a partich2A will be granted on a timely basis, if at
all. The FDA reviews all NDAs to ensure that theg sufficiently complete for substantive reviewdrefit accepts them for filing. The
approval process is affected by a number of factocduding the severity of the targeted disedse availability of alternative treatments and
the risks and benefits demonstrated in clinicaldriThe FDA may deny an NDA if applicable regutgtoriteria are not satisfied or may
require additional testing or information. Among@ ttonditions for marketing approval is the requieatthat the prospective manufacturer's
quality control and manufacturing procedures camfte the FDA's cGMP regulations, which must bedwtd at all times. In complying wi
standards set forth in these regulations, manufactunust continue to expend time, money and eiffidhie area of production and quality
control to ensure full compliance. Manufacturingiliies, both foreign and domestic, also are scibje inspections by the FDA and by other
federal, state, local agencies or foreign authesiti

Under the FDA Modernization Act of 1997 thDA may grant "Fast Track" designation to faatktthe development of a drug intended
for the treatment of a serious or life-threatersogdition if the drug demonstrates, among otherghi the potential to address an unmet
medical need. The benefits of Fast Track designaticdude scheduled meetings with the FDA to reedémput on development plans, the
option of submitting an NDA in sections (ratherrifeubmitting all sections simultaneously), anddp#on of requesting evaluation of trials
using surrogate endpoints. Fast Track
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designation does not necessarily lead to a priogitjew or accelerated approval of a drug candigtine FDA. Telaprevir and VX-770 have
received Fast Track designation by the FDA.

Timing to Approval

We estimate that it generally takes 103qg4@ars, or possibly longer, to discover, develog laring to market a new pharmaceutical
product in the United States as outlined below:

Phase: Objective: Estimated Duration:
Discovery Lead identification and target validati 2 to 4 year:
Preclinical Initial toxicology for preliminary identificationfaisks for humans; gather early pharmacokinetia: 1 to 2 year:
Phase : Initial evaluation of safety in humans; study hdwe trug candidate works and is metaboli 1to 2 year:
Phase 2 Gather data on the effectiveness of the drug cateligind its optimal dosage; continue safety

evaluatior 2 to 4 year:
Phase ! Confirm efficacy, dosage regime and safety pradffléhe drug candidate; submit NC 2 to 4 year:
FDA approval Approval by the FDA to sell and market the drugtfoe approved indication 6 months to

2 years

A drug candidate may fail to progress at janint during this process. Animal and other namcél studies typically are conducted dui
each phase of human clinical trials.

Patent Term Restoratic

Pursuant to the Drug Price Competition Batent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred tthasHatch-Waxman Amendments, some
of our patents, under certain conditions, may kgldé for limited patent term extension for a pefiof up to five years as compensation for
patent term lost during drug development and thé F&yulatory review process. However, this extemgieriod cannot be extended beyond
14 years from the drug's approval date. The padent restoration period is generally omalf the period of time elapsed between the effe
date of an IND application and the submission datn NDA, plus the period of time between the sigsion date of the NDA and FDA
approval. The United States Patent and TrademdikeDin consultation with the FDA, reviews and epges applications for any patent term
extension or restoration. We intend to seek thefisrof this statute, but there can be no asserérat we will be able to obtain any such
benefits.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grephan drug designation to drugs intended td &i¢eaare disease or condition" that
affects fewer than 200,000 individuals in the Udiates. Orphan drug designation must be requbsfede submitting an NDA. Orphan
drug designation does not convey any advantags shorten the duration of, the regulatory review approval process. If a drug that has an
orphan drug designation subsequently receivedrsteeDA approval for the indication for which itk such designation, the product is
entitled to orphan exclusivity, which means the FDAy not approve any other application to marketsdame drug for the same indication
for a period of seven years, except in limitedwmnstances, such as a showing of clinical supeyitoithe product with orphan exclusivity.
Nevertheless, competitors may receive approvalftgrdnt drugs or biologics for the indications fehich the orphan product has exclusiv
VX-770 has been granted orphan drug designation.

Pos-approval Studies

Even after FDA approval has been obtaifigther studies, including post-approval trials yniee required to provide additional data on
safety and will be required to gain approval far Hale of a
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drug as a treatment for clinical indications ottem those for which the drug initially was apprdvAlso, the FDA will require post-approval
reporting to monitor the side-effects of the drRgsults of posapproval programs may limit or expand the indiaaifor which the drug me
be marketed. Further, if there are any requestsfiifications to the initial FDA approval for tloeug, including changes in indication,
manufacturing process, labeling or manufacturirgifees, submission of a supplemental NDA to tH2Amay be required.

Reimbursemer

Sales of drugs depend in significant parthe availability of third-party reimbursement.ifthparty payors include government health
administrative authorities, managed care providaisate health insurers and other organizations.aMicipate third-party payors will
provide reimbursement for our drugs if we are sesfi¢ in obtaining marketing approval. Howeverrdhparty payors are increasingly
challenging pricing, and in some cases, examirtiegcost-effectiveness of drugs. In the future, vesy meed to conduct expensive
pharmacoeconomic studies for some of our drug danek in order to demonstrate their cost-effecagsnif we successfully obtain
marketing approval. The process of seeking reingsnent from third-party payors in the future maytibee consuming and expensive.

The Medicare Prescription Drug Improvememd Modernization Act of 2003, or the MMA, extendegrescription drug benefit to
Medicare beneficiaries and imposed requirementthidistribution and pricing of prescription drugsder Medicare Part D. Unlike other
Medicare benefits, the drug benefit available uridlat D is not standardized and there is no guaesthiat any drug for which we obtain
approval will be covered under Part D.

We expect that there may continue to beraber of federal and state proposals to implememtigimental pricing controls and limit the
growth of health care costs, including the cogtrescription drugs. At the present time, Medicarprohibited from negotiating directly with
pharmaceutical companies for drugs. However, Casgrgeconsidering passing legislation that woutdHie ban on federal negotiations.

In addition, in some foreign countries, greposed pricing for a drug must be approved leeitanay be marketed lawfully. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widelynfrgountry to country. For example, the Europearobpirovides options for its member
states to restrict the range of medicinal prodfatsvhich their national health insurance systemmvigle reimbursement and to control the
prices of medicinal products for human use. A manskete may approve a specific price for the medigbroduct or it may instead adopt a
system of direct or indirect controls on the putitity of the company placing the medicinal prodois the market.

Foreign Regulatiot

In addition to regulations in the Unitedi®s, we and our collaborators will be subject vargety of foreign regulations governing
clinical trials and commercial sales and distribntof drugs. Whether or not we obtain FDA apprduak drug, approval of a drug candidate
by the comparable regulatory authorities of foresguntries must be obtained before we or our coltators can commence clinical trials or
marketing of the drug in those countries. The apgirprocess varies from country to country andtitme may be longer or shorter than that
required for FDA approval. The requirements govagrthe conduct of clinical trials, product licergipricing and reimbursement vary
greatly from country to country.

Under European Union regulatory systemsketang authorization applications may be submittétler under a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized procedhish is compulsory for medicines produced byaierbiotechnological processes and
optional for those that are highly innovative, gd®s for the grant of a single marketing authormathat is valid for all European Union
member states. For drugs without approval in ampean Union member state, the decentralized puwegatovides for assessment of a
marketing application by one member state,
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known as the reference member state, and reviewp@esglble approval of that assessment by one oe wiber, or concerned, member states.
Under this procedure, an applicant submits an egiitin, or dossier, and related materials—draftraany of product characteristics, draft
labeling and package leaflet—to the reference mestiage and concerned member states. The refenemeder state prepares a draft
assessment and drafts of the related materialsniit0 days after receipt of a valid applicatiorithth 90 days of receiving the reference
member state's assessment report, each concermeoemstate must decide whether to approve thesmses report and related materials. If
a member state cannot approve the assessment aegaitlated materials on the grounds of poteséibus risk to public health, the dispt
points may eventually be referred to the Europeam@ission, whose decision is binding on all mensdates of the European Union.

Other Regulations

Pharmaceutical companies also are suljearious federal and state laws pertaining tothezdre "fraud and abuse," including anti-
kickback laws and false claims laws. Anti-kickbdals make it illegal for any entity or person tdicg offer, receive, or pay any
remuneration in exchange for or to induce the ref@f business, including the purchase or pretonof a particular drug. False claims la
prohibit anyone from knowingly and willingly predérg to third-party payors including Medicare an@dicaid, or causing to be presented,
for payment claims for reimbursed drugs or servtbas are false or fraudulent, claims for itemsenvices not provided as claimed, or claims
for medically unnecessary items or services.

In addition to the statutes and regulatidescribed above, we also are subject to regulatigier the Occupational Safety and Health
the Environmental Protection Act, the Toxic Subs&nControl Act, the Resource Conservation and WegdAct and other federal, state,
local and foreign regulations, now or hereaftegfiect.

OTHER MATTERS
Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 1,333 eymas (1,310 full-time, 23 part-time). The numbepof full-time employees increased by
16% during 2008, from 1,132 on December 31, 200& rivdy further increase our headcount in 2009 asivest in expanding our drug
development and commercialization capabilitieso@femployees, 1,043 were based in Cambridge, Mhssatts, 99 were located in Eur
and 176 were located at our facility in San Die@alifornia. Our scientific staff members have dsiéed experience and expertise in
molecular and cell biology, biochemistry, synthetiganic chemistry, protein X-ray crystallograppyotein nuclear magnetic resonance
spectroscopy, microbiology, computational chemidtigphysical chemistry, medicinal chemistry, dali pharmacology and clinical
medicine. Our clinical development personnel haiterssive expertise in designing and executing cdihirials, and we are building our
commercialization organization. Our employees atecovered by a collective bargaining agreemerd,vaa consider our relations with our
employees to be good.

Information Available on the Internet

Our internet addressvisvw.vrtx.com Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K,
and all amendments to those reports, are avaitalyleu free of charge through the "Finances/Invelstio-SEC Filings" section of our
website as soon as reasonably practicable afteetimaterials have been electronically filed withfupnished to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Corporate Information

Vertex was incorporated in Massachuseti®B0, and our principal executive offices are tedaat 130 Waverly Street, Cambridge,
Massachusetts 02139. We have research sites Idoaeoh Diego, California, Coralville, lowa and kéih Park, U.K.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

The names, ages and positions held byxaautive officers and directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Joshua S. Boger, Ph.[ 57 Chief Executive Officer and Directt

Matthew W. Emmen 57 President and Directt

Kurt C. Graves 41 Executive Vice President, Chief Commercial Offie@d Head, Strategic Developm:
Freda C. Lewi-Hall, M.D., FAPA 53 Executive Vice President, Medicines Developn

Peter Mueller, Ph.D 52 Executive Vice President, Drug Innovation and Redion, and Chief Scientific Offic
lan F. Smith, C.P.A., A.C.A 43 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Kenneth S. Boger, M.B.A., J.I 62 Senior Vice President and General Coul

Richard C. Garriso 60 Senior Vice President and Catal

Lisa Kelly-Croswell 42 Senior Vice President, Human Resour

Amit K. Sachdev, J.D 41 Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs and PuBliticy

Paul M. Silva 42 Vice President and Corporate Contro

Charles A. Sanders, M.C 77 Chairman of the Boar

Eric K. Brandt 46 Director

Roger W. Brimblecombe, Ph.D., D.& 79 Director

Stuart J.M. Collinson, Ph.C 49 Director

Eugene H. Cordes, Ph.L 72 Director

Bruce I. Sach 49 Director

Elaine S. Ulliar 61 Director

Dr. Joshua Boger is the founder of Vertég.has been our Chief Executive Officer since 1992 is expected to step down as our Chief
Executive Officer in May 2009. He was our Chairnedithe Board from 1997 until May 2006 and our Riesi from our inception in 1989
until December 2000, and again from May 2005 thiokigbruary 2009. He was our Chief Scientific Offirem 1989 until May 1992.
Dr. Boger has been a director since Vertex's ingepPrior to founding Vertex in 1989, Dr. Bogeidénhe position of Senior Director of
Basic Chemistry at Merck Sharp & Dohme Researclotatbries in Rahway, New Jersey, where he headibdtihe Department of Medicinal
Chemistry of Immunology & Inflammation and the Déepaent of Biophysical Chemistry. Dr. Boger is therent chairman of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization (BIO). Dr. Badwlds a B.A. in chemistry and philosophy from égan University and M.S. and
Ph.D. degrees in chemistry from Harvard Univerdity. Boger is the brother of Mr. Kenneth Boger, 8anior Vice President and General
Counsel.

Mr. Emmens became our President in Febr2@®® and has been a member of our Board of Diresiace 2004. We have agreed that
Mr. Emmens will become our Chairman and Chief ExgeuOfficer on May 23, 2009. Mr. Emmens is the @tman of the Board of Directo
of Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc. and has bereraber of Shire's board since March 2003. From Mag93 to June 2008, Mr. Emmens
was also the Chief Executive Officer of Shire Phaceuticals Group plc. Before joining Shire in 2008, Emmens served as president of
Merck KGaA's global prescription pharmaceuticalsibass in Darmstadt, Germany. In 1999, he joinecckKGaA and established EMD
Pharmaceuticals, its United States prescriptiommhbeeutical business. Mr. Emmens
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held the position of President and Chief Execu@icer at EMD Pharmaceuticals from 1999 to 200doio this, Mr. Emmens held various
positions, including Chief Executive Officer, atthfesMerck, Inc. as well as several positions at®lek Co., Inc.. Mr. Emmens received a
B.S. degree in business management from Farleigkifidion University.

Mr. Graves is our Executive Vice Presidéttief Commercial Officer and Head, Strategic Depetent, a position he has held since
joining us in July 2007. From 1999 through June720@r. Graves held various executive positions atdtis Pharmaceuticals, includi
Global Head of General Medicines Business Unit &e€Marketing Officer, Pharmaceuticals from Septem®003 through June 2007. Prior
to that, Mr. Graves served as Senior Vice Presiflg@eneral Manager—US Pharma & Commercial Operatidfice President, Head of US
Marketing & Primary Care Franchises; and Vice Rlesi & Business Unit Head: Respiratory, Gl, Derrfeajp and Bone Franchises. Prior to
joining Novartis, Mr. Graves was Gl Business Uniéde—US Gastrointestinal Franchise, at Astra Pharmagzdat LP from 1997 to 1998.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Graves served in a variétples at Astra Merck Pharmaceuticals includingé&ixive Director, Business Unit
Commercialization Leader. He has extensive traimngarketing & sales and general management, diroutraining at the University of
Michigan Business School, Wharton School of Busiraesd Harvard Business School. Mr. Graves holdssaiB Biology from Hillsdale
College.

Dr. Lewis-Hall is our Executive Vice Presid, Medicines Development, a position she has $ialte June 2008. From 2003 through
May 2008, Dr. Lewis-Hall was a Senior Vice Presigi€hS. Pharmaceuticals, Medical Affairs for Briskbyers Squibb Company. Prior to
Bristol-Myers Squibb, Dr. Lewis-Hall was Vice Pr@snt, Research and Development, Product DevelopioeRtarmacia Corporation and
served in a number of positions for Eli Lilly and@pany from 1994 through 2002. Dr. Lewis-Hall wasé/Chairperson and an Associate
Professor in Howard University College of MedicsBepartment of Psychiatry from 1988 through 1994 1 ewis-Hall holds a B.A. in
natural sciences from Johns Hopkins University amd/A.D. from Howard University Hospital and CollegieMedicine.

Dr. Mueller is our Executive Vice Presiddbtug Innovation and Realization, and Chief Sdfen©fficer, a position he has held since
February 2006. In this role, Dr. Mueller is respbtesfor our global research initiatives, pharmaasal development, pharmaceutical
operations as well as quality assurance and cofftroin July 2003 to February 2006, Dr. Mueller was Chief Scientific Officer and Senior
Vice President, Drug Discovery and Innovation. Pt@joining Vertex, Dr. Mueller was the Senior ¥iPresident, Research and
Development, of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmacelgjdalk., with responsibility for the developmentadifdrug candidates in the company's
worldwide portfolio in North America. He led reselamprograms in the areas of immunology, inflammatardiovascular disease and gene
therapy on a global basis. During his time with Baeger Ingelheim, Dr. Mueller oversaw the discgvef numerous development candide
and held several positions in basic research, nmadichemistry and management. Dr. Mueller recebvetth an undergraduate degree and a
Ph.D. in chemistry at the Albert Einstein Univeysif Ulm, Germany, where he also holds a Profes§oia Theoretic Organic Chemistry.
completed fellowships in quantum pharmacology ao@kUniversity and in biophysics at Rochester ldnsity.

Mr. Smith is our Executive Vice President&hief Financial Officer, a position he has halite February 2006. From November 2003
to February 2006, he was our Senior Vice PresidedtChief Financial Officer, and from October 2@0November 2003, he served as our
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Priofjdining Vertex, Mr. Smith served as a partnethi@ Life Science and Technology Practice
Group of Ernst & Young LLP, an accounting firm,fnal999 to 2001. Mr. Smith initially joined Ernst¥oung's U.K. firm in 1987, and then
joined its Boston office in 1995. Mr. Smith currignis a member of the Boards of Directors of Acofideerapeutics, Inc., Ep
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Bnd TolerRx Inc. Mr. Smith holds a B.A. in acnting and finance from Manchester
Metropolitan University, U.K., is a member of thenArican Institute of Certified Public Accountantslas a Chartered Accountant of
England and Wales.
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Mr. Kenneth Boger is our Senior Vice Presidand General Counsel, a position he has hete giining us in 2001. He came to Vertex
from the law firm of Kirkpatrick & Lockhart LLP, n@ known as K&L Gates, where he was a partner spgicig in business and corporate
law and was a member of the firm's Management CaraeiPrior to the merger of Kirkpatrick & Lockhavith the Boston law firm of
Warner & Stackpole LLP in 1999, Mr. Boger was atipar at Warner & Stackpole, where he served oBxecutive Committee from 1988 to
1997. Mr. Boger holds an A.B. in history from Duldeiversity, an M.B.A. from the Graduate School afdhess at the University of
Chicago, and a J.D. from Boston College Law Schdol.Boger is the brother of Dr. Joshua Boger, Ghief Executive Officer.

Mr. Garrison is our Senior Vice Presidemd &£atalyst, a position he has held since joinmgnuDecember 2005. From June 2001 to
December 2005, Mr. Garrison was the founder andiéReat of Bink Inc., a strategic consulting firmid? to that, Mr. Garrison was, for
18 years, the Chairman and Chief Executive Offadfdngalls, Quinn & Johnson, one of New Englandigést advertising agencies.

Mr. Garrison holds a B.A. in English from Princetdniversity.

Ms. Kelly-Croswell is our Senior Vice Pr@snt, Human Resources, a position she has held irlg 2007. Ms. Kelly-Croswell served
as our Vice President, Human Resources from Jud 20 June 2007. From November 2005 through Jufié,2@s. Kelly-Croswell served ¢
Vice President of Human Resources of NitroMed,,lagharmaceutical company. From February 2004otehkhber 2005, Ms. Kelly-
Croswell served as Senior Vice President, Humamiess at CIGNA, an employee benefits companythfeHealth Care Division and
Service Operations. From September 2001 to Feb2G0¥, Ms. Kelly-Croswell served as Vice Presidaritluman Resources for Global
Research and Development for the Monsanto Companggricultural products and solutions company shatjoined in 1998. Ms. Kelly-
Croswell holds a B.S. in Finance and an M.A. inda#nd Industrial Relations from the Universityliihois at Urbana-Champaign.

Mr. Sachdev is our Senior Vice Presidemt;p@rate Affairs and Public Policy, a position testheld since he joined us in July 2007.
Mr. Sachdev served as Executive Vice Presidentltiiefithe Biotechnology Industry Organization (Blfbom April 2005 through June
2007. At BIO, he was the senior executive respdasdr managing BIO's Health Section, its Governdward, and for directing all health
care policy and execution. Mr. Sachdev was the Bepommissioner for Policy at the FDA from April @@ through April 2005, and held
several other senior positions within the FDA fr8eptember 2002 through April 2004. From 1998 to2200r. Sachdev served as Majority
Counsel to the Committee on Energy and Commerteeitd.S. House of Representatives, where he wasmsible for bioterrorism, food
safety and environmental issues. From 1993 to 189®7Sachdev practiced law, first at the Chemicanufacturers Association, and then
with the law firm of Ropes & Gray. Mr. Sachdev ol B.S from Carnegie Mellon University, and a Jtbm the Emory University School
of Law.

Mr. Silva is our Vice President and Corger@ontroller, a position he has held since Sep&r@aB08. Mr. Silva joined us in August 2(
as Senior Director, Accounting Operations. Prigjotaing us, he was the Vice President, Interngddrng at Iron Mountain Incorporated
from July 2006 until August 2007 and a consultanton Mountain's financing department from Apf@@5 until July 2006. He was the
Finance Director of the Bioscience Technologiesigddn of Thermo Electron Corporation from 2002 tprih2005. Mr. Silva holds a B.S. in
accounting from Assumption College.

Dr. Sanders has been a member of our Bafdbirectors since 1996, served as our lead outdiidetor from 2003 until 2006 and has
served as our Chairman since May 2006. In May 208%ill resume his role as lead outside direcpruMr. Emmen's planned election as
Chairman. He retired in 1994 as Chief Executived@ffand in 1995 as Chairman of Glaxo Inc. FromQl@01995, he served as a member of
the board of Glaxo plc. From 1981 to 1989, Dr. Saadield a number of positions at Squibb Corpamaticluding that of Vice Chairman.

Dr. Sanders has served in the past on the boafdewill Lynch, Reynolds Metals Co., Morton Intetimaal Inc. and Fisher Scientific
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International. He is currently a director of Biodiet., Cephalon, Inc., Genentech, Inc. and Icalyen,Dr. Sanders had his undergraduate
education at the University of Texas, and earneildh from the University of Texas Southwestern lited School.

Mr. Brandt has been a member of our Bo&fiectors since 2003. Mr. Brandt is Senior Viaestdent and Chief Financial Officer of
Broadcom Corporation, which he joined in March 20erdom September 2005 through March 2007, he waPthsident, Chief Executive
Officer and a member of the Board of Directors @#BAir Pharmaceuticals. Prior to joining Avanir, NBrandt held various positions at
Allergan Inc. from 1999 to 2005, including ExecuetiVice President, Finance and Technical OperaaonsChief Financial Officer from
February 2005 to September 2005, Executive Vicsiéeat, Finance, Strategy and Business DeveloprardtChief Financial Officer from
2003 until February 2005, and Corporate Vice Pergidnd Chief Financial Officer from May 1999 ta030 From January 2001 to January
2002, he also assumed the duties of PresidentaGiinsumer Eye Care Business, at Allergan. Poitindt, he held various positions with
the Boston Consulting Group, most recently serasdice President and Partner, and a senior meofiblee BCG Health Care practice.
Mr. Brandt also serves as a director of Dentspigrimational Inc. Mr. Brandt holds a B.S. in cherhi&agineering from the Massachusetts
Institute of Technology and an M.B.A. from Harvasdiversity.

Dr. Brimblecombe has been a member of mard of Directors since 1993 and a member of trer@of Vertex Pharmaceuticals
(Europe) Ltd. since 2005. He served as Chairmareofyuard Medica plc from 1991 to 2000, of Core GQrplc from 1997 to 1999, of Oxfo
Asymmetry International plc from 1997 to 2000 arBivida Ltd. from 2002 to 2007. From 1979 to 1998 hield various Vice Presidential
posts in SmithKline & French Laboratories' reseant development organization, including Vice Rtest R&D for Europe and Japan. H
currently a Partner in MVM Life Science PartnersiLIHe holds Ph.D. and D.Sc. degrees in pharmacdtogythe University of Bristol,
England.

Dr. Collinson has been a member of our BadiDirectors since July 2001. He currently seraes Partner at Forward Ventures. Pric
our merger with Aurora Biosciences Corporation®Z2, Dr. Collinson served as the President, Chxefchtive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Aurora. Dr. Collinson held senior managenhpositions with Glaxo Wellcome from December 1894une 1998, most recently
serving as Co-Chairman, Hospital and Critical CErerapy Management Team and Director of Hospitdl@ritical Care. Dr. Collinson
received his Ph.D. in physical chemistry from th@avdrsity of Oxford, England and his M.B.A. from rtard University.

Dr. Cordes has been a member of our BoaBirectors since 2005, and a scientific advisouscsince 1996. Dr. Cordes was the
Chairman of Vitae Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a positierheld from January 2002 to March 2006. Prigoitting Vitae Pharmaceuticals,
Dr. Cordes was a professor of pharmacy at the Wsityeof Michigan. Dr. Cordes received a B.S. dedgrechemistry from the California
Institute of Technology and a Ph.D. in biochemidtom Brandeis University.

Mr. Sachs has been a member of our BoaRirettors since 1998. He is a General Partnehatl€s River Ventures. From 1998 to
1999, he served as Executive Vice President anéi@elManager of Ascend Communications, Inc. Fro@71@ntil 1998, Mr. Sachs served
as President and Chief Executive Officer of Str&@omputer, Inc. From 1995 to 1997, he served asUike Vice President and General
Manager of the Internet Telecom Business Groupagtetworks, Inc. From 1993 to 1995, he servedrasiéfent and Chief Executive
Officer at Xylogics, Inc. Mr. Sachs also currergirves as a director of BigBand Networks, Inc. 8chs holds a B.S.E.E. in electrical
engineering from Bucknell University, an M.E.E.dlectrical engineering from Cornell University, aad M.B.A. from Northeastern
University.

Ms. Ullian has been a member of our Bodricectors since 1997. Since 1996, she has sasdetesident and Chief Executive Officer
of Boston Medical Center. From 1994 to 1996, sheeskas President and Chief Executive Officer aftBo University Medical Center
Hospital. From 1987 to 1994, Ms. Ullian served essilent and Chief Executive Officer of Faulknershital. She also serves as a director of
Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc. and Hologic, Inc. Nilian holds a B.A. in political science from TsfUniversity and a M.P.H. from the
University of Michigan.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk, and you should carefully consider theksiand uncertainties described
below in addition to the other information includedincorporated by reference in this Annual RegortForm 10-K. If any of the following
risks or uncertainties actually occurs, our busiseiancial condition or results of operations wablikely suffer, possibly materially. In that
case, the trading price of our common stock coeldide.

WE EXPECT TO INCUR FUTURE LOSSES, AND WE MAY NEVER BECOME PROFITABLE.

We have incurred significant operating é&sseach year since our inception, including netds®f $459.9 million, $391.3 million and
$206.9 million during 2008, 2007 and 2006, respetyi and expect to incur a significant operatiogslin 2009. We expect to continue to
incur operating losses until we are able to obégiproval for and successfully commercialize telaipy®ecause we are continuing to incur
significant operating expenses as we continueateedtage development of our advanced drug cardidiacluding telaprevir and VX-770,
and continue to invest in research activities. Assult, we believe that it is likely that our erges will exceed our revenues at least until we
begin receiving substantial product revenues. Tharebe no assurance that any of our drug candidaliebe approved or, if approved, will
be commercially successful. Our net losses haveahdawill continue to have an adverse effect omrgrother things, our stockholders'
equity, total assets and working capital. We exgeat losses will fluctuate from quarter to quaeed year to year, and that such fluctuations
may be substantial. We cannot predict when webeidlome profitable, if ever.

WE DEPEND HEAVILY ON THE SUCCESS OF OUR LEAD DRUG CANDIDATE, TELAPREVIR, WHICH IS STILL UNDER
DEVELOPMENT. IF WE ARE UNABLE TO COMMERCIALIZE TELA PREVIR, OR EXPERIENCE DELAYS IN DOING SO,
OUR BUSINESS WILL BE MATERIALLY HARMED.

We are investing a substantial portionwf personnel and financial resources in the dewveéon of telaprevir, and we believe that a
significant portion of the value of our companyatek to the commercial potential of telaprevir. Theical development and commercial
success of telaprevir will depend on several fagtiocluding the following:

. successful completion of clinical trials with faabte outcomes relative to current standards of @adefuture competitive
therapies;

. receipt and timing of marketing approvals for tetayir from the FDA and similar foreign regulatonythorities;

. receipt and timing of marketing approvals from Bi2A and similar foreign regulatory authorities fooducts being developed

for the treatment of HCV by our competitors, inéhglSchering-Plough's boceprevir;

. additional discussions with the FDA and similareign authorities regarding the scope and desigup€tlinical trials, the
quality of our manufacturing process for telaprernd our clinical trial results;

. establishing and maintaining commercial manufaotugrrangements for telaprevir with third-party m@cturers that are
subject to extensive regulation by the FDA, andceasfully monitoring those manufacturing operatitmensure they meet c
standards and those of regulatory authoritiesudinl the FDA, that extensively monitor pharmaaealtmanufacturing
facilities;

. our ability to establish telaprevir if approved,aasignificant component of any oral combinatioarépies that may be appro
as a treatment for HCV;
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. launching commercial sales of telaprevir by us amdcollaborators;

. the efficacy and other characteristics, includimg side effect profile, of telaprevir relative tasting and future treatments for
HCV;

. our ability to increase awareness of the benefiesady treatment for HCV if telaprevir is approyeahd to increase the rates of

diagnosis of currently undiagnosed patients withvH@fection; and

. acceptance of telaprevir by patients, and in thdica¢ community and with third-party payors.

If the data from our ongoing clinical tsadr non-clinical studies regarding the safetyfica&cy of telaprevir are not favorable, we may
be forced to delay or terminate the clinical depetent of telaprevir, which would materially harnr dwsiness. Further, even if we gain
marketing approvals from the FDA and comparableifpr regulatory authorities in a timely manner,caenot be sure that telaprevir will be
commercially successful in the pharmaceutical natkéhe results of clinical trials of telaprevihe anticipated or actual timing of marketing
approvals for telaprevir, or the market acceptasfdelaprevir, if approved, including treatmentmbiursement levels agreed to by third-party
payors, do not meet the expectations of investopaiblic market analysts, the market price of ammon stock would likely decline.

WE NEED TO RAISE ADDITIONAL CAPITAL THAT MAY NOT BE  AVAILABLE.

We expect to incur substantial expensegeadesign and develop existing and future compounai$ertake clinical trials of drug
candidates resulting from such compounds, and lowitdirug supply, regulatory, development and comsrakcapabilities. We also expect to
incur substantial administrative and commercialimaexpenses in the future. In particular, we exlee continuing development and
commercialization of telaprevir to require additdoapital beyond our current resources. We ardteiphat we will finance these substantial
cash needs with some combination of:

. public offerings or private placements of our debéquity securities or other methods of financing;
. cash received from our existing collaborative agresets;

. cash received from future collaborative agreements;

. existing cash reserves, together with interestesham those reserves; and

. future product sales.

While we believe that our current cashhaaguivalents and marketable securities would Hecnt to fund our operations for the next
twelve months, we may raise additional capitald@2and thereafter through public offerings or arévplacements of our debt or equity
securities. Any such capital transactions may oy ma be similar to transactions that we have cetepl in the past. Any equity financings
could result in dilution to our theexisting security holders. Any debt financing maydn terms that, among other things, restrict bilitgto
pay interest and dividends—although we do not mhtenpay dividends for the foreseeable futureddguate funds are not available on
acceptable terms, or at all, we may be requirenittail significantly or discontinue one or moreafr research, drug discovery or
development programs, including clinical trialssun significant cash exit costs, or attempt to wbfands through arrangements with
collaborators or others that may require us togelish rights to certain of our technologies, dragdrug candidates. Based on many factors,
including general economic conditions, additioniaafhcing may not be available on acceptable teifras all.
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ALL OF OUR DRUG CANDIDATES REMAIN SUBJECT TO CLINIC AL TESTING AND REGULATORY APPROVAL. IF WE
ARE UNABLE TO SUCCESSFULLY DEVELOP AND TEST OUR DRU G CANDIDATES, WE WILL NOT BE SUCCESSFUL.

The success of our business depends plynugoon our ability, and our collaborators' abilitg develop and commercialize our drug
candidates, including telaprevir, successfully. Buthe development efforts of our competitorspiider to be successful in a therapeutic area
it is often necessary to develop follow-on compauadd/or develop new combination therapies. Ouy dandidates are in various stages of
development and must satisfy rigorous standardsfety and efficacy before they can be approvethéyDA or other regulatory authorities
for sale. To satisfy these standards, we and/ocollaborators must allocate our resources amonganious development programs and r
engage in expensive and lengthy testing of our darglidates. These discovery and development gffaria new pharmaceutical product,
including follow-on compounds, are resouingensive, and may take 10 to 15 years or morepitesur efforts, our drug candidates may |

. offer therapeutic or other improvement over exgittompetitive drugs;

. be proven safe and effective in clinical trials;

. meet applicable regulatory standards;

. be capable of being produced in commercial quastiit acceptable costs; or

. if approved for commercial sale, be successfullykaid as pharmaceutical products.

Positive results in preclinical studiesaadrug candidate may not be predictive of simieuits in humans during clinical trials, and
promising results from earlier clinical trials oflaug candidate may not be replicated in lateticdintrials. Findings, including toxicology
findings, in nonclinical studies conducted concatisewith clinical trials could result in abrupt @hges in our development activities,
including the possible cessation of developmerivities associated with a particular drug candidatprogram. Furthermore, results from
clinical trials may not meet the level of statiatisignificance required by the FDA or other reg¢rig authorities for approval of a drug
candidate.

We and many other companies in the pharotees and biotechnology industries have suffeligdificant setbacks in late-stage clinical
trials even after achieving promising results irlieastage clinical trials. Accordingly, the resifrom the completed preclinical studies and
clinical trials and ongoing clinical trials for odrug candidates may not be predictive of the tesué may obtain in later stage trials, and |
not be predictive of the likelihood of approvalaofirug candidate for commercial sale. In additfoom time to time, we report interim data
from our clinical trials, including with respect telaprevir data regarding patients’ HCV RNA lewadising treatment, at the end-of-treatment
or 12 weeks after completing treatment. Interimadat subject to change, and there can be no asssrthat interim data will be confirmed
upon the analysis of final data. In addition, iimtedata with respect to a patient's HCV RNA levalsy not be predictive of the final SVR
rates that will be achieved in the clinical trial.

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO OBTAIN UNITED STATES AND/OR FOR EIGN REGULATORY APPROVAL, WE WILL BE UNABLE
TO COMMERCIALIZE OUR DRUG CANDIDATES.

Our drug candidates are subject to extengdwvernmental regulations relating to their depelent, clinical trials, manufacturing and
commercialization. Rigorous preclinical testing atidical trials and an extensive regulatory appigyrocess are required in the United Si
and in most other countries prior to the commersadd of our drug candidates. Satisfaction of ttaemkother regulatory requirements is
costly, time consuming, uncertain and subject tantisipated delays. It is possible that none ofdthgy candidates we are developing
independently, or in collaboration with others, Ik approved for marketing.
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We have limited experience in conductind aranaging the late-stage clinical trials necesgapbtain regulatory approvals, including
approval by the FDA. The time required to compldieical trials and to satisfy the FDA and otheuntries' regulatory review processes is
uncertain and typically takes many years. Our asiglgf data obtained from preclinical and cliniaativities is subject to confirmation and
interpretation by regulatory authorities, which kcbdelay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Wiay also encounter unanticipated delay
increased costs due to government regulation frdoré legislation or administrative action or chasign FDA policy during the period of
drug development, clinical trials and FDA regulgtogview.

Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtaigquired approvals could materially adverselycftaur ability to successfully commercialize
any drug candidate. Furthermore, any regulatoryaap to market a drug may be subject to limitasitimat we do not currently expect on the
indicated uses for which we may market the drugy such limitations could limit the size of the markor the drug.

We are also subject to numerous foreignleggry requirements governing the conduct of chhirials, manufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursemndine foreign regulatory approval process inclualesf the risks associated with the FDA
approval process described above, as well asaiskisutable to the satisfaction of foreign requients. Approval by the FDA does not en:
approval by regulatory authorities outside the Bohitates. Foreign jurisdictions may have diffeegyroval procedures than those required
by the FDA and may impose additional testing rezpaients for our drug candidates.

WE ARE INVESTING SIGNIFICANT RESOURCES IN OUR DEVEL OPMENT PROGRAM FOR VX-770, BASED PRIMARILY
ON DATA FROM A RELATIVELY SMALL CLINICAL TRIAL IN W HICH PATIENTS RECEIVED VX-770 OVER A SHORT
DURATION. IF WE ARE UNABLE TO SHOW THE SAFETY AND E FFICACY OF VX-770, OR EXPERIENCE DELAYS IN
DOING SO, OUR BUSINESS COULD BE MATERIALLY HARMED.

We are increasing the resources that wanaesting in the development of VX-770 and expedbegin a registration program for VX-
770 focused on CF patients with the G551D mutatidhe first half of 2009. We are initiating thisgistration program based primarily on
data from a Phase 2a clinical trial of VX-770 ing&ients with CF, in which patients received VXO&#er 14-day and 28-day periods. In
order to receive approval for VX-770, we will needshow that it is safe and effective in a largember of patients than were involved in the
Phase 2a clinical trial over significantly longersthg periods. In addition, our registration pragrar VX-770 will include two pediatric
patient populations in which VX-770 has not presigubeen studied. Since a substantial portion ®QF population is under age 18, \IX0
potential commercial success will be dependentaironly being able to obtain approval for adultigatis, but also for pediatric patients. If
are unable to show the safety and efficacy of VX%t experience delays in doing so, our busineafdde materially harmed.

OUR OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS MAY MAKE IT MORE DIFFI CULT TO OBTAIN ADDITIONAL FINANCING OR
REDUCE OUR FLEXIBILITY TO ACT IN OUR BEST INTERESTS .

As of December 31, 2008, we had outstan#iz®y.5 million in aggregate principal amount of3%6 convertible senior subordinated
notes due 2013, or 2013 Notes. The level of ouelitetiness could affect us by:

. exposing us to fixed rates of interest, which meayrbexcess of prevailing market rates;

. making it more difficult to obtain additional finaimg for working capital, capital expenditures, tsérvice requirements or
other purposes;

. constraining our ability to react quickly in an embrable economic climate or to changes in ourrtassi or the pharmaceutical
industry; or
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. requiring the dedication of substantial cash teiserthe semi-annual interest payments on our autishg debt, thereby
reducing the amount of cash available for otheppses.

ISSUANCES OF ADDITIONAL SHARES OF OUR COMMON STOCK COULD CAUSE THE PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK
TO DECLINE.

Sales of substantial amounts of our comsiook in the open market, or the availability oflsshares for sale, could adversely affect the
price of our common stock. In addition, the issaotrestricted common stock or common stock up@maise of any outstanding option
would be dilutive, and may cause the market priceafshare of our common stock to decline. As afddeber 31, 2008, we had
approximately 151.2 million shares of common stisskied and outstanding. We also had outstandingnspto purchase approximately
16.5 million shares of common stock with a weighé®drage exercise price of $29.16 per share ardmilion shares of common stock
issuable upon conversion of our outstanding 201&#at a conversion price of approximately $23 fldggregate principal amount per
share. Outstanding vested options could be exerdisiee market price of our common stock excedasapplicable exercise price. In
addition, we may issue additional common stockestricted securities in the future as part of nauricing activities or business development
activities and any such issuances may have awdlefifect on existing shareholders.

THE RESULTS FROM OUR CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIE S AND THE CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
OF OUR COMPETITORS ARE RELEASED PERIODICALLY, AND H AVE OFTEN RESULTED IN SIGNIFICANT
VOLATILITY IN THE PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK.

We, our collaborators and our competit@saalically provide updates regarding drug develeptrprograms typically through press
releases, conference calls and presentations atahednferences. These periodic updates oftemdecinterim or final results from clinical
trials conducted by us, our collaborators or ounpetitors and/or information about our or our cotitipes expectations regarding future
clinical development of our drug candidates or ptitdly competitive drugs or drug candidates. Tiha@rtg of the release of information by us
regarding our drug development programs is oftgqobe our control and is influenced by when we reeeiata from our clinical trials and
the general preference among pharmaceutical compémidisclose clinical data during medical confees. In addition, because clinical
trials of drug candidates for the treatment of H&ftén occur over two years, the information that ar collaborators and our competitors
disclose is often based on interim data and subjesignificant interpretation by investors. Anywniformation regarding drug candidates or
potentially competitive drugs or drug candidates] an particular any new information regarding pekvir and potentially competitive HCV
drug candidates, can substantially affect invespasceptions regarding our future prospects.

IF CLINICAL TRIALS FOR OUR DRUG CANDIDATES ARE PROL ONGED OR DELAYED, WE MAY BE UNABLE TO
COMMERCIALIZE OUR DRUG CANDIDATES ON A TIMELY BASIS , WHICH WOULD REQUIRE US TO INCUR
ADDITIONAL COSTS, WOULD DELAY OUR RECEIPT OF ANY PR ODUCT REVENUE AND COULD HARM OUR
COMPETITIVE POSITION.

We cannot predict whether or not we wilkeumnter problems with any of our completed, ongainglanned clinical trials that will cause
us or regulatory authorities to delay or suspendaal trials, or delay the analysis of data froar completed or ongoing clinical trials. Any
the following could delay the clinical developmeftour drug candidates:

. ongoing discussions with the FDA or comparableifprauthorities regarding the scope or design ofctinical trials and the
number of clinical trials we must conduct;

. delays in receiving or the inability to obtain régd approvals from IRBs at one or more of theiingons at which a clinical
trial is conducted or other reviewing entities latical sites selected for participation in oumatial trials;
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. delays in enrolling volunteers or patients intaidal trials, including as a result of low numbefgatients that meet the
eligibility criteria for the trial;

. a lower than anticipated retention rate of volurge® patients in clinical trials;

. the need to repeat clinical trials as a resulhobnclusive results or unforeseen complicatiortesting;

. inadequate supply or deficient quality of drug ddate materials or other materials necessary ®ctimduct of our clinical
trials;

. unfavorable FDA inspection and review of a manufang facility for a drug candidate or its relevamanufacturing records

a clinical trial site or records of any clinical preclinical investigation;
. serious and unexpected drug-related side effepsrednced by participants in our clinical trials; o

. the placement by the FDA of a clinical hold onialtr

Our ability to enroll patients in our cliail trials in sufficient numbers and on a timelgisawill be subject to a number of factors,
including the size of the patient population, tla¢une of the protocol, the proximity of patientsctmical sites, the availability of effective
treatments for the relevant disease, the numbethef clinical trials competing for patients in theme indication and the eligibility criteria
for the clinical trial. In addition, subjects mago@ out of our clinical trials or may be lost tdifav-up medical evaluation after treatment er
and this could possibly impair the validity or &ttal significance of the trials. Delays in pati@nroliment or unforeseen drop-out rates may
result in increased costs and longer developmenasti While all or a portion of these additionaltsasay be covered by payments under our
collaborative agreements, we bear all of the dosteur development candidates for which we havé@mancial support from a collaborator.

We, our collaborators, the FDA or otherlaggble regulatory authorities may suspend clintoals of a drug candidate at any time if we
or they believe the subjects or patients partigigaih such clinical trials are being exposed taageptable health risks or for other reasons.
Any such suspension could materially adverselycatige development of a particular drug candidaté@ur business.

In addition, it is impossible to predict @ther legislative changes will be enacted, or wireBDA regulations, guidance or interpretati
will be changed, or what the impact of such changesy, may be. If we experience any such prolslene may not have the financial
resources to continue development of the drug daelithat is affected or the development of angunfother drug candidates. Any delay in
the approval of any of our drug candidates, ineigdelaprevir, could have a material adverse impaatur ability to effectively
commercialize the drug candidate after approvah#& or more of our competitors are able to bringpeting therapies to market before or in
closer proximity to our drug candidates.

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO DEVELOP EFFECTIVE INDEPENDENT S ALES AND MARKETING CAPABILITIES OR ESTABLISH
THIRD-PARTY RELATIONSHIPS FOR THE COMMERCIALIZATION  OF OUR DRUG CANDIDATES, WE WILL NOT BE
ABLE TO SUCCESSFULLY COMMERCIALIZE OUR DRUG CANDIDA TES, AND IN PARTICULAR TELAPREVIR, EVEN IF
WE ARE ABLE TO OBTAIN REGULATORY APPROVAL.

We currently have limited experience asigany in sales and marketing or with respectiwmy and obtaining adequate third-party
reimbursement for drugs. We will need to eitheralep marketing capabilities and an independensdalee or enter into arrangements with
third parties to sell and market our drug candislafehey are approved for sale by regulatory auittes.

In order to market telaprevir in North Anwerif it is approved, we intend to build a marketiorganization and a specialized sales force,
which will require substantial efforts and signéfit
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management and financial resources. In additioviX#770 is approved, we would also need to esthldismall sales force in North America
and Europe for VX-770. While we intend to stage cammitments to the extent possible in considenmatiothe development timelines, in
order to support an effective launch of telaprewie, will need to make significant financial comménts to our marketing organization prior
to receiving regulatory approval. We will need &vdte significant effort, in particular, to recing individuals with experience in the sales
and marketing of pharmaceutical products. Competitdr personnel with these skills is very high amaly be particularly difficult for us

since telaprevir is still an investigational druapdidate and we will be competing with companies &éne currently marketing successful
drugs. As a result, we may not be able to succigsfevelop our own marketing capabilities or indagdent sales force for telaprevir in North
America in order to support an effective launchetéprevir if it is approved for sale.

We have granted commercialization rightsttter pharmaceutical companies with respect tmiceof our drug candidates in specific
geographic locations, including telaprevir, Auriaase inhibitors and AVN-944 (VX-944). To the ext¢hat our collaborators have
commercial rights to our drugs, any revenues weivedrom any approved drugs will depend primaoitythe sales and marketing efforts of
others. We do not know whether we will be ablertteeinto additional thirgearty sales and marketing arrangements with respesty of ou
other drug candidates on acceptable terms, if adralvhether we will be able to leverage the saled marketing capabilities we intend to
build for telaprevir in order to market and selyarther drug candidate if it is approved for sale.

IF OUR COMPETITORS BRING SUPERIOR DRUGS TO MARKET O R BRING THEIR DRUGS TO MARKET BEFORE WE
DO, WE MAY BE UNABLE TO FIND A MARKET FOR OUR DRUG CANDIDATES.

Our drug candidates in development maybeatble to compete effectively with drugs that@areently on the market or new drugs that
may be developed by others. No assurances carvée iiat telaprevir will be approved for marketpripr to competing therapies, including
Schering-Plough's boceprevir, or at all. Therenaa@y other companies developing drugs for the sadieations that we are pursuing in
development in particular for the treatment of HiRféction. In order to compete successfully in theseas, we must demonstrate improved
safety, efficacy and ease of manufacturing and geirket acceptance over competing drugs that magwe regulatory approval before or
after our drug candidates, and over those thaentiyrare marketed. Many of our competitors, inglgdmajor pharmaceutical companies
such as Schering-Plough, GlaxoSmithKline, Wyetizd?f Roche, Amgen, Novartis and Johnson & Johpemsess substantially greater
financial, technical and human resources than vesgss. In addition, many of our competitors hageificantly greater experience than we
have in conducting preclinical and nonclinical iregtand human clinical trials of drug candidatesliag up manufacturing operations and
obtaining regulatory approvals of drugs and mantufag facilities. Accordingly, our competitors maycceed in obtaining regulatory
approval for drugs more rapidly than we do. If vikain regulatory approval and launch commerciassaf our drug candidates, we also will
compete with respect to manufacturing efficiencgt aales and marketing capabilities, areas in wivielturrently have limited experience.

We are aware of a number of companiesatetieveloping new treatments for HCV infectionudig protease inhibitor compounds
like telaprevir, such as Schering-Plough's boceprpelymerase inhibitor compounds and advancegtfietons. Even if we are able to obtain
marketing approval for telaprevir, it is possililattone or more of these therapies could be apgroxer to or shortly after we obtain such
approval for telaprevir, which we believe may négdy impact telaprevir sales.

IF PHYSICIANS, PATIENTS AND THIRD-PARTY PAYORS DO N OT ACCEPT OUR FUTURE DRUGS, WE MAY BE UNABLE
TO GENERATE SIGNIFICANT REVENUE, IF ANY.

Even if our drug candidates obtain regulapproval, they may not gain market acceptanocengnphysicians, patients and health care
payors. We believe that effectively marketing tedar will
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require substantial efforts, both prior to launck after approval. Physicians may elect not tomenend our drugs for a variety of reasons
including:

. the anticipated market introduction of competitirags;

. lower demonstrated clinical safety and efficacy paned to other drugs;
. lack of cost-effectiveness;

. lack of availability of reimbursement from third+papayors;

. convenience and ease of administration;

. prevalence and severity of adverse side effects;

. other potential advantages of alternative treatmesthods; and

. ineffective marketing and distribution support.

If our approved drugs fail to achieve makeceptance, we will not be able to generate fogmt revenue.

IF THE GOVERNMENT AND OTHER THIRD-PARTY PAYORS FAIL TO PROVIDE COVERAGE AND ADEQUATE
PAYMENT RATES FOR OUR FUTURE DRUGS, OUR REVENUE AND PROSPECTS FOR PROFITABILITY WILL BE
HARMED.

In both domestic and foreign markets, @les of any future drugs will depend in part ugos availability of reimbursement from third-
party payors. Such third-party payors include gowent health programs such as Medicare, managecuoaviders, private health insurers
and other organizations. These third-party paymrsrereasingly attempting to contain health cast€ by demanding price discounts or
rebates and limiting both the types and varietgirofys that they will cover and the amounts thay thifl pay for these drugs. As a result, they
may not cover or provide adequate payment for ouré drugs. We might need to conduct post-margetindies in order to demonstrate the
costeffectiveness of any future drugs to such payetsfaction. Such studies might require us to conansignificant amount of managem
time and financial and other resources. Our futliggs might not ultimately be considered cost-¢ffec Adequate thirgsarty reimbursemel
might not be available to enable us to maintaingpkevels sufficient to realize an appropriate metan investment in product development.

Reimbursement rates may vary accordingeaise of the drug and the clinical setting in Wwhids used, may be based on payments
allowed for lower-cost products that are alreadynbairsed, may be incorporated into existing paysént other products or services, and
may reflect budgetary constraints and/or imperéetiin Medicare or Medicaid data used to calculadse rates. Net prices for drugs may be
reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates reqbiegvernment health care programs. In additiogislation has been introduced in
Congress that, if enacted, would permit more wickesgh importation of drugs from foreign countrietithe United States, which may inch
importation from countries where the drugs are splidwer prices than in the United States. Sugfslation, or similar regulatory changes or
relaxation of laws that restrict imports of drugsn other countries, could reduce the net priceegeive for our marketed drugs.

IF OUR PROCESSES AND SYSTEMS ARE NOT COMPLIANT WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS, WE COULD BE
SUBJECT TO DELAYS IN FILING NDAs OR RESTRICTIONS ON MARKETING OF DRUGS AFTER THEY HAVE BEEN
APPROVED.

We currently are developing drug candid&esegulatory approval for the first time sinagr énception, and are in the process of
implementing regulated processes and systems eghiarobtain and maintain regulatory approval fardrug candidates. Certain of these
processes and systems for conducting clinicaktaad manufacturing material must be compliant vatfulatory requirements before we can
apply for regulatory approval for our drug cand@atThese processes and systems will
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be subject to continual review and periodic insjpecby the FDA and other regulatory bodies. If we anable to achieve compliance in a
timely fashion, or if compliance issues are idéatifat any point in the development and approvat@ss, we may experience delays in filing
for regulatory approval for our drug candidatesdelays in obtaining regulatory approval afteinfii In addition, any later discovery of
previously unknown problems or safety issues witpraved drugs or manufacturing processes, or atioicomply with regulatory
requirements, may result in restrictions on suciysiior manufacturing processes, withdrawal of dfegys the market, the imposition of civil
or criminal penalties or a refusal by the FDA amdafiter regulatory bodies to approve pending appbos for marketing approval of new
drugs or supplements to approved applications odmyhich could have a material adverse effect anbmusiness. In addition, we are a part
agreements that transfer responsibility for compgywith specified regulatory requirements, sucfilesg and maintenance of marketing
authorizations and safety reporting or compliandt manufacturing requirements, to our collaboratmmd third-party manufacturers. If our
collaborators or third-party manufacturers do rudfilf these regulatory obligations, any drugs ¥anich we or they obtain approval may be
withdrawn from the market, which would have a mateadverse effect on our business.

IF WE OBTAIN REGULATORY APPROVALS, OUR DRUG CANDIDA TES WILL BE SUBJECT TO ONGOING REGULATORY
REVIEW. IF WE FAIL TO COMPLY WITH CONTINUING UNITED  STATES AND APPLICABLE FOREIGN REGULATIONS,
WE COULD LOSE THOSE APPROVALS, AND OUR BUSINESS WOULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.

If we receive regulatory approval of anyglcandidates that we are developing, we will b@gesti to continuing regulatory review,
including the review of clinical results that aeported after our drug candidates become commigreiadilable, approved drugs. Drugs are
more widely used by patients once approval has bb#&rined, therefore side effects and other probleray be observed after approval that
were not seen or anticipated during pre-approvaicell trials. In addition, the manufacturers ahd manufacturing facilities we engage to
make any of our drug candidates will also be sultfeperiodic review and inspection by the FDA. Bubsequent discovery of previously
unknown problems with the drug, manufacturers onuficturing facilities may result in restrictions the drug, manufacturers or
manufacturing facilities, including withdrawal dfet drug from the market or our inability to use theilities to make our drug. If we fail to
comply with applicable continuing regulatory reguirents, we may be subject to fines, suspensiontledrawal of regulatory approval,
product recalls and seizures, operating restristaomd criminal prosecutions.

OUR DRUG DEVELOPMENT EFFORTS ARE DATA-DRIVEN AND TH EREFORE POTENTIALLY SUBJECT TO ABRUPT
CHANGES IN EXPECTED OUTCOMES.

Small molecule drug discovery and developnirevolve, initially, the identification of chermat compounds that may have promise as
treatments for specific diseases. Once identifsiedrag candidates, compounds are subjected to gétesting in a laboratory setting, in
animals and in humans. Our ultimate objective idatermine whether the drug candidates have pHydieaacteristics, both intrinsically and
in animal and human systems, and a toxicologiaalpy that are compatible with clinical and comwiat success in treatment of the disease
being targeted. Throughout this process, experisnam conducted and data are gathered that canfdne a decision to move to the next
step in the investigation process for a particdtaig candidate, could result in uncertainty overghoper course to pursue, or could result in
the termination of further drug development effavith respect to the compound being evaluated. Whitor the results of our discovery
research and our nonclinical studies and cliniéalstand regularly evaluate and re-evaluate ouf@m investments with the objective of
balancing risk and potential return in view of neata and scientific, business and commercial insigrhis process can result in relatively
abrupt changes in focus and priority as new infaimnacomes to light and we gain additional insights ongoing programs and potential
new programs.

35




Table of Contents

WE DEPEND ON OUR COLLABORATORS TO WORK WITH US TO D EVELOP, MANUFACTURE AND COMMERCIALIZE
MANY OF OUR DRUG CANDIDATES.

We have granted development and commezaiadn rights to telaprevir to Janssen (worldwitieeo than North America and Far East)
and to Mitsubishi Tanabe (Far East). We expectteive significant financial support under our 3anscollaboration agreement, as well as
meaningful technical and manufacturing contribusiém the telaprevir program. The success of sonmiokey in-house programs, such as
for telaprevir, is dependent upon the continuedrfiial and other support that our collaboratorseteyreed to provide.

For some drug candidates on which we areumwently focusing our development efforts, wedgranted worldwide rights to a
collaborator, as in our collaborations with Mereidavalon.

The success of our collaborations dependb® efforts and activities of our collaboratdtach of our collaborators has significant
discretion in determining the efforts and resoutbes it will apply to the collaboration. Our exigj collaborations may not be scientifically
commercially successful, and we may fail in ouerpts to establish further collaborations to dgvelor drug candidates on acceptable
terms.

The risks that we face in connection witege existing and any future collaborations inclingefollowing:

. Our collaboration agreements are subject to temmimainder various circumstances, including, ath@case of our agreeme
with Janssen and Merck, termination without cadss. such termination could have an adverse matefiatt on our financie
condition and/or delay the development and comrakseile of our drug candidates, including telaprevi

. Our collaborators may change the focus of theiettgpment and commercialization efforts or may hiagefficient resources
to effectively develop our drug candidates. Phasutical and biotechnology companies historicallyehee-evaluated their
development and commercialization priorities foliogvmergers and consolidations, which have beemuamin recent years
in these industries. The ability of some of ourglcandidates to reach their potential could betéithif our collaborators
decrease or fail to increase development or comalation efforts related to those drug candidates

. Our collaboration agreements may have the effelitmiting the areas of research and developmerttieamay pursue, either
alone or in collaboration with third parties.

. Our collaborators may develop and commercializbgeialone or with others, drugs that are simidaort competitive with the
drugs or drug candidates that are the subjecteoftiaboration with us.

IF WE ACQUIRE OR LICENSE TECHNOLOGIES, RESOURCES OR DRUG CANDIDATES, WE WILL INCUR A VARIETY OF
COSTS AND MAY NEVER REALIZE BENEFITS FROM THE TRANS ACTION.

If appropriate opportunities become avaddatve might attempt to license or acquire techgiels, resources and drugs or drug
candidates, including potentially complimentary H@¥rapies. The process of negotiating the licemsequisition might result in operating
difficulties and expenditures and whether or ngt sinch transaction is ever consummated, might recpignificant management attention |
would otherwise be available for ongoing developnudour business. Moreover, even if we complelieense or other transaction, we mi
never realize the anticipated benefits of the @atisn. Future licenses or acquisitions could tdsypotentially dilutive issuances of equity
securities, the incurrence of debt, contingentilitéds, or impairment expenses related to goodwaitid impairment or amortization expenses
related to other intangible assets, which coularhawr financial condition.
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IF WE ARE UNABLE TO ATTRACT AND RETAIN COLLABORATOR S FOR THE DEVELOPMENT AND
COMMERCIALIZATION OF OUR DRUGS AND DRUG CANDIDATES, WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO FULLY FUND OUR
DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALIZATION ACTIVITIES.

Our collaborators have agreed to fund pogiof our pharmaceutical development programsoana/conduct the development and
commercialization of specified drug candidates dfrthey are approved, drugs. In exchange, we Igiwen them technology, sales and
marketing rights relating to those drugs and draigdadates. Some of our corporate collaborators highés to control the planning and
execution of drug development and clinical progrémetuding for our Aurora kinase inhibitor drug chgates and AVN-944 (VX-944). Our
collaborators may exercise their control rightsveys that may negatively affect the timing and sssoof those programs. Our collaborations
are subject to termination rights by the collabarsit|f any of our collaborators were to terminigdeelationship with us, or fail to meet its
contractual obligations, that action could haveaeamal adverse effect on our ability to developynufacture and market any drug candidates
being developed under the collaboration and cotletesely affect our revenues and net loss. Asqfatir ongoing strategy, we expect to
seek additional collaborative arrangements, whialy not be available to us on favorable terms, ailato develop and commercialize our
drug candidates in the future. We plan to seellatmarator for our JAK3 inhibitors, including VX-80 No assurance can be given that these
efforts will be successful. Even if we are ablestablish acceptable collaborative arrangemeritseifuture, these collaborations may not be
successful.

OUR INVESTMENT IN THE CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT AND MANU FACTURE OF A COMMERCIAL SUPPLY OF
TELAPREVIR MAY NOT RESULT IN ANY BENEFIT TOUS IFT ELAPREVIR IS NOT APPROVED FOR COMMERCIAL
SALE.

We are investing significant resourceshim ¢linical development of telaprevir. Telapresithe first drug candidate for which we expect
to perform all activities related to late-stage @lepment, drug supply, registration and commezadilon in a major market. We are planning
for and investing significant resources now in @ir@tion for application for marketing approval, aosrcial supply and sales and marketing.
We also are incurring significant costs to obtaiiaprevir commercial supply, including $17.4 mitli;m 2008 and $75.4 million in 2007. Our
engagement in these resource-intensive activities gignificant investment at risk if we do notaibtregulatory approval and successfully
commercialize telaprevir in North America. Theregsassurance that our development of telapreViledid successfully to regulatory
approval, or that obtaining regulatory approval ¥e&d to commercial success. If telaprevir isagproved for commercial sale or if its
development is delayed for any reason, our fulestinent in telaprevir may be at risk, we may fageificant costs to dispose of unusable
inventory, and our business and financial conditionld be materially adversely affected.

WE DEPEND ON THIRD-PARTY MANUFACTURERS, INCLUDING S OLE SOURCE SUPPLIERS, TO MANUFACTURE
CLINICAL TRIAL MATERIALS FOR CLINICAL TRIALS AND EX PECT TO CONTINUE TO RELY ON THEM TO MEET OUR
COMMERCIAL SUPPLY NEEDS FOR ANY DRUG CANDIDATE THAT IS APPROVED FOR SALE. WE MAY NOT BE ABLE
TO ESTABLISH OR MAINTAIN THESE RELATIONSHIPS AND CO ULD EXPERIENCE SUPPLY DISRUPTIONS OUTSIDE OF
OUR CONTROL.

We currently rely on a worldwide networktbird-party manufacturers to manufacture and ithiste our drug candidates for clinical
trials, and we expect that we will continue to da® meet our commercial supply needs for thesggjiincluding telaprevir, if they are
approved for sale. As a result of our reliancetmseé third-party manufacturers and suppliers, @iolyisole source suppliers of certain
components of our drug candidates and drugs, webmayibject to significant supply disruptions algsof our control. Our supply chain for
sourcing raw materials and manufacturing drug pecodeady for distribution is a multi-step intermatal endeavor in which we rely on third-
party contract manufacturers in Asia, for the symflraw materials, and in the European Union dredUWnited States for the application of
specific manufacturing processes for the conversiaaw
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materials into drug substance and drug substatedinal dosage form. Establishing and managing ¢fhdbal supply chain requires
significant financial commitments, experienced pargel and the creation or expansion of numeroud-frarty contractual relationships.
There can be no assurance that we will be ablstabksh and maintain commercial supply chainsamroercially reasonable terms, or at all,
in order to support a timely launch of telapreviaay of our other drug candidates

We currently require for our own use, arelr@sponsible to Janssen and Mitsubishi Tanaba fupply of telaprevir for clinical trials in
North America and the European Union, respectivalg.will require a supply of telaprevir for saleNiorth America if we are successful
obtaining marketing approval. We are in the proedédsansferring technical information regarding tmanufacture of telaprevir to Janssen so
that Janssen will be able to manufacture telapréhapproved, for sale in Janssen's territoriess @na secondary supply source of drug
substance for us. While we believe there are nialtiprd parties capable of providing most of thatemials and services we need in order to
manufacture and distribute telaprevir, and suppipaterials which cannot be second-sourced candreged with inventory planning, there
is a risk that we may underestimate or overestidateand, and the manufacturing capacity, for whielplanned and contracted with third-
party manufacturers, may not be sufficient or mesgult in more inventory than is necessary. In @olditbecause of the significant lead times
involved in our supply chain for telaprevir, we megve less flexibility to adjust our supply in resge to changes in demand than if we had
shorter lead times.

We currently require a supply of VX-770 fdinical trials in North America and Europe, anill wequire a supply of VX-770 for sale in
North America and Europe, if we are successfulitaming marketing approval. We are manufacturin¢-770 through our third-party
manufacturer network to meet our clinical supplgdseand are focused on completing the technicaldpment work and commercial
formulation of VX-770. Over the next several yeave, will need to expand our relationships with tiied-party manufacturers that comprise
our supply chain for telaprevir or establish nelatienships with third-party manufacturers in ortteestablish a supply chain for VX-770
and support the potential commercial launch andegieent commercial supply of VX-770.

Even if we successfully establish arrangasith third-party manufacturers, supply disrapd may result from a number of factors
including shortages in product raw materials, latraiechnical difficulties, regulatory inspectiomsrestrictions, shipping or customs delay
any other performance failure by any third-partynofacturer on which we rely.

Any supply disruptions could impact theitimof our clinical trials and the commercial labraf any approved pharmaceutical drugs.
Furthermore, we may be required to modify our potiden methods to permit us to economically manufecbur drugs for commercial
launch and sale. These modifications may require us-evaluate our resources and the resouraasrdhird-party manufacturers, which
could result in abrupt changes in our productiothods and supplies. Upon approval of a pharmacdutitig for sale, if any, we similarly
may be at risk of supply chain disruption for oanmumercial drug supply. In the course of its serwi@contract manufacturer may develop
process technology related to the manufacture ofloug candidates that the manufacturer owns, ritlekependently or jointly with us. This
would increase our reliance on that manufactureeguire us to obtain a license from that manufactin order to have our products
manufactured by other suppliers utilizing the samEess.

WE RELY ON THIRD PARTIES TO CONDUCT OUR CLINICAL TR IALS, AND THOSE THIRD PARTIES MAY NOT
PERFORM SATISFACTORILY, INCLUDING FAILING TO MEET E STABLISHED DEADLINES FOR THE COMPLETION OF
SUCH TRIALS.

We do not have the ability to independentyduct clinical trials for our drug candidatesd ave rely on third parties such as contract
research organizations, to help manage our cliigdlprocess and on medical institutions andictihinvestigators to enroll qualified patie
and conduct our clinical trials. Our reliance oadé third parties for clinical development actestreduces our control over these activities.
Accordingly, these third-party contractors may ommplete activities on schedule,
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or may not conduct our clinical trials in accordamdgth regulatory requirements or our trial designthese third parties do not successfully
carry out their contractual duties or meet expedestllines, we may be required to replace thennodijh we believe that there are a number
of other third-party contractors we could engagedotinue these activities, it may result in a galathe affected trial. If clinical trials are not
conducted in accordance with our contractual exiects or regulatory requirements, action by retpujaauthorities might significantly and
adversely affect the conduct or progess of théaks tAccordingly, our efforts to obtain regulat@gprovals for and commercialize our drug
candidates could be delayed.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS RE LATIONSHIPS COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY
AFFECT OUR BUSINESS.

We have manufacturing, collaborative anuichl trial relationships, and we and our colladtors are seeking approval for our drug
candidates, outside the United States. In additienexpect that if telaprevir is approved for comered sale, a significant portion of our
commercial supply chain, including sourcing of naaterials and manufacturing, will be located inaand the European Union.
Consequently, we are, and will continue to be, ettttp risks related to operating in foreign coigstr Risks associated with conducting
operations in foreign countries include:

. differing regulatory requirements for drug appravial foreign countries;

. unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requirements;

. economic weakness, including inflation, or politizestability in particular foreign economies andrkets;

. compliance with tax, employment, immigration anbldalaws for employees living or traveling abroad,;

. foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &

. foreign currency fluctuations, which could resulicreased operating expenses or reduced reveamugsther obligations

incident to doing business or operating a subsidimaanother country;

. workforce uncertainty in countries where labor @hie more common than in the United States;
. production shortages resulting from any eventsctiffg raw material supply or manufacturing capéibsi abroad; and
. business interruptions resulting from geo-politigalions, including war and terrorism.

These and other risks associated withmermational operations could materially adversdfgct our business.

IF WE ARE UNABLE TO REALIZE THE EXPECTED BENEFITS O F OUR DRUG DISCOVERY CAPABILITIES AND OTHER
TECHNOLOGIES, WE MAY NOT BE ABLE TO COMPETE IN THE MARKETPLACE.

The pharmaceutical research field is charamed by rapid technological progress and intexasepetition. As a result, we may not rea
the expected benefits from our integrated drugadisty capabilities and technologies. For examplarge pharmaceutical company, with
significantly more resources than we have, couldye a systematic approach to the discovery ofdbaged on gene families, using
proprietary drug targets, compound libraries, nayemical approaches, structural protein analysisiaformation technologies. Such a
company might identify broadly applicable compowtaisses faster and more effectively than we dahEurwe believe that interest in the
application of structure-based drug design, pdrdileg design and related approaches has accelaatie strategies have become more
widely understood. Businesses, academic institafignvernmental
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agencies and other public and private researcmimafgons are conducting research to develop tdolies that may compete with those we
use. It is possible that our competitors could &egor develop technologies that would render eahhology obsolete or noncompetitive. For
example, a competitor could develop informatiortextogies that accelerate the atomic-level anabyfspotential compounds that bind to the
active site of a drug target, and predict the gtigmm, toxicity, and relative ease-of-synthesisafididate compounds. If we were unable to
access the same technologies at an acceptable @rigeall, our business could be adversely agfi:ct

IF WE FAIL TO EXPAND OUR HUMAN RESOURCES AND MANAGE OUR GROWTH EFFECTIVELY, OUR BUSINESS MAY
SUFFER.

We expect that if our clinical drug candetacontinue to progress in development, we coatiowbuild our commercial organization and
our drug discovery efforts continue to generatgydrandidates, we will require significant additibimvestment in personnel, management
systems and resources. For example, the number dfilbtime employees increased by 16% in 2008 &e expect to experience additional
growth in 2009. Because our drug discovery and ldpwneent activities are highly technical in natuse, require the services of highly
qualified and trained scientists who have the skitcessary to conduct these activities. In addiis we attempt to grow our capabilities \
respect to clinical development, regulatory affainsality control and sales and marketing, we rteeattract and retain employees with
experience in these fields. We face intense cotiefior our personnel from our competitors, oultalmorators and other companies
throughout our industry. Moreover, the growth afdbbiotechnology companies and the expansion gdmpdarmaceutical companies into
the Boston area have increased competition foatladable pool of skilled employees, especiallyechnical fields, and the high cost of liv
in the Boston and San Diego areas makes it diffiouhttract employees from other parts of the tyuto these areas. Our ability to
commercialize our drug candidates, achieve ourarebeand development objectives, and satisfy oonmeidments under our collaboration
agreements depends on our ability to respond efédgtto these demands and expand our internalnizgton to accommodate additional
anticipated growth. If we are unable to manager® dualified personnel or manage our growth effety, there could be a material adverse
effect on our business.

THE LOSS OF THE SERVICES OF KEY EMPLOYEES OR THE FA ILURE TO EFFECTIVELY INTEGRATE KEY
EMPLOYEES COULD NEGATIVELY IMPACT OUR BUSINESS AND FUTURE GROWTH.

Our future success will depend in largd parour ability to retain the services of our legyentific and management personnel and to
integrate new scientific and management persomb@ldur business. As we expand our capabilitieniicipation of the possible launch of
commercial products, a loss of key personnel @ilare to properly integrate new personnel couldliseuptive. We have entered into
employment agreements with some individuals angigeocompensation-related benefits to all of oy &mployees that vest over time and
therefore induce them to remain with us. Howeves,émployment agreements can be terminated byntptogee on relatively short notice.
The value to employees of stock-related benefasvhst over time—such as options and restriceckstwill be significantly affected by
movements in our stock price that we cannot conarodl may at any point in time be insufficient twoteract more lucrative offers from ot
companies. A failure to retain, as well as hiraintrand effectively integrate into our organizatesufficient number of qualified scientists,
professionals, sales personnel and senior managevoeld negatively affect our business and ouritgttid grow our business.

IF OUR PATENTS DO NOT PROTECT OUR DRUGS, OR OUR DRUGS INFRINGE THIRD-PARTY PATENTS, WE COULD BE
SUBJECT TO LITIGATION AND SUBSTANTIAL LIABILITIES.

We have numerous patent applications pgnidithe United States, as well as foreign couritspn other countries. Our success will
depend, in significant part, on our ability to dbta
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and maintain United States and foreign patent ptiote for our drugs, their uses and our procedsgseserve our trade secrets and to op
without infringing the proprietary rights of thipghrties. We do not know whether any patents wsliésfrom any of our patent applications or,
even if patents issue or have issued, that thedsslaims will provide us with any significant peotion against competitive products or
otherwise be valuable commercially. Legal standaetiging to the validity of patents and the propespe of their claims in the
pharmaceutical field are still evolving, and thes@o consistent law or policy regarding the vaélidadth of claims in biopharmaceutical
patents or the effect of prior art on them. If we aot able to obtain adequate patent protectionability to prevent competitors from
making, using and selling similar drugs will be iied. Furthermore, our activities may infringe ti@ims of patents held by third parties.
Defense and prosecution of infringement or otheslliectual property claims, as well as participatio other inter-party proceedings, can be
expensive and time-consuming, regardless of whetheot the outcome is favorable to us. If the oote of any such litigation or proceeding
were adverse, we could be subject to significadtilities to third parties, could be required tdaib licenses from third parties or could be
required to cease sales of affected drugs, anyhafhwoutcomes could have a material adverse effectur business.

OUR BUSINESS HAS A SUBSTANTIAL RISK OF PRODUCT LIAB ILITY CLAIMS. IF WE ARE UNABLE TO OBTAIN
APPROPRIATE LEVELS OF INSURANCE, A PRODUCT LIABILIT Y CLAIM COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS.

Our business exposes us to significantpiateproduct liability risks that are inherentthre development, manufacturing and sales and
marketing of human therapeutic products. We culydratve clinical trial insurance and will seek totain product liability insurance prior to
the sales and marketing of any of our drug candgldiowever, our insurance may not provide adequaterage against potential liabilities.
Furthermore, clinical trial and product liabilitysurance is becoming increasingly expensive. Assalt, we may be unable to maintain
current amounts of insurance coverage or obtaiitiaddl or sufficient insurance at a reasonabléa tmgrotect against losses that could have
a material adverse effect on us. If a claim is ghdwagainst us, we might be required to pay legdl@her expenses to defend the claim, as
well as uncovered damages awards resulting frolaim drought successfully against us. Furthermetesther or not we are ultimately
successful in defending any such claims, we mightelguired to direct significant financial and mges@al resources to such defense, and
adverse publicity is likely to result.

IF WE DO NOT COMPLY WITH LAWS REGULATING THE PROTEC TION OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND HEALTH AND
HUMAN SAFETY, OUR BUSINESS COULD BE ADVERSELY AFFEC TED.

Our research and development efforts invofe controlled use of hazardous materials, chamand various radioactive compounds.
Although we believe that our safety procedureshfordling and disposing of these materials compti tie standards prescribed by state
federal regulations, the risk of accidental contaation or injury from these materials cannot bmglated. If an accident occurs, we could be
held liable for resulting damages, which could blessantial. We are also subject to numerous enwiestial, health and workplace safety
and regulations, including those governing labasapsocedures, exposure to blood-borne pathogethshenhandling of biohazardous
materials. Although we maintain workers' compemsainsurance to cover us for costs we may incurtduejuries to our employees result
from the use of these materials, this insurance maayprovide adequate coverage against poterdiailities. Due to the small amount of
hazardous materials that we generate, we havendeext that the cost to secure insurance coveragenforonmental liability and toxic tort
claims far exceeds the benefits. Accordingly, wendbmaintain any insurance to cover pollution dbonds or other extraordinary or
unanticipated events relating to our use and d@pifshazardous materials. Additional federal,estatd local laws and regulations affecting
our operations may be adopted in the future. We imayr substantial costs to comply with, and sultshfines or penalties if we violate, a
of these laws or regulations.
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WE HAVE ADOPTED ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS AND ARE SU BJECT TO MASSACHUSETTS CORPORATE LAWS
THAT MAY FRUSTRATE ANY ATTEMPT TO REMOVE OR REPLACE OUR CURRENT MANAGEMENT.

Our corporate charter and by-law provisjdviassachusetts state laws, and our stockholdetsrigan may discourage certain types of
transactions involving an actual or potential clanfjcontrol of Vertex that might be beneficialu® or our security holders. Our charter
provides for staggered terms for the members oBtieerd of Directors. Our by-laws grant the direstarright to adjourn annual meetings of
stockholders, and certain provisions of our by-lama be amended only with an 80% stockholder WRtiesuant to our stockholder rights
plan, each share of common stock has an assoqegésired share purchase right. The rights willtrede separately from the common stock
until, and are exercisable only upon, the acquisitir the potential acquisition through tender rofffg a person or group of 15% or more of
outstanding common stock. We may issue sharesyoflass or series of preferred stock in the futuitbout stockholder approval and upon
such terms as our Board of Directors may deterniihe.rights of the holders of common stock willsubject to, and may be adversely
affected by, the rights of the holders of any claisseries of preferred stock that may be issuedarfuture. Massachusetts state law prohibits
us from engaging in specified business combinationess the combination is approved or consummatagrescribed manner, and
prohibits voting by any stockholder who acquire&@2&r more of our voting stock without stockholdppeoval. As a result, stockholders or
other parties may find it more difficult to remowereplace our current management.

OUR STOCK PRICE MAY FLUCTUATE BASED ON FACTORS BEYO ND OUR CONTROL.

Market prices for securities of companigshsas Vertex are highly volatile. From Januar2dQ7 to December 31, 2008, our common
stock traded between $13.84 and $41.42 per shheenibrket for our stock, like that of other comparin the biotechnology field, has from
time to time experienced significant price and wodufluctuations that are unrelated to our opergbegormance. The future market price of
our securities could be significantly and adversdfgcted by factors such as:

. announcements of results of clinical trials or dimical studies relating to our drug candidateshmse of our competitors;

. announcements of financial results and other ojperaerformance measures, or capital structurinfinancing activities;

. technological innovations or the introduction ofwngrugs by our competitors;

. government regulatory action;

. public concern as to the safety of drugs develdpedthers;

. developments in patent or other intellectual prtpeghts or announcements relating to these msatter

. developments in domestic and international govemaigolicy or regulation, for example relatingimtellectual property
rights;

. developments relating specifically to other comparand market conditions for pharmaceutical antebimology stocks or

stocks in general; and
. general worldwide or national economic, politicatlacapital market conditions.

OUR ESTIMATES OF OUR LIABILITY UNDER OUR KENDALL SQ UARE LEASE MAY BE INACCURATE.

We leased a 290,000 square foot faciliti{émdall Square, Cambridge, Massachusetts in Jar2083 for a 15-year term. We currently
are not occupying the entire facility. We have salk arrangements in place for the remaining riensajoiare footage of the facility. In
determining our
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obligations under the lease for the part of thdifpe¢hat we are not occupying, we have made éerasumptions relating to the time
necessary to sublease the space after the expicdtibe initial subleases, projected future sudde@ntal rates and the anticipated duratio
future subleases. Our estimates have changed pagteand may change in the future, resultingltliteonal adjustments to the estimate of
liability, and the effect of any such adjustmerdsld be material.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K and, intigatar, the description of our Business set fantitem 1, the Risk Factors set forth in this
Item 1A and our Management's Discussion and AnalysFinancial Condition and Results of Operatisetsforth in Item 7 contain or
incorporate a number of forward-looking statemevithin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securitdes of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, including statements regarding:

. our expectations regarding clinical trials, devehamt timelines and regulatory authority filings fetaprevir, VX-770 and
other drug candidates under development by us andadlaborators;

. our expectations regarding the number of patidraswill be evaluated, the trial design that wal btilized, the anticipated de
by which enrollment will be completed and the expddate by which SVR data, interim data and/aalfdata will be availab
and/or publicly announced for our ADVANCE, REALIZRd ILLUMINATE trials, the other ongoing or plannelhical trials
of telaprevir, the registration program for VX-770e Phase 1 clinical trials and Phase 2a clirticab of VX-809, the Phase 1
clinical trial of VX-813, and the clinical trialseing conducted by our collaborators of drug cartegléor the treatment of

cancer;

. expectations regarding trends with respect to oatscand expenses;

. the data that will be generated by ongoing andr@drclinical trials, and the ability to use thatador the design and initiation
of further clinical trials and to support regulatditings, including potentially applications forarketing approval for telaprevir
and VX-770;

. our ability to potentially register telaprevir forarketing across a range of genotypes and patigntlations;

. our intention to work with regulatory authoritiesNorth America and Europe to design a registrgiayram for VX-770,

which, if approved, could begin the first half @(®;
. our expectations regarding the future market densardmedical need for telaprevir and our other drargdidates;

. our beliefs regarding the support provided by chihtrials and preclinical and nonclinical studid®ur drug candidates for
further investigation, clinical trials or potentiade as a treatment of those drug candidates;

. our ability to successfully market telaprevir an¥-V70 if we are able to obtain regulatory approval;

. the focus of our drug development efforts and marfcial and management resources and our plarvést significant
resources in telaprevir and our other drug candgjat

. the establishment, development and maintenancellaborative relationships;

. potential business development activities, inclgdiith respect to our JAK3 program and drug cartégléhat could be
complimentary to our HCV protease inhibitors;

. our ability to use our research programs to idgratifd develop new drug candidates to address sediegases and significant
unmet medical needs;
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. our estimates regarding obligations associated avidase of a facility in Kendall Square, Cambridgassachusetts; and

. our liquidity and our expectations regarding ouedefor and ability to raise additional capital.

Any or all of our forward-looking statemeri this Annual Report on Form 10-K may turn aube wrong. They can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions we might make or by knowm&nown risks and uncertainties. Many factors moaed in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K will be important in determining futuresults. Consequently, no forward-looking statencantbe guaranteed. Actual future
results may vary materially from expected resilig. also provide a cautionary discussion of riské amcertainties under "Risk Factors"
above in this Item 1A. These are factors and uag#its that we think could cause our actual regoldiffer materially from expected resu
Other factors and uncertainties besides thoselltbiere could also adversely affect us.

Without limiting the foregoing, the wordsélieves,” "anticipates,” "plans,” "intends," "egf® and similar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. There are enbar of factors and uncertainties that could caseal events or results to differ
materially from those indicated by such forwardKimg statements, many of which are beyond our oyntrcluding the factors and
uncertainties set forth under "Risk Factors" ahiovthis Item 1A. In addition, the forward-lookingagements contained herein represent our
estimate only as of the date of this filing andwdtdmot be relied upon as representing our estimsitef any subsequent date. While we may
elect to update these forward-looking statemeng®iae point in the future, we specifically discleamy obligation to do so to reflect actual
results, changes in assumptions or changes in fattars affecting such forward-looking statements.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We did not receive any written commentsrfithie Securities and Exchange Commission pridnéaiate 180 days before the end of the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2008 regardinditmgs under the Securities Exchange Act of 1%8lamended, that have not been
resolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease an aggregate of approximatelyC8®Bsquare feet of laboratory and office spaceaudilifies located in Cambridge,
Massachusetts, San Diego, California, Washingtd, Coralville, lowa, and the United Kingdom. Weibeé our facilities are adequate for
our current needs.

Cambridge, Massachusetts

We lease an aggregate of 684,000 squarefifspace in nine facilities situated in closexpmtity to our corporate headquarters facility
located at 130 Waverly Street in Cambridge, Masssetts. We lease approximately 100,000 squaredfdaboratory and office space in our
130 Waverly Street corporate headquarters and zippately 192,000 square feet of laboratory andcefipace at 200 Sidney Street, located
adjacent to our corporate headquarters. The 13WaStreet and 200 Sidney Street leases expil@emember 31, 2015, with two options
extend for five year terms. The lease for 21,00fasg feet of office space at 21 Erie Street, alsated adjacent to our corporate headqua
expires in May 2012, with an option to extend feotadditional consecutive five-year terms.

The lease for our Kendall Square, Cambritiggssachusetts facility will expire in 2018. Wevbahe option to extend that lease for two
consecutive ten-year terms. We have subleased>dpyately 145,000 square feet of Kendall Squardifgcand are using the remaining
square feet of space leased in the facility forregearch operations. The subleases are for tevdisgein 2011 and 2012 with extension
options to 2015 and 2018. One of the subleasesdrtan termination provisions beginning in 2010.
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San Diego, California

We lease approximately 81,000 square feletboratory and office space in San Diego, Catifar The lease for this space will expire on
September 30, 2013. We have the option to extaadehse for one additional term of five years.

United Kingdom

We lease approximately 22,000 square feletboratory and office space in Milton Park, Abdwg, England, for our United Kingdom
business and research and development activitieleria lease expiring in 2013. We also have areaugat to lease an additional 41,000
square feet of laboratory and office space in MilRark beginning later in 2009 with a term thatieegin 2024. This lease has certain
termination provisions in 2014 and 2019.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material legatpedings. We are not a party to any litigatioarny court with any governmental authority,
and management is not aware of any contemplateseding by any governmental authority against us.

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the purpdrsbareholder class action brought against us achME3, 2008 and referred to \Asaterford
Township Police Fire Retirement System v. VertextiiRhceuticals Incorporated, et alwas dismissed with prejudice, and without any
payments by the defendant to the plaintiffs.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
There were no matters submitted to a vbseourity holders during the quarter ended Decer@8he2008.
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdadp&@ISelect Market under the symbol "VRTX." Thddualing table sets forth for the
periods indicated the high and low sale pricesshare of our common stock as reported by Nasdag:

Year Ended December 31, 2007: High Low

First quartel $38.95  $26.9¢
Second quarte 32.51 25.61
Third quartel 41.4; 27.5¢
Fourth quarte 39.4¢ 22.8(

Year Ended December 31, 2008:

First quartel $24.67 $13.8¢
Second quarte 3497 23.4
Third quartel 35.0C 24.6-
Fourth quarte 33.1¢  18.4:

As of February 10, 2009, there were 1,7dldérs of record of our common stock.

Performance Graph

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Based on Initial Investment of $100 on December2803
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Dividends

We have never declared or paid any casbelids on our common stock, and we currently exfiedtfuture earnings, if any, will be
retained for use in our business.

Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The table set forth below shows all repasgs of securities by us during the three montledbecember 31, 2008:

Maximum Number of
Total Number of Shares

Total Number Shares that may yet

Purchased as part of be purchased under

of Shares Average Price publicly announced publicly announced

Period Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs Plans or Programs
Oct. 1, 2008 to Oct. 31, 20( 47,927 $ 0.01 — —
Nov. 1, 2008 to Nov. 30, 20 1,452 $ 0.01 — —
Dec. 1, 2008 to Dec. 31, 20 4,15¢ $ 0.01 — —

The repurchases were made under the tdrma d996 Stock and Option Plan and 2006 Stock@piibn Plan. Under these plans, we
may award shares of restricted stock to our emplewad consultants. These shares of restrictekl sfpically are subject to a lapsing righ
repurchase by us. We may exercise this right ainamase in the event that a restricted stock recf[si service to us is terminated. If we
exercise this right, we are required to repay tlvelpase price paid by or on behalf of the recipienthe repurchased restricted shares, which
typically is the par value per share of $0.01. Relpased shares are returned to the applicable &tatlOption Plan under which they were
issued. Shares returned to the 2006 Stock and i©ptan are available for future awards under thageof that plan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following unaudited selected consobddinancial data for each of the five years infilbéod ended December 31, 2008 are derived
from our audited consolidated financial statemehiese data should be read in conjunction withamdited consolidated financial stateme
and related notes that are included elsewherasmtimual Report on Form 10-K and with "Managengbiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations"udeld in Item 7 below.

Years Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenues

Royalty revenue $ 37,48 $ 47,970 $ 41,20¢ $ 32,82¢ $ 17,32

Collaborative and other research and developmeenrees 138,02: 151,03¢ 175,14t 128,06: 85,39¢

Total revenue 175,50: 199,01 216,35t 160,89( 102,71

Costs and expense

Royalty expense 15,68¢ 13,90 12,17( 10,09¢ 5,64¢

Research and development expel 516,29: 518,67 379,22¢ 248,54( 192,16

Sales, general and administrative expe! 101,91( 79,10« 50,34¢ 43,99( 42,13¢

Restructuring expens 4,32¢ 7,11¢ 3,651 8,13¢ 17,574

Total costs and expens 638,21. 618,80« 445,39: 310,76. 257,52:

Loss from operation (462,709 (419,79) (229,039 (149,87) (154,80)

Other income/(expense), r 2,851 28,51 15,06¢ (5,339 (7,999

Realized gain on sale of investment — — 11,18 — —

Loss on exchange of convertible subordinated n&Ye)( — — (5,157)  (48,21) —

Loss on retirement of convertible subordinated si@tk — — — (3,446
Loss before cumulative effect of change in accagnfirinciple $(459,85) $(391,279) $(207,93) $(203,41) $(166,24)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prie—SFAS 123(R)(5 — — 1,04¢ — —
Net loss $(459,85) $(391,279) $(206,89) $(203,41") $(166,24)
Basic and diluted loss per common share before tatinel effect of a chang

in accounting principls $ (B2) % (B0 $ (18 $ (229 $ (219
Basic and diluted cumulative effect of a changadoounting principle per

common share — — 0.01 — —
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ B2 $ ((B0Y $ (18) $ (229 $ (219
Basic and diluted weight-average number of common shares outstar 140,55¢ 128,98 113,22: 89,24: 78,57
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December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secL $832,10: $467,79¢ $761,75. $407,51( $392,32(
Other current asse 35,48( 35,98( 66,78( 23,89¢ 14,39:
Restricted cas 30,25¢ 30,25¢ 30,25¢ 41,48: 49,841
Property and equipment, r 68,33: 66,50¢ 61,53¢ 54,53 64,22¢
Other noi-current asset 14,30¢ 934 1,25¢ 21,57¢ 24,66¢
Total asset $980,47¢ $601,47 $921,57¢ $548,99( $545,45:
Deferred revenue $247,47. $126,74' $150,18: $ 32,30( $ 66,08¢
Accrued restructuring expen 34,06¢ 35,29: 33,07: 42,98. 55,84:
Other current liabilitie! 172,56° 148,14{ 110,64( 54,44 50,16:
Collaborator development loan (due 20 — 19,991 19,991 19,991 19,991
Other lon¢-term obligation: — — — — 2,92t
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 201: 287,50( — — — —
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 201@)@) (7 — — 59,64¢ 117,99¢ 232,44
Convertible subordinated notes (due 2007)(2)(4 — — 42,10: 42,10: 82,55:
Stockholders' equit 238,87: 271,29! 505,93! 239,17t 35,44
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $980,47¢ $601,47° $921,57¢ $548,99( $545,45:

(1)

()

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

In 2006, we sold 817,749 shares of Altus Pharmazadsf Inc. common stock for $11.7 million, and veauts to purchase Altus
common stock for $18.3 million. As a result of g&es of Altus common stock and warrants, we rexbedrealized gain on a sale of
investment of $11.2 million.

In the third quarter of 2005, holders of 5% ConidetSubordinated Notes due in September 2007 7 20ftes") exchanged

$40.5 million in aggregate principal amount of 2003tes, plus interest, for 2.5 million shares ofvlyeissued common stock. As a
result of this exchange, we incurred a non-cashgehef $36.3 million. In separate transactionghifourth quarter of 2005, holders
of 5.75% Convertible Senior Subordinated Notesidueebruary 2011 ("2011 Notes") exchanged $114IBomiin aggregate principi
amount of 2011 Notes, plus interest, for 8.1 millghares of newly issued common stock. As a restittis exchange, we incurred a
non-cash charge of $11.9 million. These chargesspond to the value of additional shares issudldarnransactions over the number
of shares that would have been issued upon cowveo$ithe notes at the conversion prices set thehein.

In the third quarter of 2006, holders of 2011 Narshanged $58.3 million in aggregate principal ant@f 2011 Notes, plus interest,
for 4.1 million shares of newly issued common stk a result of this exchange, we incurred a resticharge of $5.2 million. This
charge corresponds to the value of additional shiaeeied in the transaction over the number ofeshidwat would have been issued
upon conversion of the notes at the conversiorepréet forth therein.

In 2004, we issued $232.4 million in aggregate @pal amount of 2011 Notes in exchange for an eptatipal amount of our
outstanding 2007 Notes. We recorded a charge defatthe writeeff of the unamortized deferred issuance costsiegigle to the 200
Notes retired.

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statementli48(R), "Share-Based Payment" ("SFAS 123(R)") mneguiis, when recognizing
expense related to restricted stock, to recogniperese only for restricted shares that we expeeesd. Accordingly, on the grant de
we are required to estimate forfeitures. In conpaatith the adoption of SFAS 123(R), we recorde®ll @ million benefit due to the
cumulative effect of estimating forfeitures on tirant date rather than recording them as they occur

In the first quarter of 2008, we issued $287.5iomillin aggregate principal amount of 4.75% contégtsenior subordinated notes due
2013.

In 2007, the holders of all of the outstanding 20ldtes converted their notes into shares of oumsomstock. The notes were
converted into common stock at a conversion ratkldf94 per share.

In 2007, we repaid upon maturity the outstandiriggipal amount of $42.1 million and accrued inté@sthe 2007 Notes.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview

We are in the business of discovering, g and commercializing small molecule drugstf@ treatment of serious diseases.
Telaprevir, our lead drug candidate, is an orabtiép C protease inhibitor and one of the mostaded of a new class of antiviral treatments
in clinical development that targets HCV infectidrlaprevir is being evaluated in a fully-enrolkegjistration program focused on treatment-
naive and treatment-experienced patients with ggeat HCV. We currently intend to file a new drygphcation, or NDA, for telaprevir in
the United States in the second half of 2010, asmyithe successful completion of our ongoing Pl8aslknical trials. We also are developil
among other compounds, VX-770, a drug candidatéhfotreatment of patients with cystic fibrosisthe first half of 2009, we expect to
begin a registration program for VX-770 that foause CF patients with the G551D mutation in theegessponsible for CF. We intend to
continue investing in our research programs withgbal of adding to our pipeline promising drugdidates designed to address significant
unmet medical needs and provide substantial bertefpatients.

Business Focu

Over the next several years, we expeab¢ad a substantial portion of our resources omévelopment and potential commercialization
of telaprevir. Our clinical development prograndesigned to support registration by us of telaprievNorth America for treatmentaive an
treatment-experienced patients with genotype 1 H&M, by our collaborators, Janssen, a Johnson &séohcompany, and Mitsubishi
Tanabe, in international markets. In addition tadwecting the clinical trials of telaprevir, we am@ntinuing clinical development of our
earlier-stage HCV protease inhibitors, VX-813 arX985, and are pursuing business development tieswith third parties who have
potentially complimentary therapies including pobmase inhibitors, other direct-acting antiviralsgd aovel interferons. In preparation for the
potential commercial launch of telaprevir, we andding our drug development, supply chain managepmmmercialization and marketing
organizations.

In the first half of 2009, we expect tatiate a registration program for VX-770 focusedpatients with CF who have the G551D
mutation. We also expect to continue the developroEXX-809, an investigational corrector compound, fortteatment of CF patients wi
CFTRgene mutations that lead to trafficking defectsaAgsult, we expect that over the next severasywa will need to substantially
increase resources focused on the development @®udrug candidates. We plan to leverage thesirsature that we are building in
preparation for the launch of telaprevir to suppploet potential launch of VX-770.

In addition to the registration programstidaprevir and VX-770, we plan to continue in#egtin our research programs and to develop
drug candidates, alone or with third-party collattors, that have emerged from our research progrdsisg our drug discovery capability,
which integrates biology, pharmacology, biophystd®mistry, automation and information technolodiea coordinated manner, we have
identified and are developing, among other druglicates: telaprevir; VX-813 and VX-985, two additid HCV protease inhibitors; VX-770
and VX-809; and VX-509, a novel JAK3 inhibitor thtatgets immune-mediated inflammatory diseases.

Drug Discovery and Clinical Developme

Discovery and development of a new pharmtéca product is a lengthy and resource-intenpiaeess, which may take 10 to 15 years
or more. Throughout this entire process, potediiaf) candidates are subjected to rigorous evaluatidven in part by stringent regulatory
considerations, designed to generate informatioc@ming efficacy, side-effects, proper dosagelteard a variety of other physical and
chemical characteristics that are important in heit@ing whether a drug candidate should be appréeenharketing as a pharmaceutical
product. The toxicity characteristics and profifedloug candidates at varying dose levels admirgstéor varying periods of time also are
monitored and evaluated during the nonclinical éiivdcal development process. Most chemical compsuthat
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are investigated as potential drug candidates rmaegrress into formal development, and most druglickates that do advance into formal
development never become commercial products. 4 damdidate's failure to progress or advance makidessult of any one or more of a
wide range of adverse experimental outcomes inetydor example, the lack of sufficient efficacyasist the disease target, the lack of
acceptable absorption characteristics or otheripalygroperties, difficulties in developing a caffective manufacturing or formulation
method or the discovery of toxicities or side-eféethat are unacceptable for the disease indicatamy treated or that adversely affect the
competitive commercial profile of the drug candalat

Designing and coordinating largeale clinical trials to determine the efficacy aadety of drug candidates and to support the ssdior
of an NDA requires significant financial resourcal®ng with extensive technical and regulatory etipe and infrastructure. Prior to
commencing a late-stage clinical trial of any dcagdidate, we must work collaboratively with regoig authorities, including the FDA, in
order to identify the specific scientific issueattheed to be addressed by the clinical trialgdeioto support continued development and
approval of the drug candidate. These discussigisdily occur over a period of months and can lteéasignificant changes to planned
clinical trial designs or timelines. In additiorvem after agreement with respect to a clinical ti@sign has been reached, regulatory
authorities may request additional clinical triatschanges to existing clinical trial protocolsth& data from our ongoing clinical trials or
nonclinical studies regarding the safety or efficatour drug candidates are not favorable, we bejforced to delay or terminate the clinical
development program, which, particularly in theecattelaprevir, would materially harm our busindasrther, even if we obtain marketing
approvals from the FDA and comparable foreign rafgury authorities in a timely manner, we cannosie that the drug will be
commercially successful.

Our investments are subject to the conalalerrisk that one or more of our drug candidatéisnat progress to product registration du
a wide range of adverse experimental outcomes. \fatar the results of our clinical trials, discoyeesearch and our nonclinical studies
frequently evaluate our portfolio investments ghti of new data and scientific, business and coraiadnsights with the objective of
balancing risk and potential. This process canlr@suelatively abrupt changes in focus and ptiods new information becomes available
and is analyzed and we gain additional insights a@mgoing programs and potential new programs.obigih we believe that our development
activities and the clinical trial data we have aita to date have reduced the risks associatedobttining marketing approval for telaprevir,
we cannot be sure that our development of telapreillilead successfully to regulatory approvalatimely basis, or at all, or that obtaining
regulatory approval will lead to commercial succ&¥#h respect to our other drug candidates, weehmere limited data from clinical trials
and nonclinical studies and as a result it is cliffi to predict which, if any, of these drug caradas will result in pharmaceuticals products.

Drug Candidate:
HCV

Telaprevir is being investigated in a régison program focused on patients with genotyp#CV that includes ADVANCE, a Phase 3
clinical trial in treatment-naive patients, ILLUMME, a clinical trial in treatment-naive patierdsd REALIZE, a Phase 3 clinical trial in
treatment-experienced patients. Enrollment in ADV@HE ILLUMINATE and REALIZE was completed in Octob2008, December 2008
and February 2009, respectively. We currently idtenfile an NDA for telaprevir in the second haff2010, assuming the successful
completion of our ongoing registration programatfdition to the clinical trials in our registratipnogram, we and our collaborators are
conducting several additional clinical trials irder to evaluate twice-daily dosing of telaprevid dine use of telaprevir for treatment of
patients with other HCV genotypes.

We have completed two Phase 2b clinicalgrof telaprevir-based combination therapy ingrat with genotype 1 HCV, which enrolled
an aggregate of approximately 580 treatment-naétieqts and are referred to as PROVE 1 and PROViEtBe 24-week telaprevir-based
treatment arms of PROVE 1 and PROVE 2, 61% and 688pectively, of patients achieved an SVR on an
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intent-to-treat basis. In the control arms of PROV&hd PROVE 2, 41% and 46%, respectively, of ptdiachieved an SVR on an intent-to-
treat basis. We also are conducting PROVE 3, aéPPlaslinical trial in patients with genotype 1 H@®#o did not achieve an SVR with a
previous treatment with peg-IFN and RBV. In PROVE53% of the 115 patients in the 24-week telaprbased regimen had undetectable
HCV RNA 12 weeks post-treatment on an intent-taitkeasis. The interim analyses of safety data fsanPhase 2 clinical trials indicated
that the most common adverse events, regardldssatiment assignment, were fatigue, rash, headauheausea. Gastrointestinal disorders,
skin adverse events, including rash and pruritnd,amemia were more frequent, and the rash magedrely severe, in the telaprevir arms
than in the control arms over the dosing period.

Mitsubishi Tanabe has initiated registratidals of telaprevir in Japan focused on evabratif 24-week telaprevir-based treatment
regimens, including peg-IFN and RBV, in approxinha®00 patients with genotype 1 HCV. These trialdude both treatment-naive patients
and treatment-experienced patients. Mitsubishi barexpects to have SVR data from its Phase 3 alitials of telaprevir in mid-2011.

In addition to telaprevir, we are contirgiithe development of VX-813 and VX-985, additioH&V protease inhibitors and are pursuing
business development activities with respect temlly complimentary therapies including polyrmssranhibitors, other direct-acting
antivirals, and novel interferons.

The successful development and commerai#diz of telaprevir is critical to the success of business as currently conducted. While
are devoting significant resources, time and atiarib the development, potential regulatory appt@nd a successful commercial launch, all
of these efforts involve significant scientific aadecution risk and can be adversely affected lepesy such as competitive activities and
regulatory actions, outside our direct control.

Cystic Fibrosis

In October 2008, we completed a Phasei@ial trial of VX-770 in 39 patients with CF. Patits in this Phase 2a clinical trial had the
G551D mutation and received VX-770 over 14-day 28dlay dosing periods. The primary endpoint fos tHinical trial was safety, and no
serious adverse events attributable to VX-770 weserved. Based on the promising lung function ftata this Phase 2a clinical trial, as
measured by improvements in FEVthe lung function test most commonly used to nwr€CF disease progression, and based also on

observed changes in biomarkers that seek to metdsugetivity of the CFTR protein, we are workinghwegulatory authorities in North
America and Europe to finalize the design of as&gtion program for VX-770 focused on patientshwtfte G551D mutation.

In 2008, we conducted Phase 1 clinicalgrid VX-809 in healthy volunteers and we recemtiynpleted an escalating single-dose
pharmacokinetics and safety clinical trial of VX3Bib patients with CF who carry the F508del mutatim at least one of the patient's two
CFTRalleles. We plan to initiate a Phase 2a, 28-dayadl trial of VX-809 in the first half of 2009.

Immune-Mediated Inflammatory Disease

VX-509 is a novel oral JAK3 inhibitor that believe has the potential to be used in mullidi®® indications. We have completed a
Phase 1 clinical trial of VX-509. We may seek ta-license VX-509 to fund and support other researth development investments.

Commercialization

In order to market telaprevir in North Anoar, we intend to build a marketing organizatiod arspecialized sales force, which will
require substantial effort and significant managetnamd financial resources. While we intend to stagr commitments to the extent possible
in consideration of the telaprevir development tinee in order to support an effective launch wé néed to make significant financial
commitments to our marketing organization priorgoeiving regulatory approval.
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We believe that effectively marketing telaprevitlwequire a substantial effort to educate physisiand patients about telaprevir's profile,
potential for treatment-experienced patients tdeaghan SVR if telaprevir is approved for that patipopulation, the risks of waiting to treat
patients who have not yet received treatment, badenefits of screening at-risk patients to idgrtilarger percentage of the currently
undiagnosed patient population. To ensure appriptiierd-party reimbursement upon launch, we wéléd to engage in a dialogue with
commercial health insurers, government payers—asdtate Medicaid plans and the Veteran's Admatist—employers, pharmacies and
HCV care providers with respect to the potentidligaf telaprevir-based treatment regimens.

We believe that marketing VX-770, if itdpproved for sale, will require a smaller than Usuarketing and sales effort, because most
patients with CF in the United States and in Euraygealready receiving specialized treatments fofrém a relatively small group of
physicians and have been screened for the speuifiations that cause their disease.

Manufacturing

As we advance our proprietary drug candisl#tirough clinical development toward commercaitm, we will need to continue to build
our supply chain resources and maintain our quaisurance resources. We rely on an internati@talank of third parties to manufacture
and distribute our drug candidates for clinicallsj and we expect that we will continue to relytiogse third parties to meet our commercial
supply needs for those drugs, if they are apprdoedale. Our supply chain for sourcing raw matsraand manufacturing drug product ready
for distribution is a multi-step international eagter in which we rely on third-party contract maatfirers in Asia for the supply of raw
materials, and in the European Union and the UrSittatles for the application of specific manufactgnprocesses for the conversion of raw
materials into drug substance, and for conversfairug substance into final dosage form. Estahtigtind managing this global supply chain
requires significant financial commitments, expecied personnel and the creation or expansion oenuuns third-party contractual
relationships.

We will require a supply of telaprevir feale in North America if we are successful in atiteg marketing approval. We have completed
the technical development work for our commeradahfulation of telaprevir, and we are manufactupngduct, through our third-party
manufacturer network, to meet Janssen's, Mitsuliishabe's and our clinical supply needs. We hawabkshed relationships with multiple
third-party manufacturers for the manufacture obmmercial supply of telaprevir and have completctracts for our primary supply of
drug substance and most raw materials. We belisveantinuing efforts to expand our relationshipthvhird-party manufacturers and
oversee their activities will be important in ordersupport a timely and effective commercial ldurend consistent commercial supply, of
telaprevir in subsequent years. We are completingransfer of technical information regarding thenufacture of telaprevir to Janssen so
that Janssen will be able to manufacture telapré\approved, for sale in Janssen's territorieds @na secondary source of drug substance for
us.

We require VX-770 for clinical trials in Kb America and Europe, and will require a supglyy¥-770 for sale in North America and
Europe, if we obtain marketing approval. We are ufacturing, through our third-party manufacturetwmrk, VX-770 to meet our clinical
supply needs and are focused on completing thaitaddevelopment work and commercial formulatidriv-770. Over the next several
years, we expect to expand our existing relatigrsshiith our thir-party manufacturers or establish new relationshigis third-party
manufacturers, in order to establish a supply cfa@ivX-770 and support the potential commercial launchsatsequent commercial sup
of VX-770.

Corporate Collaborations

Corporate collaborations have been andawititinue to be an important component of our essrstrategy. Under our agreement with
Janssen, we have retained exclusive commercidkrtghelaprevir in North America, and we are legdihe global clinical development
program. Janssen
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agreed to be responsible for 50% of the drug dewedémt costs under the development program foreldépin North America and the
Janssen territories, to pay us contingent milespayenents based on successful development, appoddaunch of telaprevir, to be
responsible for the commercialization of telapretitside of North America and the Far East andatpys royalties on any telaprevir product
sales in its territories. We also have a collaloratvith Mitsubushi Tanabe with respect to the depment of telaprevir in Japan and other
countries in the Far East.

Our pipeline also includes Aurora kinadailiitors that are being investigated by Merck focalogy indications. In the second quarter of
2008, Merck initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial oKN6108 (VX-689) alone and in combination with dapet! in patients with advanced and/or
refractory tumors. In the third quarter of 2008, rskeselected additional Aurora kinase inhibitorsgossible development.

We will not have the resources for somesttmdevelop and commercialize all drug candidtitasemerge from our research group, and
therefore we will need to rely on corporate collaions for the development and commercializatibsoone or all of our new drug
candidates. Historically, we have been successfuiiiating and concluding productive collaboraiso but we will need to continue to do so
in the future, even though economic and competitaraditions may be different than in the past.

Financing Strateg’

At December 31, 2008, we had $832.1 milbbeash, cash equivalents and marketable seayntiieich was an increase of
$364.3 million from $467.8 million at December 2007. This increase was the result of net procee#891.3 million from the sale in
February 2008 of 6,900,000 shares of our commaksind $287.5 million in aggregate principal amaninbdur 4.75% convertible senior
subordinated notes due 2013, which we refer the2013 Notes; gross cash proceeds of $160.0 millireceived in May 2008 in
connection with the sale of our right to receiviufe royalty payments arising from sales of Lexhedzir and Agenerase under our 1993
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline; and net proceedb2df7.4 million from the sale in September 2008,625,000 shares of our common
stock. These cash inflows were partially offsethgh used to fund our operations during 2008 amdepayment of a $20.0 million
collaborator development loan in May 2008. As alltssf the sale of future royalties under our liserto GlaxoSmithKline, we will not
receive future cash royalty payments related to piidtease inhibitors.

We have incurred losses from our incepéind expect to continue to incur losses at leadtwatobtain approval for and successfully
commercialize a product, if we ever do. Therefare,are dependent in large part on our continuddyata raise significant funding to
finance our research and development operatiortsetie a commercial infrastructure, and to meebwarhead costs and long-term
contractual commitments and obligations. To datehave secured funds principally through capitalkeiatransactions, strategic
collaborative agreements, proceeds from the dispof assets, investment income and the issuahcemmon stock under our employee
benefit plans.

We expect that we will need additional ¢agn order to complete the development and amgraercialization of telaprevir and to
continue the development of our other drug candgjancluding VX-770. We may raise additional calpitom public offerings or private
placements of our securities or other methodsnafrfting. We cannot be sure that any such finarmipgrtunities will be available on
acceptable terms, if at all. If adequate fundsnateavailable on acceptable terms, or at all, wg bwarequired to curtail significantly or
discontinue one or more of our research, drug @iesgoor development programs, including clinicals, incur significant cash exit costs, or
attempt to obtain funds through arrangements vatlalorators or others that may require that wimgeiish rights to certain of our
technologies or drug candidates.

As part of our strategy for managing oysita structure, we have from time to time adjusteglamount and maturity of our debt
obligations through new issues, privately negotiatansactions and market purchases, dependingadketconditions and our perceived
needs at the time. We expect to continue pursugpgnaral financial strategy that may lead us tcediatte one or more additional
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transactions with respect to our outstanding dbbgations, and the amounts involved in any suahgactions, individually or in the
aggregate, may be material. Any such transactianson may not be similar to transactions in whichlvave engaged in the past.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our finanmiedition and results of operations is based upanconsolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with generally acceptedusticy principles in the United States, or GAAPeTireparation of these financial
statements requires us to make certain estimateassumptions that affect the reported amountss#ta and liabilities and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the regoetéods. These items are monitored and analyyes fior changes in facts and
circumstances, and material changes in these @¢esrauld occur in the future. Changes in estimateseflected in reported results for the
period in which they become known. We base ounmegts on historical experience and various otharmaptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resdysdiffer from our estimates if past experiencether assumptions do not turn out to be
substantially accurate.

We believe that our application of the daling accounting policies, each of which requigngicant judgments and estimates on the
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfuthderstanding and evaluating our reported firelreisults: revenue recognition; research
and development expenses; restructuring expendestack-based compensation expense. Our accoyliggs, including the ones
discussed below, are more fully described in NgtéABcounting Policies,” to our consolidated finaistatements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognitic

Our revenues are generated primarily thinazajlaborative research, development and/or comialeration agreements. The terms of
these agreements typically include payment to umefor more of the following: nonrefundable, uprfrlicense fees; milestone payments;
and royalties on product sales. In addition, weehsold our rights to receive future royalties froor HIV assets and have been recognizing
revenues under this arrangement since May 2008.

Up-front License Fees

We recognize revenues from nonrefundalgdraent license fees related to collaboration agrests, including the $165.0 million we
received from Janssen in 2006, on a straight-lasshover the contracted or estimated period dbpeance. The period of performance over
which the revenues are recognized is typicallypdeod over which the research and/or developnseexpected to occur. As a result, we
often are required to make estimates regarding dewglopment and commercialization timelines fanpounds being developed pursuant to
a collaboration agreement. Because the drug dewanpprocess is lengthy and our collaboration ageses typically cover activities over
several years, this approach often has resultdteideferral of significant amounts of revenue ffuitoire periods. In addition, because of the
many risks and uncertainties associated with theldpment of drug candidates, our estimates regarthie period of performance have
changed in the past and may change in the futurg.change in our estimates could result in subistactianges to the period over which the
revenues from an up-front license fee are recognize

Milestones

At the inception of each agreement thauithes contingent milestone payments, we evaluatgiven the contingencies underlying each
milestone are substantive, specifically reviewiagtérs such as the scientific and other risksrthagt be overcome to achieve the milestone,
as well as the level of successful effort and itwesit required. If we do not consider a milestanbe substantive, the revenues from the
related milestone payment cannot be recognized Wiemilestone is achieved, but must be recogrored straight-line basis over the
remaining performance period. All of the
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milestones that have been achieved under our Yaneiaboration agreement during the three yeatle@ecember 31, 2008 have been
considered substantive.

Where a substantive milestones is achiavadcollaboration arrangement and the correspgnp@ayment is reasonably assured, the
payment is recognized as earned subject to spedificies applicable where we have obligations rieing after achievement of the
milestone. Because the recognition of a substantilestone under a collaboration agreement typicakjuires the completion of a numbel
activities conducted over a significant periodiofe, the expenses related to achieving the milestdten are incurred prior to the period in
which the milestone payment is recognized. In & psignificant fluctuations in our revenues fromfestone payments on a quarterly and
annual basis have contributed to significant flatittns in our collaborative revenues.

Royalty Revenues

In May 2008, we entered into a purchaseament with Fosamprenavir Royalty, L.P. pursuantha@h we sold, and Fosamprenavir
Royalty purchased for a one-time cash payment 60 ®Lmillion, our right to receive royalty paymentet of subroyalty amounts payable to
a third party, arising from sales of Lexiva/Telaird Agenerase under our 1993 agreement with Glaitb&lime. We deferred the recognition
of $155.1 million of revenues in connection witlisteale. On May 31, 2008, we began recognizingetidegerred revenues under the "units-
of-revenue" method. Under this method, the amotideterred revenues to be recognized as royaltymaess in each period is calculated by
multiplying the following: (1) the net royalty paymnts due from GlaxoSmithKline to Fosamprenavir Rgyfar the period by (2) the ratio of
the remaining revenues we received from the sateiofights to HIV royalty payments that we have yet recognized to the total estimated
remaining net royalties that we expect GlaxoSmithéto pay Fosamprenavir Royalty over the remaimémm of the agreement. Estimating
the total remaining net royalties that GlaxoSmithElwill pay to Fosamprenavir Royalty requires tise of subjective estimates and
assumptions, including estimates regarding thedfitiee potential market for HIV protease inhibgpthe competitive position of
Lexiva/Telzir specifically and HIV protease inhitnis generally with respect to currently approveagdrand drugs that may be approved in
the future and the pricing of Lexiva/Telzir. Chaade our estimate of the total remaining net ragalthat GlaxoSmithKline will pay to
Fosamprenavir Royalty could have a material eff@cthe amount of royalty revenues we recognizegarséicular period.

Prior to May 2008, royalty revenues typigalere recognized based upon actual and estinmegtesiales of licensed products in licensed
territories and generally were recognized in theogethe sales occurred. We reconciled and adjuUstedifferences between actual royalty
revenues and estimated royalty revenues in thaaqemy differences become known. These differemegs not significant.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesjding amounts funded through research and developoodiaborations, are expensed as
incurred. Research and development expenses afgrisech of costs incurred in performing researchdeklopment activities, including
salary and benefits; stock-based compensation sgp&boratory supplies and other direct expertsegractual services, including clinical
trial and pharmaceutical development costs; exgeassociated with the commercial supply investriretglaprevir, which are considered
research and development expenses due to teldpraaige of development; and infrastructure castfyding facilities costs and
depreciation.

When third-party service providers' billitegyms do not coincide with our period-end, werarplired to make estimates of the costs,
including clinical trial and pharmaceutical devetmgnt costs, contractual services and investmecdnmmercial supply in telaprevir, incurred
in a given accounting period and record accrualseaend of the period. We base our estimates okrmwledge of the research and
development programs, services performed for thi@g@epast history for related activities and thx@ected duration of the third-party service
contract, where applicable.
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We are incurring significant costs relatedommercial supplies of telaprevir, which enteirgd Phase 3 development in the first quarter
of 2008. After a drug candidate enters into Phaskn®al development, determining whether to coné to classify all of these costs as
research and development expenses or to capisaline of them as inventory involves significant joets. Generally, inventory may be
capitalized if it is probable that future revenegseeding the costs of the inventory will be getesrdrom the sale of the inventory. While we
believe that the development activities and clinidal data to date have reduced the risks assmtiaith obtaining marketing approval for
telaprevir, because of the inherent risks of dregetbpment for accounting purposes we are contintgrexpense all of our costs related to
commercial supplies of telaprevir. To the exteat the continue to expense these costs as we cerdienelopment of telaprevir, we expect
that if, and when, we receive marketing approvatdétaprevir we will have significant commercialglies of telaprevir available, the costs
which would have already been expensed. A consegugfithe application of this accounting policyhat during the initial period after the
potential launch of telaprevir our cost of goodkl saill exclude costs that previously had been egael as research and development
expenses in prior periods.

Restructuring Expens

We record liabilities associated with rasturing activities based on estimates of fair gatuthe period the liabilities are incurred. The
liability for accrued restructuring expense of #3#illion at December 31, 2008 is related to thatipn of our facility in Kendall Square,
Cambridge, Massachusetts that we are not occupyidglo not intend to occupy. This liability is asbted by applying our best estimate of
the net amount of our ongoing obligation. We usisaounted cash-flow analysis to calculate the amofithis liability. The probability-
weighted discounted cash-flow analysis is baseshanagement's assumptions and estimates of ourrantpaise obligations, including
contractual rental commitments, build-out committseand building operating costs, and estimateaadfme from subleases, based on the
term and timing of the subleases. We discount stiemated cash flows using a discount rate of agprately 10%. These cash flow estimates
are reviewed and may be adjusted in subsequemtdserhdjustments are based, among other thingsiasragement's assessment of changes
in factors underlying the estimates. Because dimate of the liability includes the applicationafliscount rate to reflect the time-value of
money, the estimate will increase simply as a tesfuthe passage of time, even if all other factersain unchanged.

Our estimates of our restructuring liapiliave changed in the past, and it is possibledhatssumptions and estimates will change in
the future, resulting in additional adjustmentshi® amount of the estimated liability. The effetany such adjustments could be material.
example, we currently have two subleases for pustaf the Kendall Square facility with remainingntes of two and four years, respectively,
and we have made certain estimates and assumpgiatiag to future sublease terms following theieagion of the current subleases. Market
variability may require adjustments to those asgionp in the future. We will review our assumptiarsl judgments related to the lease
restructuring on at least a quarterly basis uhélikendall Square lease is terminated or expiresnaake whatever modifications we believe
are necessary, based on our best judgment, tatrafty changed circumstances.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

We measure compensation cost of stock-bes@gensation at the grant date, based on thedhie of the award, including estimated
forfeitures, and recognize that cost as an expexiably over the employees' service periods, whaterally is the vesting period of the
equity award, or the derived service period for @savith market conditions. We calculate the failue of stock options and shares
purchased pursuant to the Employee Stock PurcHaeauBing the Black-Scholes valuation model. ThecBiScholes valuation model
requires us to make certain assumptions and estincancerning our stock price volatility, the rateeturn of risk-free investments, the
expected term of the awards, and our anticipateidetids. In determining the amount of expense teeberded, we also are required to
exercise judgment to estimate forfeiture ratesafeards, based on the probability that employedscawhplete the required service period. If
actual forfeitures differ significantly from ourtemates, or if any of our estimates or assumptjmas'e incorrect, our results could be
materially affected.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

08/07 07/06
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2008 2007 2006 (Decrease (Decrease  (Decrease (Decrease
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Revenue: $ 175,50 $199,01. $ 216,35t $(23,509)  (12%$(17,34/) (8)%
Costs and expens 638,21. 618,80¢ 445,39 19,40¢ 3% 173,411 3%
Net interest incom 2,857 28,51 15,06¢ (25,656 (90)% 13,44« 89%
Other, ne — 7,07¢ — n/e (7,07 (100%
Net loss $(459,85) $(391,27¢) $(206,89:) $ 68,57: 18% $184,38! 89%

Net Loss

In 2008 as compared to 2007, our net loseased by $68.6 million, or 18%. The increasedass in 2008 as compared to 2007 wa:
result of a combination of factors, including lowewvenues from royalties as a result of the satmuoHIV royalty stream and decreases in
revenues from our collaborations, an increase irovarall expenses and a decrease in our net stt@@me as a result of lower yields on
invested funds and higher levels of outstanding.dat?008, we continued to increase our workfopagticularly in our development and
commercialization organizations, leading to inceshimiternal expenses relating to our employee2008, these increased internal expenses,
as compared to 2007, were largely offset by deerkagpenses related to our commercial supply imesstin telaprevir, resulting in an
overall 3% increase in our costs and expenses.

In 2007 as compared to 2006, our net loseased by $184.4 million, or 89%. This substhitizease in our net loss was primarily the
result of a $173.4 million increase in our costd arpenses as we significantly increased our hesdcimcurred increased expenses relating
to our clinical trials and made significant investmts in telaprevir commercial supply.

Net Loss Per Shai

Our net loss for 2008 was $3.27 per basitdiluted common share compared to a net 10s8d0v of $3.03 per basic and diluted
common share. Our net loss per basic and dilutedvamn share increased in 2008 from 2007 as a refaiir 18% increase in net loss,
mostly offset by an increase in the number of basit diluted weighted-average common shares odisifrom 129.0 million shares in
2007 to 140.6 million shares in 2008.

Our net loss for 2007 was $3.03 per basitdiluted common share compared to a net 10s8d06 of $1.83 per basic and diluted
common share. Our net loss per basic and dilutedvamn share increased in 2007 from 2006 as a resaiir 89% increase in net loss
partially offset by an increase in the number afiband diluted weighted-average common sharesamali®ig from 113.2 million shares in
2006 to 129.0 million shares in 2007.

Stock-based Compensation Expense and Restructoxipgnse

Our costs and expenses in 2008, 2007 ad@ id@luded the following stock-based compensatixmense and restructuring expense:

2008 2007 2006

(in thousands)
Stock-based compensation expel $57,987 $59,407 $39,137
Restructuring expens $ 432 $7,11¢ $ 3,651
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Revenues
08/07 07/06
2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Royalty revenue $ 37,481 $ 47,97: $ 41,20¢  $(10,490) (22)%3$ 6,765 16%
Collaborative and other research and developmeehree 138,020 151,03¢ 175,14¢ (13,019 (9% (24,109 (14)%
Total revenue $175,50: $199,01: $216,35¢ $(23,50¢)  (12)%%$(17,34) (8)%

Our total revenues in recent periods haenlcomprised primarily of collaborative and ottesearch and development revenues. On a
quarterly and annual basis our collaborative ahérotesearch and development revenues can fluctigatificantly, due to the timing of
recognition of significant milestone payments amel level of net reimbursement we receive for owettgpment programs. Our royalty
revenues decreased significantly in 2008 due tasafein the second quarter of 2008 of our rightet®ive future royalties related to sales of
the HIV protease inhibitor Lexiva/Telzir.

Collaborative and Other Research and DevelopmerteRges
The table presented below is a summargwdnues from collaborative arrangements for 20087 2and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Collaborative and other research and developmephres

Janssel $120,12: $117,73¢ $ 68,00¢
CFFT 764 15,88: 12,63¢
Merck 6,00( 9,00( 58,70t
Novartis — — 17,58¢
Other 11,13¢ 8,417 18,21¢

Total collaborative and other research and devetopmevenue $138,02: $151,03¢ $175,14¢

In 2008 and 2007, we depended on our Jartsgkaboration for 87% and 78%, respectively, of total collaborative and other research
and development revenues. During 2008 and 200éntms derived from the Janssen collaboration agneeconsisted of:

. development milestone payments recognized in thiegye
. net reimbursements for development costs of telaprand
. an amortized portion of the $165.0 million up-frgayment we received in 2006.

In 2008, as compared to 2007, a $25.0anilincrease in milestone revenues from Jansseetaffdecrease in our net reimbursements
and other revenues from the Janssen collabora#salting in a small increase in total revenuemfilanssen. The $25.0 million increase in
milestone revenues from $30.0 million in 2007 t& $5million in 2008 was primarily the result of 430 million milestone that we achieved
in the second quarter of 2008 for the enrolimemaifents in our ADVANCE clinical trial. The prirgal milestones remaining under our
agreement with Janssen relate to filing for mankgetiuthorization for telaprevir with the Europeaeditines Evaluation Agency and the
launch of telaprevir in the European Union, and assult we expect our revenues from Janssen teatein 2009 as compared to 2008.
Amounts that Janssen pays us for reimbursemenirdetaprevir clinical development expenses, afteroffset reimbursement amounts ov
to Janssen for Janssen's telaprevir clinical ési@enses, are recorded as revenues. The decraedseihrtbursements in 2008 as compared to
2007 were the result of lower reimbursable experslesed to telaprevir clinical trials incurred by combined with increased reimbursable
expenses incurred by Janssen associated withitieattrials, including REALIZE, being led by Tibec.
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The decrease in our total collaborative atinér research and development revenues in 2008nagared to 2007 was primarily
attributable to decreased revenues from our cafidlom with CFFT. In 2008, we completed our reingalle activities under our
collaboration with CFFT, which resulted in the $lLfillion decrease in revenues from this collaborain 2008 as compared to 2007.

Our total collaborative and other reseaneti development revenues decreased by $24.1 mitli2@07 as compared to 2006, as
significant increases in our revenues related taJanssen collaboration, which began in June 2066 offset by significant decreases in
revenues from our collaborations with Merck and altig as these activities were completed. In agitlitour revenues from milestones reli
to the Merck collaboration decreased from $36.3ionilin 2006 to $9.0 million in 2007.

Royalty Revenue

Our royalty revenues relate to sales ofHhé protease inhibitors Lexiva/Telzir and Agenerdry GlaxoSmithKline. Until May 30, 200
these royalty revenues were based on actual aimladstl worldwide net sales of Lexiva/Telzir and Agmse. On May 30, 2008, we sold our
right to receive future royalties from GlaxoSmitimé with respect to these HIV protease inhibitesssluding the portion allocated to pay a
subroyalty on these net sales to a third partyetarn for a one-time cash payment of $160.0 nmillid/e deferred the recognition of
$155.1 million of revenues from this sale. We aeognizing these deferred revenues over the tewarogreement with GlaxoSmithKline
under the "units-of-revenue" method. We will contirto recognize royalty revenues equal to the atnafuihe third-party subroyalty and an
offsetting royalty expense for the third-party sayalty payment.

The $10.5 million, or 22%, decrease in tyyeevenues in 2008 compared to 2007 resulted fiimsale of our future HIV royalties in
the second quarter of 2008. The $6.8 million, d¥léicrease in royalty revenues in 2007 as compar006 was due to the increase in
Lexiva/Telzir net sales. In 2009, we expect thatwilerecognize as royalty revenues a portion & tBmaining deferred revenues from the
sale of our HIV royalty stream plus the full amoofthe third-party subroyalty.

Costs and Expenses

08/07 07/06

2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison

(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Royalty expense $ 15,68t $ 13,90« $ 12,17( $ 1,782 13%$ 1,73¢ 14%
Research and development expel 516,29: 518,67 379,22¢ (2,385 0% 139,44¢ 3%
Sales, general and administrative expe 101,91( 79,10« 50,34¢ 22,80¢ 29%  28,75¢ 57%
Restructuring expens 4,32¢ 7,11¢ 3,651 (2,795  (39%  3,46¢ 95%
Total costs and expens $638,21: $618,80: $445,39:  $19,40¢ 3% $173,41( 39%

Our costs and expenses primarily relatutoresearch and development expenses and ouy gatesal and administrative expenses.
Over the three-year period ending December 31, 2088ncreased the number of our employees, péatigun our development and
commercialization organizations, leading to inceshexpenses relating to our workforce. Our totats£and expenses increased by
$19.4 million, or 3%, in 2008 compared to 2007aassult of these increased expenses related twarkforce, partially offset by decreased
commercial supply investment in telaprevir. Ouata@osts and expenses increased by $173.4 mibio89%, in 2007 compared to 2006,
primarily as a result of significant increases im development expenses, including a significammoercial supply investment in telaprevir.
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Research and Development Exper

08/07 07/06
2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research expens $165,38. $162,47. $141,67. $2,91( 2% $ 20,80( 15%
Development expens: 350,91 356,20t 237,55 (5,295  (1)% 118,64¢  50%

Total research and development expe $516,29: $518,67" $379,22¢( $(2,38f) 0% $139,44¢ 37%

Research Expenses

08/07 07/06
2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research Expense
Salary and benefit $ 55,35, $ 50,64¢ $ 45,54¢ $4,70: 9% $ 5,10: 11%
Stocl-based compensation expel 18,76¢ 21,57. 15,49t (2,808 (139d% 6,077 39%
Laboratory supplies and other direct expe  25,04¢ 23,84¢ 23,10t 1,20( 5% 741 3%
Contractual service 8,72¢ 7,55¢ 6,64( 1,17( 15% 91t 14%
Infrastructure cost 57,497 58,85 50,88 (1,359 (2% 7,96¢ 16%
Total research expens $165,38: $162,47: $141,67. $ 2,91( 2% $20,80( 15%

The $2.9 million increase in total reseaggpenses in 2008 compared to 2007 was primaliéye® to an increase in salary and benefits.
The $20.8 million increase in total research experiis 2007 compared to 2006 was the result of asa® in salary and benefits, stock-based
compensation expense and infrastructure costs. Magir research expenses relate to employee espamsl infrastructure costs and are not
dependent on the timing of clinical developmenivitas.

Development Expenses

08/07 07/06
2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Development Expense

Salary and benefit $ 77,017 $ 54,50« $ 43,90 $22,50¢ 41% $ 10,59¢ 24%
Stocl-based compensation expel 26,76( 26,84¢ 16,67¢ (86) 0% 10,17( 61%
Laboratory supplies and other direct expe  35,01¢ 30,237 20,39¢ 4,77¢ 16% 9,841 48%
Contractual service 121,24° 114,51¢ 88,94¢ 6,72¢ 6% 25,56¢ 2%
Commercial supply investment in telapre 17,37¢  75,42( 27,33 (58,04¢) (7% 48,08¢ 17¢%
Infrastructure cost 73,50z 54,68: 40,29¢ 18,82: 34% 14,38 36%
Total development expens $350,91: $356,20t $237,55° $ (5,295 (1)%6$118,64¢ 50%

Our development expenses decreased byndiBi@n, or 1%, in 2008 as compared to 2007. Thasréase in our development expenses
was the result of a $58.0 million decrease in coneiaksupply investment in telaprevir, which hagctbated significantly quarter-to-quarter
over the past two years, partially offset by inse=ain the other categories of development expemsbgding expenses related to our
increased headcount and infrastructure. The vangwgls of our investment in telaprevir commersiapply correspond with development
timelines and estimated time to market and wasdfsigntly higher in 2007 as a result of the initiaestment required to validate telaprevir
manufacturing processes.
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Our development expenses increased by Tiflion, or 50%, in 2007 as compared to 2006 s®ignificant increase in our
development expenses was the result of increassscim category of development expense as we advagleprevir. The most significant
increase from 2006 to 2007 was in our commercippBuinvestment, which increased by $48.1 million.

To date we have incurred in excess of $2lidn in research and development expenses astgocwith drug discovery and developm
The successful development of our drug candidatbgghly uncertain and subject to a number of risksddition, the duration of clinical
trials may vary substantially according to the typemplexity and novelty of the drug candidate. HIBA and comparable agencies in fore
countries impose substantial requirements on tinednction of therapeutic pharmaceutical produgtsically requiring lengthy and detailed
laboratory and clinical testing procedures, sangpiintivities and other costly and time-consumingcpdures. Data obtained from nonclinical
and clinical activities at any step in the testimgcess may be adverse and lead to discontinuaticedirection of development activity. Data
obtained from these activities also are susceptibl@rying interpretations, which could delay, itior prevent regulatory approval. The
duration and cost of discovery, nonclinical studied clinical trials may vary significantly overetlife of a project and are difficult to predict.
Therefore, accurate and meaningful estimates difiltiraate costs to bring our drug candidates toketzare not available. The most
significant costs associated with drug discoveny development are those costs associated with Phaiseé Phase 3 clinical trials. Given the
uncertainties related to development, we currearéyunable to reliably estimate when, if ever,dnug candidates will generate revenues and
net cash inflows.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

08/07 07/06
2008 2007 2006 Comparison Comparison
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)

Sales, general and administrative expe $101,91( $79,10: $50,34¢  $22,80¢ 29%%28,75¢ 57%

Sales, general and administrative expeinsesased substantially in each of 2008 and 20@bagpared to the preceding year as the
result of increased headcount as we advance ogrodmndidates, particularly telaprevir, into latagg development.

Royalty Expense

Royalty expenses increased $1.8 millior, 3%, in 2008 compared to 2007, and by $1.7 millmmnl4%, in 2007 compared to 2006.
Royalty expenses primarily relate to a subroyadtygble to a third party on net sales of Lexiva/ifelmd Agenerase. The subroyalty expense
offsets a corresponding amount of royalty revenWés expect to continue to recognize this subroyadtan expense in future periods.

Restructuring Expens

As of December 31, 2008 our lease restrimgdiability was $34.1 million. In 2008, 2007 a2606, we recorded restructuring expense
of $4.3 million, $7.1 million and $3.7 million, nesctively. The restructuring expense in all perioatduded imputed interest cost related to
the restructuring liability associated with our Kiail Square lease. The decrease in restructuripgrese for 2008 compared to 2007 and the
increase in restructuring expense for 2007 as coedpa 2006 was in each case primarily the redudtrevision, in the first quarter of 2007,
of certain key estimates and assumptions aboutibgilboperating costs for the remaining period efldase commitment, for which there w
no corresponding revisions in 2008 or 2006.

We review our estimates and assumptions regpect to the Kendall Square lease on at legsaderly basis, and will make whatever
modifications we believe are necessary to reflagt@hanged circumstances, based on our best judguoreit the termination of the lease.
Our estimates have
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changed in the past, and may change in the futeselting in additional adjustments to the estintdtehe liability, and the effect of any such
adjustments could be material.

Non-Operating Items

Interest income decreased $14.5 millior %o, to $16.3 million in 2008 from $30.8 million 2007. The decrease is a result of lower
portfolio yields during 2008, partially offset bygher average levels of invested funds in 2008. éxsh, cash equivalents and marketable
securities yielded approximately 2% on an annusisbia 2008 compared to approximately 5% in 20@ferest income increased
$7.8 million, or 34%, to $30.8 million for 2007 fr$23.0 million for 2006. The increase in 2007 wWesresult of higher levels of invested
funds and higher portfolio yields during 2007 ampared to 2006.

Interest expense increased $11.2 milliod1i®.5 million in 2008 compared to $2.3 million2007. This increase in 2008 as compared to
2007 resulted from the issuance in February 2008%.5 million in aggregate principal amount ol 2MNotes. Interest expense decreased
$5.7 million, or 71%, to $2.3 million for 2007 frof8.0 million for 2006 as a result of our reductafroutstanding debt in 2006 and 2007.

In 2006, we sold 817,749 shares of the comstock of Altus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for $11illiom and warrants to purchase 1,962
shares of Altus common stock for $18.3 million,uléag in a realized gain of $11.2 million.

In 2006, we recorded a non-cash loss ohan@e of convertible subordinated notes of $5.Haniin connection with our issuance of
common stock in exchange for a portion of our 5. 7G6fvertible Senior Subordinated Notes due FebrR@tyl. This loss corresponded to
the value of additional shares issued in the tretigaover the number of shares that would have lesied upon the conversion of the notes
under their original terms.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS Bduring 2006, we recorded a $1.0 million benkeéim the cumulative effect of changing
from recording forfeitures related to restrictedckt awards as they occurred to estimating forfegwturing the service period.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have incurred operating losses sincermaption and have financed our operations pralbipghrough public and private offerings
our equity and debt securities, strategic collatiaeaagreements that include research and/or dpredat funding, development milestones
and royalties on the sales of products, strategesof assets or businesses, investment incomprandeds from the issuance of common
stock under our employee benefit plans. We expedtwe will require additional capital in orderdommercialize telaprevir and continue our
planned activities in other areas.

At December 31, 2008, we had cash, casivalgats and marketable securities of $832.1 mm|liwhich was an increase of
$364.3 million from $467.8 million at December 2007. The increase was primarily a result of th@1$3 million of net proceeds from the
offerings of common stock and 2013 Notes that wapleted in February 2008; the proceeds we recdioad the sale of our HIV royalty
stream in May 2008; and the $217.4 million of netgeeds from the September 2008 offering of comstock. In addition, we received
milestone and other payments from our collaboreaas$32.0 million from the issuance of commonistander our employee benefits plans.
These cash inflows were partially offset by caspeexditures we made in 2008 related to, among dtiegs, research and development
expenses and sales, general and administrativesepand the repayment in May 2008 of a $20.0anilban, which was outstanding under
the loan facility established under our collabanativith Novartis. Capital expenditures for propeatd equipment during 2008 were
$32.2 million.

At December 31, 2008, we had outstandir@7$2million in aggregate principal amount of 0013 Notes. The 2013 Notes bear interest
at the rate of 4.75% per annum, and we are reqtored
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make semi-annual interest payments on the outstgrutincipal balance of the 2013 Notes on Febrd&rand August 15 of each year. The
2013 Notes will mature on February 15, 2013. ThE32otes are convertible, at the option of the égléthto our common stock at a price
equal to approximately $23.14 per share, subjeatljostment. On or after February 15, 2010, we redgem the 2013 Notes at our optior
whole or in part, at the redemption prices statetthé indenture, plus accrued and unpaid inteifesty, to, but excluding, the redemption
date.

Our accrued restructuring expense of $84lllon at December 31, 2008 relates to the portbthe facility that we lease in Kendall
Square that we do not intend to occupy and inclodesr related lease obligations, recorded at retemt value. In 2008, we made cash
payments of $14.0 million against the accrued egpeamd received $8.5 million in sublease rentaimgys. During 2009, we expect to make
additional cash payments of $14.7 million agaihstdccrued expense and receive $8.4 million inesigel rental payments.

We expect to continue to make significaweistments in our development pipeline, particylariclinical trials of telaprevir, in our effc
to prepare for potential registration, regulatoppr@val and commercial launch of telaprevir, andlinical trials for our other drug
candidates, including VX-770. We also expect tormaan our substantial investment in research. Aessalt, we expect to incur future losses
on a quarterly and annual basis. The adequacyraivailable funds to meet our future operating eayital requirements will depend on
many factors, including the number, breadth andgeots of our discovery and development programesgdsts and timing of obtaining
regulatory approvals for any of our drug candidates our decisions regarding manufacturing and ceroia investments.

We believe that our current cash, cashvaedgmts and marketable securities, in additiomtoants we expect to receive from our
collaborators under existing contractual obligagionill be sufficient to fund our operations forlaast the next twelve months. We expect
we will need additional capital in order to compl¢he development and commercialization of telapawd to continue the development of
our other drug candidates, including VX-770. We maige additional capital through public offeriraysprivate placements of our securities,
securing new collaborative agreements, or othehaoust of financing. Any such capital transactiony mamay not be similar to transactions
in which we have engaged in the past. We alsoawittinue to manage our capital structure and censilil financing opportunities, whene\
they may occur, that could strengthen our long-téguidity profile. There can be no assurance #rat such financing opportunities will be
available on acceptable terms, if at all. If adegudands are not available, we may be requiredittad significantly or discontinue one or
more of our research, drug discovery or developmesdgrams or attempt to obtain funds through aramnts that may require us to
relinquish rights to certain of our technologieslang candidates.

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS

The first part of the following table sésth commitments and obligations that have beeonnded on our consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2008. Certain other obligations amdnsitments, while not required under GAAP to betield in the consolidated balance
sheets, may have a material impact on liquidity. h&ee presented these items, all of which we hatered into in the ordinary course of
business, in the remaining rows of the table befoarder to present a more complete picture offimancial position and liquidity. Included
in our additional commitments for
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facilities operating leases, are commitments thetvade in January 2009 to extend specific leas€sumbridge, Massachusetts through
December 2015.

2014 and
2009 2010-2011  2012-2013 later Total
(in thousands)

Commitments and Obligations Recorded on the Catesteld Balance Sheets at

December 31, 200¢

Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Febr2@t3—Principal Paymer $ — §$ — $287,50( $ —  $287,50(

Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Febr2@tyB—Interest Paymeni 5,34¢ — — — 5,34¢
Additional Commitments and Obligations at Decenigr2008:

Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Febr2@ipB—Interest Paymeni 8,301 27,31 20,48 — 56,10«

Facilities operating leas: 45,33 94,38¢ 100,34 164,44: 404,50t

Research and development and other commitn 8,70¢ 841 — — 9,547
Total contractual commitments and obligatit $67,69¢ $122,54( $408,32¢ $ 164,44. $763,00¢

Commitments and Obligations Recorded on the Catesteld Balance Sheets at December 31, 2008

In February 2008, we issued $287.5 millioaggregate principal amount of our 4.75% conb&tsenior subordinated notes due 2013.
The principal and interest accrued as of Decemibe@08 under these notes is included on our cimtaget balance sheets as of
December 31, 2008. The interest that is due fdpgerafter December 31, 2008 is not required teeflected on our consolidated balance
sheets and is set forth separately on the tableeabo

Additional Commitments and Obligations Not Requietie Recorded on Consolidated Balance Sheetgeedbber 31, 20C

Our future minimum commitments and contratbbligations included future interest payments dn our 2013 Notes, facilities
operating leases—including commitments made ina@gan2009 to extend leases of specified facilite€ambridge, Massachusetts through
December 2015—and contractual commitments relatedit research and development programs. These @eamot required under GAAP
to be recorded on our consolidated balance shEety. are disclosed in the table presented abopeotdde a more complete picture of our
financial position and liquidity.

Our future minimum commitments under oundall Square lease for the period commencing onalaril, 2009 are $24.8 million for
2009, $49.7 million for 2010 and 2011, $51.0 miilimr 2012 and 2013, and $116.4 million througheRpiration of the lease in 2018. These
amounts are included in the table above as patiofacilities operating leases. Rent payment®torKendall Square lease will be subject to
increase in May 2013, based on changes in anioril&ctor. We are using for our operations apprately 40% of the Kendall Square
facility. We have entered into two subleases ferrdmaining rentable square footage at the Ke&plhre facility to offset our on-going
contractual lease obligations. The subleases wlire in 2011 and 2012 and contain options to ekténough 2015 and 2018, respectively.
One of the subleases has certain termination pomdaseginning in 2010. The future minimum comnaitiecome from the subleases is
$8.2 million for 2009, $12.6 million for 2010 an@21 and $1.7 million for 2012. These amounts ateoffeet against our obligations set fc
in the table above. See Note F, "Restructuring Bgeéto our consolidated financial statements ohetlin this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Commitments under research and developpregrams represent contractual commitments entetedor materials and services in the
normal course of business.

Our table detailing contractual commitmeantsl obligations does not include severance pagatins to certain of our executive
officers in the event of a not-for-cause terminatimder existing employment contracts.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accoun8tendards Board ("FASB") issued Statement No. 1&=air Value
Measurements" ("SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 establishmmyamon definition for fair value to be applied un@AAP requiring use of fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valne, @xpands disclosure about such fair value meammnts. Issued in February 2008, FASB
Staff Position No. SFAS 157-1, "Application of FASBatement No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13 anéiQthcounting Pronouncements
That Address Fair Value Measurements for PurpoSksase Classification or Measurement under Statei@' removed leasing
transactions accounted for under FASB StatementlBl@and related guidance from the scope of SFAS I$5ided in February 2008, FASB
Staff Position No. SFAS 157-2, "Effective Date &¥B Statement No. 157," deferred the effective d&t8FAS 157 for all nonfinancial
assets and nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal ydaeginning after November 15, 2008. The implemématf SFAS 157 for financial assets and
financial liabilities, effective for us on Janudry2008, did not have a material effect on our obidated financial statements. We currently
are evaluating the effect of SFAS 157 for nonfinahassets and nonfinancial liabilities on our aditsted financial statements.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Safition No. SFAS 157-3, "Determining the Fair Mabf a Financial Asset When the
Market for That Asset Is Not Active," ("FSP 137}, to clarify the application of the provisionE®FAS 157 in an inactive market and how
entity would determine fair value in an inactiverked. FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, imetudrior periods for which financial
statements had not been issued. The implementitie8P 157-3 did not have a material effect onamnsolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued StatefMentl41 (Revised 2007), "Business CombinationSFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141(R)
establishes principles and requirements for howcauirer in a business combination recognizes agabores in its financial statements, the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdnand any non-controlling interest in the acqui®FAS 141(R) also provides guidance for
recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquirethenbusiness combination and determines what irdtbom to disclose to enable users of
the financial statements to evaluate the naturdfiandcial effects of business combinations. SFA%(R) became effective on a prospective
basis for our financial statements beginning orudanl1, 2009. Accordingly, any future business cioation we enter into would be subject
to SFAS 141(R).

In December 2007, the FASB ratified thesasus reached by the Emerging Issues Task F&EEN") on EITF Issue No. 07-1,
"Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements" ("EIDF-1"). EITF 074 requires collaborators to present the resulectfities for which the
act as the principal on a gross basis and repgrpayments received from (made to) other collalowsabased on other applicable GAAP or,
in the absence of other applicable GAAP, basedhalogy to authoritative accounting literature aeasonable, rational, and consistently
applied accounting policy election. Further, EITFDclarified the determination of whether trangatt within a collaborative arrangement
are part of a vendor-customer (or analogous) mahip subject to EITF Issue No. 01-9, "AccounfimgConsideration Given by a Vendor to
a Customer (Including a Reseller of the VendortBcets)." EITF 07-1 became effective for us begigron January 1, 2009. EITF 07-1 is
not expected to have a material effect on our dateted financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement1$d, "Disclosures about Derivative Instrumentd Biedging Activities—an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 133" ("SFAS 161"). SFAS 1$iniended to improve financial reporting aboutiviive instruments and hedging
activities by requiring
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enhanced disclosures to enable investors to hettierstand their effects on an entity's financaaifon, financial performance, and cash
flows. SFAS 161 became effective for us beginninglanuary 1, 2009. The adoption of SFAS 161 iRrpécted to have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE S ABOUT MARKET RISK

As part of our investment portfolio, we ofimancial instruments that are sensitive to marigis. The investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is required to furmkeations, including our research and developmetitiies. None of these market risk-
sensitive instruments are held for trading purpo$és do not have derivative financial instrumentsir investment portfolio.

Interest Rate Ris

We invest our cash in a variety of finah@iatruments, principally securities issued by thated States government and its agencies,
investment grade corporate bonds and notes andynmoakket instruments. These investments are deradadrin United States dollars. All
our interest-bearing securities are subject ta@sterate risk, and could decline in value if ierrates fluctuate. Substantially all of our
investment portfolio consists of marketable se@sgitvith active secondary or resale markets to éefure portfolio liquidity, and we have
implemented guidelines limiting the termteaturity of our investment instruments. Due to¢baservative nature of these instruments, w
not believe that we have a material exposure &rést rate risk.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY D ATA
The information required by this Item &@ntained on pages F-1 through F-39 of this AnReglort on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(1) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls ahProcedures. The Company's chief executive officer and chirgncial officer, after
evaluating the effectiveness of the Company's assck controls and procedures (as defined in RRdelb(e) and Rule 15d-15(e)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act 8#18s amended) as of the end of the period colsrélois Annual Report on Form 1Q-
have concluded that, based on such evaluatiorG ¢dh@pany's disclosure controls and procedures wWaetiee. In designing and evaluating
the disclosure controls and procedures, the Compamgnagement recognized that any controls aneguves, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddaadieving the desired control objectives, drel@ompany's management necessarily
was required to apply its judgment in evaluating ¢bst-benefit relationship of possible controld procedures.

(2) Management's Annual Report on Interal Control over Financial Reporting. The management of the Company is respor
for establishing and maintaining adequate intecoatrol over financial reporting. Internal contoder financial reporting is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 151b(f) promulgated under the Securities ExchangeoAd934, as amended, as a process designed bgder the
supervision of, the Company's principal executind principal financial officers and effected by thempany's Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide realasturance regarding the reliability of financ&dorting and the preparation of
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financial statements for external purposes in ataare with generally accepted accounting principlée Company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies andcedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that, inorglsle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trenactions and dispositions of
the assets of the Company;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactionse@seded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfies; and that receipts and expenditures of thegamy are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of manageraed directors of the Company; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, esa@isposition of the
Company's assets that could have a material affetiie financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

The Company's management assessed théweffexrss of the Company's internal control oveatdicial reporting as of December 31,
2008. In making this assessment, it used the iexiset forth in the Internal Control—Integrated mswork issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis€BdSO). Based on its assessment, the Companyagmiarent has concluded that, as
of December 31, 2008, the Company's internal cootrer financial reporting is effective based ongé criteria.

The Company's independent registered palitounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an stié¢ion report on the Company's intel
control over financial reporting. See Section bhel

(3) Changes in Internal Controls. During the quarter ended December 31, 2008 tivere no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting that materially affected, oe aeasonably likely to materially affect, our imal control over financial reporting.
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(4) Report of Independent Registered Pilib Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited Vertex Pharmaceuticalsrpporated's internal control over financial repagtas of December 31, 2008, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrafedmework issued by the Committee of Sponsorirgp@izations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). Vertex Pharmacalgitncorporated’'s management is responsible forteiaing effective internal control
over financial reporting, and for its assessmerthefeffectiveness of internal control over finahceporting included in the accompanying
Management's Annual Report on Internal Control QRieancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg an opinion on the company's
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanagigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over fic& reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and @jge reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the compangsets that could have a material effect on thenfirz statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Vertex Pharmaceuticals hpowated maintained, in all material respects,atiffe internal control over financial reporti
as of December 31, 2008, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Oghtdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Vertex Pharmac&utit@orporated as of December 31, 2008 and 20@¥ttee related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders' equitycanapbrehensive loss, and cash flows for each offtte years in the period ended
December 31, 2008 of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Ingatpd and our report dated February 12, 2009 esedean unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 12, 2009
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On February 5, 2009, our Board of Directmpproved year-end discretionary bonuses and 20@%ah salaries. The year-end

discretionary bonuses and 2009 annual salariesuionamed executive officers are set forth on ekhiil60, which is attached to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE

The information regarding directors reqdil® this Item 10 will be included in the defingiwroxy Statement for our 2009 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, or the 2009 Proxy Statamarder "Election of Directors," "Information Redang our Board of Directors and its
Committees," "Stockholder Proposals for the 201@ue Meeting and Nominations for Director" andrisarporated herein by reference.
Other information required by this Item 10 will imeluded in the 2009 Proxy Statement under "Sec#(@a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance" and "Code of Conduct and Ethics" aridderporated herein by reference. The informategarding executive officers required
by this Item 10 is included in Part | of this Anh&eport on Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11l\Wwe included in the 2009 Proxy Statement undee'tiiitive Compensation,” and
"Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insideri€ipgtion," and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12wk included in the 2009 Proxy Statement undectBity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensation IRfarmation” and is incorporated herein by refee

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13lwe included in the 2009 Proxy Statement undéection of Directors" and "Approval of
Related Person Transactions and Transactions weidt&tl Persons” and is incorporated herein byaréber.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14l\Wwe included in the 2009 Proxy Statement undedépbendent Registered Public Accounting
Firm" and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) The Financial Statements required to be fiig Items 8 and 15(c) of Form 10-K, and filed lnéth, are as follows:

Page Number
in
this Form 10K

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&00800’ F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeadsed December 31, 2008, 2007 and F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@maprehensive Loss for the years ended Decembh@088, 2007 and

2006 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ysailed December 31, 2008, 2007 and = F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-6

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules have beenamhbiecause they are either not applicable oreheired information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(@)(3) Exhibits.
The following is a list of exhibits filedsgart of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by
Reference hereil

Filed with
from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Numbe|
3.1 Restated Articles of Organization of Vertex Phacguticals Incorporated, as amended. 10-Q  August 11, 2008 00D931¢
(Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 By-laws of Vertex, as amended and restated &ag9f11, 2005. 10-Q August 9, 2005 000931¢
(Exhibit 3.1)
4.1 Specimen stock certificate. S-1 July 18, 1991 334096¢
(Exhibit 4.1)
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 1991. S-1 July 5, 1991 33096¢
(Exhibit 4.2)
4.2 First Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated a@Setfruary 21, 1997. 10-K March 28, 1997 000931¢
(Exhibit 4.3)
4.4 Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated darcé 30, 2001. 10-Q August 14, 2001 00D931¢
(Exhibit 4.4)
4.5 Indenture dated as of February 19, 2008 by anddmtwertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpor: 8-K February 25, 0004931¢
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trus (Exhibit 4.1) 2008
4.6  Form of 4.75% Convertible Senior SubordinatedeNsite 2013 8-K February 25, 0004931¢
(Exhibit 4.2) 2008
Agreements with Respect to Collaborations, LicenseResearch
and Development
10.1 License, Development, Manufacturing and Commézeiion Agreement, dated June 30, 10-Q August 9, 2006 000931¢
2006, by and between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incatpd and Janssen (Exhibit 10.1)
Pharmaceutica, N.V.
10.z Research Agreement and License Agreement, botld @xeember 16, 1993, between Ve 10-K Year Ended 0004931¢
and Burroughs Wellcome Co.t (Exhibit 10.16) December 31,
1993
10.Z2  Purchase Agreement, dated May 30, 2008, by atveelea Vertex Pharmaceuticals 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
Incorporated and Fosamprenavir Royalty, | (Exhibit 10.2)
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Incorporated by
Reference hereil

Filed with
from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Numbel
10.4 License, Development and Commercialization Agreetndated as of June 11, 2004, 10-Q August 9, 2007 000931¢
between Vertex and Mitsubishi Pharma Corporatit (Exhibit 10.2)
10.E Research, Development and Commercialization Agese, dated as of May 24, 2004, 8-K/A September 10, 0004931¢
between Vertex and Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Tipeu#ics Incorporated. (Exhibit 99.2) 2004
10.€  Amendment No. 1 to Research, Development and Gangialization Agreement, dated as of 10-K March 16, 2006 000931¢
January 6, 2006, between Vertex and Cystic Fibiesisdation Therapeutics Incorporate (Exhibit 10.9)
10.7 Second Amendment to Research, Development andr@ocialization Agreement, dated as 10-Q May 10, 2006 000931¢
of March 17, 2006, between Vertex and Cystic Filsré®undation Therapeutics (Exhibit 10.1)
Incorporated.-
10.€ Exclusive Research Collaboration, License and @eruialization Agreement, dated as of 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
June 21, 2004, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals pocated and Merck & Co., Inc (Exhibit 10.1)
10.¢ Letter Agreement, dated June 26, 2006, by anddst Merck & Co., Inc. and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2006 000931¢
Pharmaceuticals Incorporate (Exhibit 10.2)
Leases
10.1C Lease, dated as of March 3, 1995, between FoshWgton Realty Trust and Vertex. 10-K Year Ended 00041931¢
(Exhibit 10.15) December 31,
1994
10.11 First Amendment to Lease, dated as of Decemhet @36, between Fort Washington Realty 10-K Year Ended 0004931¢
Trust and Vertex. (Exhibit 10.15) December 31,
1995
10.12 Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of Juned®3, between Fort Washington Realty 10-K March 26, 1998 000931¢
Trust and Vertex (Exhibit 10.20)
10.12  Third, Fourth and Fifth Amendments to Lease betwEort Washington Realty Trust and 10-K March 26, 2001 000931¢
Vertex.t (Exhibit 10.14)
10.1¢ Lease, dated as of September 17, 1999, betweeste®s of Fort Washington Realty Trust 10-Q November 15 0004931¢
and Vertex.1 (Exhibit 10.27) 1999
10.1¢ Lease, dated as of January 18, 2001, betweenaleBgliare, LLC and Vertex.t 10-K March 26, 2001 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.16)
10.1¢ Agreement for Lease, dated as of November 4, 118&8veen Milton Park Limited, Vertex 10-K March 30, 1999 000931¢
and Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limit (Exhibit 10.21)
Equity Plans
10.17 1991 Stock Option Plan, as amended and restateti%eptember 14, 1999.* 10-K March 3, 2000 00@931¢
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.1¢ 1994 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and edsaatof September 14, 1999.* 10-K March 3, 2000 00@931¢
(Exhibit 10.2)
10.1¢ 1996 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and edsaatof March 14, 2005.* 10-K March 16, 2005 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.2C Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1996 Stauk @ption Plan.* 8-K February 9, 2005 00m31¢
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.21 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 199@5smd Option Plan—Annual Vesting.* 8-K February 9, 2005 0Q0re31¢
(Exhibit 10.2)
10.22 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under 199@IS&md Option Plan—Performance 8-K February 9, 2005 00m31¢
Accelerated Restricted Stock (Exhibit 10.3)
10.2¢ Amended and Restated Vertex Pharmaceuticalspocated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
(Exhibit 10.7)
10.2¢  Form of Stock Option Grant under 2006 Stock aptigd Plan.* 8-K May 15, 2006 000931¢
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Incorporated by
Reference hereil

Filed with
from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Numbel
10.2¢  Form of Restricted Stock Award (Performance Aecatled Restricted Stock) under 2006 8-K May 15, 2006 000931¢
Stock and Option Plan (Exhibit 10.4)
10.2¢ Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated EmployeelkSkagchase Plan, as amended and 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
restated.’ (Exhibit 10.8)
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.27 Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of Ndyvami, 1994, between Vertex and 10-K Year Ended 0004931¢
Joshua S. Boger.* (Exhibit 10.6) December 31,
1994
10.2¢ Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of M3 1995, between Vertex and 10-Q Quarter Ended 0004931¢
Joshua S. Boger (Exhibit 10.1)  June 30, 199
10.2¢ Second Amendment to Employment Agreement, degexf Alovember 8, 2004, between 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
Vertex and Joshua S. Boge (Exhibit 10.9) 2004
10.3C Third Amendment to Employment Agreement, dateddd&ber 30, 2008, between Vertex X
and Joshua S. Bogel
10.31 Transition Agreement between Joshua S. BogeWantdx, dated February 5, 2009.* 8-K February 10, 20C 0004931¢
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.32 Agreement between Matthew W. Emmens and VertaeddFebruary 5, 2009.* 8-K February 10, 20C 0004931¢
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.3: Employee Non-disclosure, Naempetition and Inventions Agreement between Mattié 8-K February 10, 20C 0004931¢
Emmens and Vertex, dated February 5, 20! (Exhibit 10.2)
10.3¢  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, deted November 8, 2004, between 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
Vertex and lan F. Smith. (Exhibit 10.13) 2004
10.3¢ Employment Agreement, between Vertex Pharmacastiocorporated and Kurt Graves, 10-Q August 9, 2007 000931¢
dated June 29, 2007 (Exhibit 10.3)
10.3¢  Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employereement, dated February 11, 10-K February 11, 20C 0004931¢
2008, between Vertex and Kenneth S. Bog (Exhibit 10.32)
10.37 Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2008ydmn Peter Mueller and Vertex.* 10-Q May 12, 2008 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.2)
10.3¢ Form of Letter Agreement, dated as of March DRMmetween Vertex and each of John 10-K March 31, 2003 000931¢
Alam and Peter Mueller. (Exhibit 10.32)
10.3¢ Form of Amendment to Letter Agreement, datedfddavember 8, 2004, between Vertex 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
and each of John Alam and Peter Muell¢ (Exhibit 10.7) 2004
10.4C Second Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated Reprld, 2008, between Peter Mueller 10-K February 11, 20C 00041931¢
and Vertex.* (Exhibit 10.38)
10.41 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for 2007 Retstl Stock Awards to Peter Mueller, 10-Q August 9, 2007 000931¢
John Alam and lan F. Smith (Exhibit 10.5)
10.42 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, deted November 8, 2004, between 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
Vertex and Kenneth S. Bogel (Exhibit 10.3) 2004
10.4:  Employment Agreement between Vertex Pharmacdstinaorporated and Freda Lewis- 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
Hall, dated June 18, 200¢ (Exhibit 10.3)
10.4¢ Change-of-Control Agreement between Vertex Phaemticals Incorporated and Freda 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
Lewis-Hall, dated June 18, 200€& (Exhibit 10.4)
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Incorporated by
Reference hereil

Filed with
from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Numbe|
10.4%t  Restricted Stock Agreement (35,000 shares) betWeetex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
and Freda Lew-Hall, dated June 18, 200€& (Exhibit 10.5)
10.4€¢ Restricted Stock Agreement (10,000 shares) betWeetex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated 10-Q August 11, 2008 00D931¢
and Freda Lew-Hall, dated June 18, 200€& (Exhibit 10.6)
10.47 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between Veatek each of the individuals listed on 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
Schedule 1 thereto (Exhibit 10.8) 2004
10.4¢ Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2008yd®n Richard C. Garrison and Vertex.* 10-Q May 12, 2008 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.5)
10.4¢  Change of Control Letter Agreement, dated asexfebnber 12, 2005, between Vertex and 10-K March 16, 2006 000931¢
Richard C. Garrison. (Exhibit 10.36)
10.5C Amendment to Change of Control Letter Agreementgdias of December 12, 2005, betw 10-K March 16, 2006 000931¢
Vertex and Richard C. Garrisor (Exhibit 10.37)
10.51 Second Amendment to Change of Control Letter Agrent, dated February 11, 2008, 10-K February 11, 00041931¢
between Richard C. Garrison and Verte (Exhibit 10.45) 2008
10.52 Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2008yd®n Lisa Kelly€roswell and Vertex. 10-Q May 12, 2008 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.5¢ Change of Control Letter entered into betweert&ePharmaceuticals Incorporated and Lisa 10-Q November 9 0004931¢
Kelly-Croswell on July 12, 2007 (Exhibit 10.1) 2007
10.5¢  Amendment to Change of Control Letter Agreemdated February 11, 2008, between Lisa 10-K February 11, 0004931¢
Kelly-Croswell and Vertex. (Exhibit 10.48) 2008
10.5¢  Offer Letter, between Vertex and Amit Sachdevedalune 4, 2007.* 10-Q August 9, 2007 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.5¢ Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2008yd®n Amit Sachdev and Vertex.* 10-Q May 12, 2008 00@931¢
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.57 Change of Control Agreement, dated February @@82between Amit Sachdev and Vertex.* 10-K February 11, 0004931¢
(Exhibit 10.51) 2008
10.5¢ Form of Employee Non-Disclosure and Inventionsefgnent.* S-1 May 30, 1991 33096¢
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.5¢ Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Executive @@msation Program.* 10-Q May 12, 2008 00@931¢
(Exhibit 10.6)
10.6C Vertex Employee Compensation Ple X
10.61 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board Comgiéns® 10-K March 1, 2007 00@931¢
(Exhibit 10.43)
10.62 Employment Agreement, dated February 11, 2008ydmn John J. Alam and Vertex.* 10-Q May 12, 2008 000931¢
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.6¢ Second Amendment to Letter Agreement, dated Feprligr2008, between John J. Alam i 10-K February 11, 0004931¢
Vertex.* (Exhibit 10.37) 2008
10.6¢ Amendment No 2. to Amended and Restated Employereement between Kenneth S. X
Boger and Vertex, dated December 29, 201
10.6¢  Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement betweert Graves and Vertex, dated X
December 29, 2008
10.6¢ Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employegreement between lan F. Smith X
and Vertex, dated December 29, 20C
10.67 Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement andn@keaof Control Agreement, dated X

December 2008, entered into by Vertex and eachadfaRd Garrison, Amit Sachdev, Lisa
Kelly-Croswell and Freda Lew-Hall.*
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Incorporated by
Reference hereil

Filed with
from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered Reg. Numbel
21.1 Subsidiaries of Vertey X
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourffing Ernst & Young LLP X
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of X
2002.
31.z Certification of the Chief Financial Officer und8ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of X
2002.
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer atite Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 X
of the Sarban« Oxley Act of 2002
* Management contract, compensatory plan or agreement
t Confidential portions of these documents have bidesh separately with the Securities and Exchangm@ission pursuant to a request for confidentedtiment.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, régistrant has duly caused this report t
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

February 13, 2009

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL

By: /s JOSHUA S. BOGER

Joshua S. Boger
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidielow by the following persons on bel
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Name

/sl JOSHUA S. BOGER

Joshua S. Boge

/sl MATTHEW W. EMMENS

Matthew W. Emmen

/s/ IAN F. SMITH

lan F. Smittr

/s PAUL M. SILVA

Paul M. Silva

/sl CHARLES A. SANDERS

Charles A. Sandel

/sl ERIC K. BRANDT

Eric K. Brandt

/sl ROGER W. BRIMBLECOMBE

Roger W. Brimblecomb

/sl STUART J.M. COLLINSON

Stuart J.M. Collinsol

/sl EUGENE H. CORDES

Eugene H. Corde

/sl BRUCE I. SACHS

Bruce I. Sach

/s/ ELAINE S. ULLIAN

Elaine S. Ulliar

Title

Director and Chief Executive Officer (Principatdeutive Officer)

Director and President

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi(Rerincipal Financial Officer)

Vice President and Corporate Controller (Princhetounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C

February 13, 20C
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying conselitbilance sheets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incagumbas of December 31, 2008 and
2007, and the related consolidated statementsestipns, stockholders' equity and comprehensis®, land cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2008. Tiremecial statements are the responsibility of @rmnpany's management. C
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesarftial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €lgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdinthecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statementieneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated at Decembe?@18 and 2007, and the consolidated results opisations and its cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2@®18, in conformity with U.S. generally accepteda@unting principles.

As discussed in Notes B and D to the cadatdd financial statements, on January 1, 20@Cibmpany adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No(R23hare-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated's internal controt éimancial reporting as of December 31, 2008, basecriteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion and our report dated
February 12, 2009 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 12, 2009
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2008 2007
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 389,11! $ 355,66:
Marketable securities, available for sale, curgartion 442,98t 105,20¢
Accounts receivabl 23,48¢ 31,32
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 11,991 4,66(
Total current asse 867,58: 496,85:
Marketable securities, available for sale, exclgdinrrent portior — 6,92t
Restricted cas 30,25¢ 30,25¢
Property and equipment, r 68,33! 66,50¢
Other asset 14,30¢ 934
Total asset $ 980,47¢ $ 601,47
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 51,76 $ 32,75(
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 94,20: 98,35(
Accrued interes 5,34¢ —
Deferred revenues, current porti 37,67¢ 25,52¢
Accrued restructuring expense, current por 6,31¢ 5,60¢
Collaborator development loan (due May 20 — 19,997
Other obligation: 21,25¢ 17,04¢
Total current liabilities 216,56« 199,27¢
Accrued restructuring expense, excluding currentiqo 27,74t 29,68¢
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Febr2aiy) 287,50( —
Deferred revenues, excluding current por! 209,79t 101,21
Total liabilities 741,60! 330,18:
Commitments and contingencies (Note L and Not
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 shard®rized; none issued and outstanding at DeceBiher

2008 and 2007, respective — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 andd®00000 shares authorized at December 31, 2008 ar

2007, respectively; 151,245,384 and 132,875,540eshHasued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 &

2007, respectivel 1,49¢ 1,31z
Additional paic-in capital 2,281,81 1,856,85!
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 3,16¢ 881
Accumulated defici (2,047,60) (1,587,75)

Total stockholders' equit 238,87 271,29!
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 980,47¢ $ 601,47

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
Revenues
Royalty revenue $ 37,48 $ 47,977 $ 41,20¢
Collaborative and other research and developmeenrees 138,02: 151,03 175,14¢
Total revenue 175,50« 199,01: 216,35t
Costs and expense
Royalty expense 15,68¢ 13,90 12,17(
Research and development exper 516,29: 518,67 379,22¢
Sales, general and administrative expel 101,91( 79,10« 50,34¢
Restructuring expens 4,32¢ 7,11¢ 3,651
Total costs and expens 638,21. 618,80: 445,39:
Loss from operation (462,709 (419,79) (229,039
Interest incom 16,32¢ 30,79¢ 23,02¢
Interest expens (23,479 (2,28%) (7,95¢
Realized gain on sale of investm — — 11,18
Loss on exchange of convertible subordinated r — — (5,15))
Loss before cumulative effect of a change in actiogmprinciple (459,85) (391,279 (207,93)
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prile—SFAS 123(R’ — — 1,04¢
Net loss $(459,85) $(391,279) $(206,89)
Basic and diluted loss per common share before @timel effect of a change in accountingprinc $ (3.27) $ (3.09) $ (1.89
Basic and diluted cumulative effect of a changadoounting principle per common sh: — — 0.01
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ B2) $ (309 $ (1.89
Basic and diluted weight-average number of common shares outstar 140,55t 128,98t 113,22:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an€omprehensive Loss

Balance, December 31, 20

Unrealized holding gains on marketable secur

Reclassification adjustment for realized gain onketable securities
included in net los

Translation adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Issuances of common stoc

Equity offering

Convertible Subordinated Notes exchan

Benefit plans

Reversal of deferred compensat

Stoclk-based compensation expel

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prilt—SFAS 123(R’

Balance, December 31, 20

Unrealized holding gains on marketable secur

Reclassification adjustment for realized gain onkatable securities
included in net los

Translation adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Issuances of common stoc

Convertible Subordinated Notes conver
Benefit plans

Stocl-based compensation expel

Balance, December 31, 20

Unrealized holding gains on marketable secur

Reclassification adjustment for realized loss omkmiable securities
included in net los

Translation adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Issuances of common stoc
Equity offerings

Benefit plans

Stock-based compensation expel

Balance, December 31, 20

(in thousands)

Accumulated

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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Additional Other Total
—Common Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders Comprehensive
Paid-In Deferred
Shares Amount Capital Compensatior Income (Loss) Deficit Equity Income (Loss)
108,15: $ 1,081 $1,243,96( $ (13,409 $ (2,879)$% (989,589 %  239,17¢
,56: 1,56 $ 1,56
141 141 141
207 207 207
(206,89)) (206,89)) (206,89:)
$ (204,98()
10,00( 10C  313,61¢ 313,71¢
4,06t 41 64,191 64,23¢
3,90z 22 55,67( 55,69:
(13,409 13,40¢ _
39,131 39,131
(1,04¢€) (1,04¢)
126,12: $ 1,24< $1,702,12 $ — $ (962)$ (1,196,47)$  505,93!
1,751 1,751 $ 1,751
10C 10C 10C
(® (8) (8)
(391,279 (391,279 (391,279
$ (389,43()
3,99: 40 59,03t 59,07t
2,76: 28 36,28¢ 36,31«
59,401 59,407
132,87¢ $ 1,31z $1,856,851 $ — $ 881 $ (1,587,75) % 271,29!
3,68: 3,68: $ 3,68
(1,24%) (1,24%) (1,247
(1549) (154) (1549)
(459,85)) (459,85)) (459,85))
$ (457,56¢)
15,52¢ 158 329,99( 330,14!
2,844 27 36,98¢ 37,01:
57,98t 57,98t
151,241 $ 1,492 $2,281,81° $ — 8 3,16¢ $ (2,047,60)$  238,87:
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortization expel
Stocl-based compensation expel
Other noi-cash based compensation expe
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting pritec
Loss on disposal of property and equipmr
Realized (gain) loss on marketable secur
Realized gain on warran
Charge for exchange of convertible subordinateds

Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Accrued restructuring expen
Accrued interes
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of marketable securi
Sales and maturities of marketable secur
Sale of warrant
Expenditures for property and equipm
Restricted cas
Investments and other ass

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

Cash flows from financing activitie
Issuances of common stock from employee benefitsplaet
Issuances of common stock from stock offerings

Issuances of convertible senior subordinated rolgs February 2013), n

Repayment of collaborator development loan (due REGB)

Principal payments on convertible subordinated si¢deie September 20(

Debt exchange cos
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi
Effect of changes in exchange rates on «

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivale—beginning of periot

Cash and cash equivale—end of perioc
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati

Cash paid for intere:
Cash paid for taxe

Years Ended December 31,

2008

2007 2006

$(459,85) $(391,279) $(206,89)

$ —

32,19¢  27,45¢ 25 86¢
57,988 59,407 39,13
5,021 4,34( 3,341
— — (1,04€)

11 142 10
(632) 155 (7,579
— — (3,520)

— — 5,151
7,831  31,60: (42,329
(7,331) (809) (554)
19,01C 17,38 9,15¢
58  22,03. 4852
(1,229 2,21¢ (9,909)
5,34¢ (1,692) 28C
115,09: (23,439 117,88«
(226,48) (252,47  (22,47%)
(755,42 (317,470 (508,08%)
427,64t  75562( 302,26t
— —  18,36¢
(32,180 (32,41  (32,41)
— 11,22:
(69€) (56¢) 172
(360,65() 405,16t (208,47)
31,98: 31,96 5236
330,14 313,67.
278,60° — —
(19,997 — —
— (42,10 —

— (53) (170)
620,73 (10,190  365,86"
(154) ®) 207
33,45. 142,49, 135,12
355,66. 213,17: 78,04
$389,11' $355,66. $213,17-
$ 667¢ $ 3820 $ 7,21

— % —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of¢insolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. The Company

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated ("\erter the "Company") is in the business of discawgrdeveloping and commercializing
small molecule drugs for the treatment of seridesabkes. Telaprevir, the Company's lead drug catelics an oral hepatitis C protease
inhibitor and one of the most advanced of a newscti antiviral treatments in clinical developmtht targets HCV infection. Telaprevir is
being evaluated in a registration program focusett@atment-naive and treatment-experienced patieitih genotype 1 HCV. The Company
is also developing, among other compounds, VX-andnvestigational potentiator compound in Phasknical development designed for
the treatment of cystic fibrosis ("CF"). In Junéd80the Company entered into a collaboration agestmwith Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V., a
Johnson & Johnson company, relating to telapréinider the collaboration agreement, the Companyétamed exclusive commercial rights
to telaprevir in North America. Janssen has agteds responsible for 50% of the drug developmestscunder the development progran
North America and the Janssen territor

The Company's net loss for 2008 was $468ll®&n, or $3.27 per basic and diluted common shand the Company expects to incur
operating losses at least until it obtains markgtipproval and successfully commercializes a prodigof December 31, 2008, the Comp
had cash, cash equivalents and marketable seswft®832.1 million. The Company expects that tbenfany's current cash, cash
equivalents and marketable securities in additioanhounts the Company expects to receive fronoitalmorators under existing contractual
agreements will be sufficient to fund its operasidor the next twelve months, but that it will nesttitional capital to complete the
development of telaprevir. There can be no assertivat additional financing will be available orceptable terms, if at all. If adequate funds
are not available, the Company may be requiredittait significantly or discontinue one or moretbé Company's research, drug discovery
or development programs or attempt to obtain fuhdsugh arrangements that may require the Compamslinquish rights to certain of the
Company's technologies, drugs or drug candidates.

Vertex is subject to risks common to comesum its industry including, but not limited thhe dependence on the success of the
Company's lead drug candidate, limited experienaiug development, manufacturing, and sales anllatiag, rapid technological change
and competition, uncertain protection of proprigt@chnology, uncertainty about clinical trial comees, the need to comply with government
regulations, share price volatility, the need ttagbadditional funding, uncertainties relatingottarmaceutical pricing and reimbursement,
dependence on collaborative relationships and gatgmoduct liability.

B. Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements ctfliee operations of the Company and its wholly-ed/subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled. The Company operates in one segmentiatauticals, and all revenues are
from United States operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financiatements in conformity with U.S. generally accdmecounting principles requires
management to make certain estimates and assumphiainaffect the reported amounts of assets ahdities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the constditléinancial statements, and the amounts of ree®and expenses during the reported periods
Significant estimates in these consolidated finanstatements have been made in connection
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

with the calculation of revenues, research and|dpweent expenses, stock-based compensation exp@ertsegstructuring expense. The
Company bases its estimates on historical experiand various other assumptions, including in agedimscumstances future projections, that
management believes to be reasonable under therstances. Actual results could differ from thoséngates. Changes in estimates are
reflected in reported results in the period in vahticey become known.

Reclassification in the Preparation of Financiabh&ments

Certain amounts in prior years' financtatsments have been reclassified to conform tetheent presentation. The reclassifications
no effect on the reported net loss.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially dbjthe Company to concentration of credit risksistrprincipally of money market funds and
marketable securities. The Company places thessiments with highly rated financial institutioasd, by policy, limits the amounts of
credit exposure to any one financial institutiohe$e amounts at times may exceed federally indiumitd. The Company has not experien
any credit losses in these accounts and does hevbé is exposed to any significant credit reakthese funds. The Company has no foreign
exchange contracts, option contracts or otherdorexchange hedging arrangements.

The Company's revenues have been gendratad limited number of collaborators in the bdtaology and pharmaceuticals industi
in the United States, Europe and Japan. In 20@8Ctmpany had significant revenue transactions Jétissen that accounted for 68% of the
Company's total revenues. In 2007, the Companystggaificant revenue transactions with Janssen dagdSmithKline that accounted for
59% and 24%, respectively, of the Company's tetatnues. In 2006, the Company had significant negéransactions with Janssen, Merck
and GlaxoSmithKline that accounted for 31%, 27% 20%b, respectively, of the Company's total revenues

Receivables from Janssen, GlaxoSmithKlme Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation represeditét, 17% and 11%, respectively,
the Company's accounts receivable balance at Daexedibh 2008. Receivables from GlaxoSmithKline, 3ansand CFFT represented 44%,
36% and 12%, respectively, of the Company's acsowteivable balance at December 31, 2007. Managdrebeves that credit risks
associated with these collaborators are not siarifi

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments with original maturities of three month¢egs at the date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principdiignoney market funds and debt securities. Changeash and cash equivalents may be
affected by shifts in investment portfolio matwegias well as by actual cash receipts and disbergsm

Marketable Securitie

Marketable securities consist of investraeémtmunicipal bond securities, U.S. governmenhagesecurities, government-sponsored
enterprise securities, high-grade corporate bondsaaset-backed securities that are classifiedathble-forsale. At December 31, 2008,
Company did not hold any asdmeked securities. The Company classifies markedaturities available to fund current operatiasuaren
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Malksidurities are classified as long-term asseth®@oonsolidated balance sheets if (i) they
have been in an unrealized loss position
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

for longer than one year and (ii) the Company hasability and intent to hold them (a) until thergang value is recovered and (b) such
holding period may be longer than one year. MatMdetaecurities are stated at fair value with theirealized gains and losses included as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive ingtoss), which is a separate component of stockdrsleéquity, until such gains and
losses are realized. The fair value of these siesiis based on quoted prices for identical oiilainassets. If a decline in the fair value is
considered other-than-temporary, based on avaibtience, the unrealized loss is transferred fotmer comprehensive income (loss) to the
consolidated statements of operations. There weharges taken for other than temporary declinésii value of marketable securities in
2008, 2007 and 2006. Realized gains and lossedeteemined on the specific identification method are included in interest income in the
consolidated statements of operations. Pleasetefdote E, "Fair Value of Financial Instrument®f further information.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company adopted Financial Accountirap8ards Board ("FASB") Statement No. 123(R), "Stizased Payment" ("SFAS 123
(R)"), on January 1, 2006. SFAS 123(R) revised F/AB&ement No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based @ensation" ("SFAS 123"),
superseded Accounting Principles Board ("APB") @pirNo. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplege("APB 25"), and amended
FASB Statement No. 95, "Statement of Cash FIowSFAS 95"). SFAS 123(R) requires companies to exg@é#ms fair value of employee
stock options and other forms of stock-based eng@@pmpensation over the employees' service pesiottie derived service period for
awards with market conditions. Compensation expendetermined based on the fair value of the awaatte grant date, including estimated
forfeitures, and is adjusted to reflect actualddtfres and the outcomes of certain conditionsagele@efer to Note D, "Stock-based
Compensation Expense," for further information.

Research and Development Exper

All research and development expensesjdling amounts funded by research and developmdaboaations, are expensed as incurred.
On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted EmergaugésTask Force ("EITF") Issue No. 07-3, "Accounfior Nonrefundable Advance
Payments for Goods or Services to Be Used in FlResearch and Development Activities," ("EITF 07;8/5ing a prospective method. The
adoption of EITF 07-3 did not have a material dffatthe Company's consolidated financial statemastof adoption. Pursuant to EITF 87-
the Company defers and capitalizes nonrefundaharae payments made by the Company for researceusopment activities until the
related goods are delivered or the related serameperformed. Prior to the adoption of EITF 07hg Company expensed nonrefundable
advance payments for research and developmenit@stivpon payment.

Research and development expenses are iseahjpf costs incurred in performing research aswkbbpment activities, including salary
and benefits; stockased compensation expense; laboratory suppliestarddirect expenses; contractual services, dietuclinical trial anc
pharmaceutical development costs; commercial suppBstment in telaprevir; and infrastructure costsluding facilities costs and
depreciation expense. The Company evaluates peaibdivhether a portion of its commercial supplyestment may be capitalized as
inventory. Generally, inventory may be capitalizeitlis probable that future revenues will be gexted from the sale of the inventory and
these revenues will exceed the cost of the invgniidie Company is continuing to expense all o€dmmercial supply investment due to the
high risk inherent in drug development.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company's collaborators have fundetigges of the Company's research and developmegtamts related to specific drug
candidates and research targets, including telapo®rtain kinases and certain cystic fibrosisegsh targets in 2008; telaprevir, VX-702,
VX-770, certain kinases and certain cystic fibrasisearch targets in 2007; and telaprevir, VX-R02;770, kinases and certain cystic fibre
research targets in 2006. The Company's collaberatid other research and development revenuespd@820 million, $151.0 million and
$175.1 million, respectively, for 2008, 2007 an@&0The Company's research and development expalhsested to programs in which a
collaborator funded at least a portion of the redeand development expenses were $155.8 milli2é5F million and $222.4 million,
respectively, for 2008, 2007 and 2006.

Restructuring Expens

The Company records costs and liabilitesoaiated with exit and disposal activities, asngefin FASB Statement No. 146,
"Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disjab Activities" ("SFAS 146"), based on estimate$adf value in the period the liabilities
are incurred. In periods subsequent to initial mezrment, changes to the liability are measuredyusia credit-adjusted riskee discount rat
applied in the initial period. In 2008, 2007 and@0the Company recorded costs and liabilitiesefor and disposal activities related to a
restructuring plan in accordance with SFAS 146. lidtglity is evaluated and adjusted as approprétieast on a quarterly basis for changes
in circumstances. Please refer to Note F, "Restring Expense," for further information.

Revenue Recognitic

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the SEC's Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 10Revenue Recognition in Financial
Statements," as amended by SEC Staff AccountinteBuNo. 104, "Revenue Recognition,” and for raxearrangements entered into after
June 30, 2003, EITF Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue Ayearents with Multiple Deliverables" ("EITF 00-21").

The Company's revenues are generated piyrtianough collaborative research, development@ndommercialization agreements. The
terms of these agreements typically include payrteetite Company of one or more of the followingnrefundable, up-front license fees;
funding of research and/or development effortsegstdne payments; and royalties on product sales.

Agreements containing multiple elementsdivaed into separate units of accounting if der@iteria are met, including whether the
delivered element has stand-alone value to thatwothtor and whether there is objective and radiabldence of the fair value of the
undelivered obligation(s). The consideration reediis allocated among the separate units eithérebasis of each unit's fair value or using
the residual method, and the applicable revenuggrétion criteria are applied to each of the sefganaits.

The Company recognizes revenues from nondeble, up-front license fees on a straight-liasi®over the contracted or estimated
period of performance, which is typically the resbaor development term. Research and developmaenirfg is recognized as earned,
ratably over the period of effort.

Substantive milestones achieved in collation arrangements are recognized as earned whaotfesponding payment is reasonably
assured, subject to the following policies in thoseumstances where the Company has obligationairéng after achievement of the
milestone:

. In those circumstances where collection of a sulbistmilestone payment is reasonably assured;timpany has remaining
obligations to perform under the collaboration
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

arrangement and the Company has sufficient evidehtte fair value for the performance of its reniag obligations,
management considers the milestone payment arrénfening obligations to be separate units of asting. In these
circumstances, the Company uses the residual metmel EITF 00-21 to allocate revenues among thestones and the
remaining obligations.

. In those circumstances where collection of a subistamilestone payment is reasonably assuredten@ompany has
remaining obligations to perform under the collation arrangement, but the Company does not hdfieisnt evidence of th
fair value for its remaining obligations, managetrmmsiders the milestone payment and the remamidtigations under the
contract as a single unit of accounting. If thdatmbration does not require specific deliverablespacific times or at the end
the contract term, but rather, the Company's otitiga are satisfied over a period of time, substarmilestone payments are
recognized over the period of performance. Thigslfy results in a portion of the milestone payinesing recognized as
revenue on the date the milestone is achieved ¢gtia¢ applicable percentage of the performancegé¢hat has elapsed as
the date the milestone is achieved, with the ba&ldmeing deferred and recognized over the remajménigpd of performance.

At the inception of each agreement thauithes milestone payments, the Company evaluatethesheach milestone is substantive or
basis of the contingent nature of the milestoneg#igally reviewing factors such as the scientdiwd other risks that must be overcome to
achieve the milestone, as well as the level ofrefind investment required. Milestones that arecnasidered substantive and that do not
the separation criteria are accounted for as le@ayments and recognized on a straight-line loasisthe remaining period of performance.

Payments received or reasonably assured@dtformance obligations are met completely ecegnized as earned.

Royalty revenues typically are recognizeddul upon actual and estimated net sales of lidgarselucts in licensed territories, as
provided by the licensee, and generally are re@eghin the period the sales occur. The Companyaies and adjusts for differences
between actual royalty revenues and estimatedtsos@tenues in the quarter they become known. Td#fences have not historically be
significant.

In the circumstance where the Company bbisits rights to future royalties under a licemggeement and also maintains continuing
involvement in the royalty arrangement (but nongigant continuing involvement in the generatidrtlte cash flows due to the purchaser),
the Company defers recognition of the proceeds=citives for the royalty stream and recognizes tteferred revenues over the life of the
license agreement. The Company recognizes thesgel@irevenues pursuant to the "units-of-revenusthod in accordance with EITF Issue
No. 8¢-18, "Sales of Future Revenues" ("EITF 88-18"). eintthis method, the amount of deferred revenuée teecognized as royalty
revenues in each period is calculated by multightime following: (1) the royalty payments due te fhurchaser for the period by (2) the ratio
of the remaining deferred revenue amount to thed ttimated remaining royalty payments due tgtivehaser over the term of the
agreement.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment are recorded at Bagireciation and amortization is provided usimg straight-line method over the estimated
useful life of the related asset, generally fous¢wen years for furniture and equipment and ttodiee years for computers and software.
Leasehold improvements
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B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

are amortized using the straight-line method olerlésser of the useful life of the improvementtherremaining life of the associated lease.
Major additions and betterments are capitalizedntaaance and repairs to an asset that do not repextend its life are charged to
operations. When assets are retired or otherwigmded of, the assets and related allowances fioeciation and amortization are eliminated
from the accounts and any resulting gain or lossflected in the Company's consolidated statenmarperations.

Investment:

Investments include lorigkm investments recorded using the cost methed@dunting. When the Company holds an ownershipes!
in an entity of less than 20%, and does not hagaHility to exercise significant influence ovee #ntity's operating activities, the Company
accounts for its investment using the cost mettfathy adjustment to the fair value of an investimeflects a decline in the value of that
investment below its cost, the Company considersthdence available to it, including the duratom extent to which the fair value of the
investment has been less than cost, to evaluagxtbat to which the decline is other-than-tempgarHrthe decline is considered other-than-
temporary, the cost basis of the investment ist@ritlown to fair value as a new cost basis andnheunt of the writedown is included in th
Company's consolidated statements of operatiorexeTluere no write-downs of investments in 2008,72002006. Please refer to Note J,
"Altus Investment,” for further information aboiet Company's investment in Altus Pharmaceuticats, |

Income Taxe

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geized for the expected future tax consequencemmgiorary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the income tax lidsessets and liabilities. A valuation allowansapplied against any net deferred tax
asset if, based on the weighted available evidehiemore likely than not that some or all of theferred tax assets will not be realized.

Debt Issuance Costs and Royalty Sale Transactipefse:

Debt issuance costs incurred to completeCtbmpany's convertible subordinated note offerargsdeferred and included in other assets
on the consolidated balance sheets. The debt issuasts are amortized based on the effectiveesttenethod over the term of the related
debt issuance. The amortization expense relatétetdebt issuance costs is included in interestresg on the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company defers direct and incrememsiscassociated with its transaction to sell itsrfirights to its HIV royalty stream by
analogy to FASB Technical Bulletin No. 90-1, "Aceing for Separately Priced Extended Warranty amodlict Maintenance Contracts."
These costs are included in other assets on theolidated balance sheets. The transaction costmeaogtized based on the "units-of-revenue"
method in the same manner and over the same pganwkich the related deferred revenues are recegras royalty revenues. The
amortization expense related to the transactioemsgs is included in royalty expenses on the cim@et statements of operations.

Equity Offering Cost

Expenses incurred in connection with commstmick issuances are recorded as an offset to@uflipaid-in capital on the consolidated
balance sheets.
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B. Accounting Policies (Continued)
Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss consists of net losso#imel comprehensive income (loss), which incluidesign currency translation adjustments
and unrealized gains and losses on certain matketaburities. For purposes of comprehensive lizedodures, the Company does not record
tax provisions or benefits for the net change®meifyn currency translation adjustment, as the Gomjntends to permanently reinvest
undistributed earnings in its foreign subsidiary.

Foreign Currency Translatio

The functional currency of the Companyl®ign subsidiary is the local currency. Assets latillities of the foreign subsidiary are re-
measured into U.S. dollars at rates of exchangéfétt at the end of the year. Revenue and expamseints are re-measured using the
average exchange rates for the period. Net unegbfjains and losses resulting from foreign curreranyslation are included in other
comprehensive income (loss), which is a separateoaent of stockholders' equity. Included in acclated other comprehensive income
(loss) are a net unrealized gain related to foreigmency translation of $27,000, $181,000 and ¥lI@%at December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006, respectively.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Common St

Basic net loss per common share is based thfe weighted-average number of common sharesamaling during the period, excluding
restricted stock that has been issued but is notegted. Diluted net loss per common share ischapen the weighted-average number of
common shares outstanding during the period pldgiadal weighted-average common equivalent shanéstanding during the period when
the effect is dilutive. Common equivalent sharessitefrom the assumed exercise of outstanding siptions (the proceeds of which are then
assumed to have been used to repurchase outstatdahgusing the treasury stock method), the asdummeversion of convertible notes and
the vesting of unvested restricted shares of comstmek. Common equivalent shares have not beendadlin the net loss per common st
calculations because the effect would have bedrddntive. Total potential gross common equivalshares consisted of the following:

At December 31,
2008 2007 2006
(in thousands,
except per share amounts)

Stock options 16,497 15,35¢ 14,27¢
Weightec-average exercise price (per she $29.1¢ $ 28.7C $ 26.4¢
Convertible note 12,42t — 4,44¢
Weightec-average conversion price (per she $ 23.1¢ nle $ 22.8i
Unvested restricted shar 1,851 1,67¢ 1,76¢

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS $5AS 157 establishes a common definition forfalue to be applied under GAAP
requiring use of fair value, establishes a framéwor measuring fair value, and expands disclosib@ut such fair value measurements.
Issued in February 2008, FASB Staff Position NOASA57-1, "Application of FASB Statement No. 157/8SB Statement No. 13 and
Other Accounting Pronouncements That Address Faliné/Measurements for Purposes of Lease Classificat Measurement under
Statement 13," removed leasing transactions aceduot under FASB Statement No. 13, "Accountinglfeases," and related guidance from
the scope of SFAS 157.
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B. Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued in February 2008, FASB Staff Position NOASRA57-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 1%leferred the effective date of
SFAS 157 for financial assets and financial lidiei§i, effective for the Company on January 1, 2@@8not have a material effect on the
Company's consolidated financial statements. Thagamy currently is evaluating the effect of SFAS 1&r nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities on the Company's consdi@hfinancial statements. Please refer to Notd-gir 'Value of Financial Instruments," for
further information.

In October 2008, the FASB issued FASB Seai$ition No. SFAS 157-3, "Determining the Fair ¥&bf a Financial Asset When the
Market for That Asset Is Not Active,” ("FSP 187), to clarify the application of the provisions®FAS 157 in an inactive market and how
entity would determine fair value in an inactiverked. FSP 157-3 was effective upon issuance, imatudrior periods for which financial
statements had not been issued. The implementitie8P 157-3 did not have a material effect onGbepany's consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statefdentl41 (Revised 2007), "Business CombinationSFAS 141(R)"). SFAS 141(R)
establishes principles and requirements for ho&cauirer in a business combination recognizes agmbores in its financial statements, the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdpand any non-controlling interest in the acqui®@FAS 141(R) also provides guidance for
recognizing and measuring the goodwill acquirethenbusiness combination and determines what irdtbom to disclose to enable users of
the financial statements to evaluate the naturdfiandcial effects of business combinations. SFAS(R) became effective on a prospective
basis for financial statements for the Companyr@gg on January 1, 2009. Accordingly, any futusibess combination the Company
enters into would be subject to SFAS 141(R).

In December 2007, the FASB ratified thessrsus reached by the EITF on EITF Issue No. 0&¢tounting for Collaborative
Arrangements” ("EITF 07-1"). EITF 07-1 requireslabbrators to present the results of activitiessbich they act as the principal on a gross
basis and report any payments received from (madether collaborators based on other applicabl&BAr, in the absence of other
applicable GAAP, based on analogy to authoritadieeounting literature or a reasonable, rational, @nsistently applied accounting policy
election. Further, EITF 07-1 clarified the deteration of whether transactions within a collaboratarrangement are part of a vendor-
customer (or analogous) relationship subject taFHEBue No. 01-9, "Accounting for Consideration &i\by a Vendor to a Customer
(Including a Reseller of the Vendor's Products)THEQ07-1 became effective for the Company beginminglanuary 1, 2009. EITF 07-1 is not
expected to have a material effect on the Compauyisolidated financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued StatementI¥d, "Disclosures about Derivative Instrumentd Biedging Activities—an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 133" ("SFAS 161"). SFAS 1$iniended to improve financial reporting aboutivigive instruments and hedging
activities by requiring enhanced disclosures tdénanvestors to better understand their effectamentity's financial position, financial
performance and cash flows. SFAS 161 became eféefdi the Company beginning on January 1, 2008. adoption of SFAS 161 is not
expected to have a material effect on the Compaoyisolidated financial statements.
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C. Common and Preferred Stock
Stock and Option Plans

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $tack-based employee compensation plans: the 1@@k Sption Plan (the "1991 Plan"),
the 1994 Stock and Option Plan (the "1994 Plah®,1996 Stock and Option Plan (the "1996 Plan")thrd2006 Stock and Option Plan (the
"2006 Plan," and together with the 1991 Plan, ®@41Plan and the 1996 Plan, collectively, the "Btad Option Plans") and one Employee
Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"). On May 15, 2@8Company's stockholders approved an increabe inumber of shares of common
stock authorized for issuance under the 2006 Hi&n600,000, to a total of 13,902,380 shares ofmom stock, and an increase in the nun
of shares of common stock authorized for issuancieuthe ESPP of 2,000,000. In connection withStoeek and Option Plans, the Company
issues stock options and restricted stock awarttsservice conditions, which are generally the ingsperiods of the awards. The Company
also issues to certain members of senior managem@&mnicted stock awards that vest upon the eaofidhie satisfaction of a market condition
or a service condition ("PARS").

Under the 2006 Plan, the Company may isssiicted stock and options to its employeesctiirs and consultants for services. Stock
options may be granted under the 2006 Plan eitheptons intended to qualify as "incentive stopkians” ("ISOs") under the Internal
Revenue Code or as non-qualified stock options SR®"). Each option granted under the 2006 Plarahaxercise price equal to the fair
market value of the underlying common stock ondhte of grant. For options issued to current engdgythe date of grant is the date the
option grant is approved by the Company's Boar@icdctors. For grants to new employees, the datganit is the employee's first day of
employment. The price per share of restricted stpakted to employees is equal to $0.01, the daewaf the Company's common stock.
Vesting of options and restricted stock generallyatable over specified periods, usually four geand is determined by the Company's
Board of Directors. All options awarded under tB®@ Plan expire not more than ten years from thetgiate.

Stock options granted under the 1991 Rfen1994 Plan and the 1996 Plan were granted ethE30s or NQSOs. Under the 1991 Plan,
stock options could only be granted to employerdding officers and directors who were employess) to consultants of the Company
(NQSOs only). Under the 1994 Plan and the 1996, Black rights, which may be (i) ISOs when IntefRavenue Code requirements are |
(i) NQSOs, or (iii) shares of common stock or tmportunity to make a direct purchase of sharemofmon stock, could be granted to
employees (including officers and directors whoeargloyees) and consultants, advisors and non-gepldirectors (NQSOs and stock
awards only). Under the 1991 Plan and the 1994, P&Ds could only be granted at a price not leaa the fair market value of the common
stock on the date of the grant, and NQSOs coulgtéeted at an exercise price established by thedBafeDirectors, which could have been
less than, equal to or greater than the fair vafuee common stock on the date of the grant. Stmtlons granted under the 1996 Plan could
not have been granted at a price less than thentaiket value of the common stock on the date afigiVesting is ratable over specified
periods for all plans, is generally four or fiveays, and was determined by the Board of Direct&®s granted under the 1991 Plan, the 1994
Plan and the 1996 Plan must expire not more thagdars from the date of grant.

The ESPP permits eligible employees to lemra twelve-month offering period comprising twix-month purchase periods. Particip:
may purchase shares of the Company's common stowokigh payroll deductions, at a price equal to &§%he fair market value of the
common stock on the first day of the applicablelanonth offering period, or the last day of thmplicable six-month purchase period,
whichever is lower. Purchase dates under the ESBW on or about May 14 and November 14 of each yea
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The Company reserved an aggregate of §00Ghares under the 1991 Plan and 1994 Plan. dmp&hy reserved 22,000,000 shares
under the 1996 Plan and 13,902,380 shares undegof&Plan. At December 31, 2008, the Company patbaimately 16,497,000 stock
options outstanding and approximately 1,851,008tantling and unvested restricted shares. At Dece®ih008, the Company had
approximately 4,595,000 shares of common stocKataifor grants under the 2006 Plan. At Decemhe2808, no shares were available
grants under the 1991 Plan, the 1994 Plan or tBé P%an. As of December 31, 2008, approximately3,@00 shares remained available for
future purchases under the ESPP and approximaél$)60 shares remained available for grant unde4@i(k) Plan.

Rights

Each Vertex shareholder also holds oneeshiarchase right (a "Right") for each share of cammstock owned. Each Right entitles the
holder to purchase from the Company one half offwnedredth of a share of Series A junior participqpreferred stock, $0.01 par value |
"Junior Preferred Shares"), of the Company at eepof $135 per one half of one-hundredth of a Jupieferred Share, subject to adjustment
(the "Purchase Price"). The Rights are not exdoésantil after the acquisition by a person or grafi 15% or more of the outstanding
common stock (an "Acquiring Person"), or after éim@ouncement of an intention to make or the comeraeat of a tender offer or exchange
offer, the consummation of which would result ie theneficial ownership by a person or group of % ore of the outstanding common
stock (the earlier of such dates being called Bisttibution Date"). Until the Distribution Dater(earlier redemption or expiration of the
Rights), the Rights will be traded with, and onlithythe common stock. Until a Right is exercisid Right will not entitle the holder there
to any rights as a stockholder.

If any person or group becomes an AcquiRegson, each holder of a Right, other than Rigateficially owned by the Acquiring
Person, will thereafter have the right to receigeruexercise and payment of the Purchase Pricatimaber of shares of common stock
having a market value of two times the PurchaseeRmnd, if the Company is acquired in a businessbamation transaction or 50% or more
of its assets are sold, each holder of a Rightthélteafter have the right to receive upon exem@kepayment of the Purchase Price that
number of shares of common stock of the acquirorgmany that at the time of the transaction willénavmarket value of two times the
Purchase Price.

At any time after any person becomes aruikitg Person and prior to the acquisition by sperson or group of 50% or more of the
outstanding common stock, the Board of DirectorhhefCompany may cause the Rights (other than Rimlbed by such person or group
be exchanged, in whole or in part, for common stmcBunior Preferred Shares, at an exchange rateeo$hare of common stock per Righ
one half of one-hundredth of a Junior Preferred&par Right.

At any time prior to the acquisition by ergon or group of beneficial ownership of 15% orenaf the outstanding common stock, the
Board of Directors of the Company may redeem tlghRiat a price of $0.01 per Right.

The Rights have certain anti-takeover afgio that they will cause substantial dilutioretperson or group that attempts to acquire a
significant interest in Vertex on terms not appidbg the Board of Directors.
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The Company records stock-based compemnsexipense in accordance with SFAS 123(R), whichireg companies to recognize share-
based payments to employees as compensation expgngehe "fair value" method. The fair value tifck options and shares purchased
pursuant to the ESPP is calculated using the B&utioles valuation model. The fair value of restdcstock awards is typically based on
intrinsic value on the date of grant. Under the Yalue recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R), &tbased compensation, measured at the
grant date based on the fair value of the awanedsgnized as expense ratably over the serviéedodrhe expense recognized over the
service period includes an estimate of awardswiibbe forfeited.

For PARS awards, a portion of the fair eati the common stock on the date of grant is neizegl ratably over a derived service period
that is equal to the estimated time to satisfynlaeket condition. The portion of the fair valuetioé common stock that is recognized over the
derived service period is determined on the bddisenestimated probability that the PARS award wakt as a result of satisfying the market
condition. For the PARS awards granted in 2008728t 2006, the derived service period relatingaich market condition was shorter than
the four-year servicbased vesting period of the PARS. The differenteéen the fair value of the common stock on the @égrant and th
value recognized over the derived service periagddsgnized ratably over the four-year service-amsting period of the PARS. The stock-
based compensation expense recognized over edoh dérived service periods and the four-year serperiods includes an estimate of
awards that will be forfeited prior to the end lo€ tderived service periods or the four-year serpangods, respectively.

Prior to adoption of SFAS 123(R), Vertegarled the effect of forfeitures of restricted &tas they occurred. In connection with the
adoption of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006 usinmpdified prospective method, Vertex recorded a #iildon benefit in 2006 from the
cumulative effect of changing from recording fotfees related to restricted stock awards as theyroed to estimating forfeitures during the
service period.

The effect of stock-based compensation es@eluring the three years ended December 31,288&s follows:

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)

Stocl-based compensation expense by type of av

Stock options $39,44¢ $38,33( $29,80¢

Restricted stock (including PAR: 15,19t 18,41¢ 7,06t

ESPP issuance 3,34: 2,65¢ 2,26¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $57,987 $59,407 $39,137
Effect of stocl-based compensation expense by line il

Research and development expel $45,52¢ $48,41¢ $32,17:

Sales, general and administrative expel 12,46: 10,98¢ 6,96¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $57,987 $59,407 $39,137
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting prite—SFAS 123(R — —  (1,04¢
Stocl-based compensation expense included in ne $57,987 $59,407 $38,09:
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Stock Options

All stock options awarded during 2008, 2@dd 2006 were awarded with exercise prices equhkt fair market value of the Company's
common stock on the date the award was made bg§dhgpany's Board of Directors. Under amendmentsaé®006 Plan adopted on May
2008, no options can be issued with an exercige pess than the fair market value on the dateanitg

The stock options granted during 2008 ideblioptions to purchase 536,625 shares of commagk &he "Contingent Options") at an
exercise price of $18.93 per share that were giaotthe Company's executive officers on Februa®0D8, subject to ratification by the
Company's stockholders. At the Company's 2008 Andigating of Stockholders, the stockholders ratifire Contingent Options as part of
the Company's proposal to increase the numberaséstauthorized for issuance under the 2006 PladetSFAS 123(R), the Contingent
Options are deemed for accounting purposes to hese granted on May 15, 2008 (the date of ratifioaty the Company's stockholders),
and the grant-date fair value of the Contingentid@stis based on a Black-Scholes valuation modstdan the fair market value of the
Company's stock on May 15, 2008. The options gdadteing 2008, 2007 and 2006 had weighted-avereay@-glate fair values per share,
measured on the grant date, of $14.33, $17.45 2008, respectively.

The Company recorded stock-based compensatpense of $39.4 million, $38.3 million and #illion in 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, related to stock options. The stoagdal compensation expense related to stock ofto2607 included $1.9 million related to
stock options accelerated in connection with arcetree officer's severance arrangement.

As of December 31, 2008, there was $76Illomiof total unrecognized compensation expensépfiestimated forfeitures, related to
unvested options granted under the Stock and Opfimms. That expense is expected to be recognimrdaoneighted-average period of
2.66 years.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valnatiodel to estimate the fair value of stock optiahthe grant date. The Black-Scholes
valuation model uses the option exercise priceelbas estimates and assumptions related to thecéegb price volatility of the Company's
stock, the rate of return on risk-free investmethis,expected period during which the options halloutstanding, and the expected dividend
yield for the Company's stock to estimate thealue of a stock option on the grant date. The Comvalidates its estimates a
assumptions through consultations with indepenttert parties having relevant expertise.

The fair value of each option granted urtlerStock and Option Plans during 2008, 2007 & 2vas estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model wiik following weighted-average assumptions:

2008 2007 2006
Expected stock price volatilit 52.7¢% 51.95% 57.1(%
Risk-free interest rat 3.42% 4.81% 4.74%
Expected tern 5.78 year 5.74 year 5.64 year

Expected annual divident — — _
The weighted-average valuation assumptizere determined as follows:

. Expected stock price volatility: Options to purchase the Company's stock withareing terms of greater than one year are
regularly traded in the market. Expected stockepvialatility is calculated using the trailing on@mnth average of daily implied
volatilities prior to grant date.
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. Risk-free interest rate: The Company bases the risk-free interest nathe interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury s#Esiri
in effect at the time of grant for a period that@nmensurate with the assumed expected option term

. Expected term of options: The expected term of options represents thegef time options are expected to be outstanding.
The Company uses historical data to estimate eraplexercise and posggst termination behavior. The Company believet
all groups of employees exhibit similar exercisd post-vest termination behavior and therefore adm¢stratify employees
into multiple groups in determining the expecteadntef options.

. Expected annual dividends: The estimate for annual dividends is $0.00 beeahe Company has not historically paid, and
does not intend for the foreseeable future to paliyidend.

The following table summarizes informatietated to the outstanding and vested options d@08:

Weighted-Average
Weighted-Average

Remaining Aggregate
Stock Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
(in thousands’
(in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 15,35¢ $ 28.7(C
Granted 3,79¢ 25.3¢
Exercisec (1,712 14.0¢€
Forfeited (54€) 28.71
Expired (407) 40.47
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 16,497 $ 29.1¢ 6.2¢ $ 101,85
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 10,74C $ 29.3: 49¢ $ 81,31t
Total exercisable or expected to 15,36( $ 29.1¢ 6.0/ $ 97,99t

The aggregate intrinsic value in the talfleve represents the total pre-tax amount, netertese price, which would have been received
by option holders if all option holders had exeedisll options with an exercise price lower thamtharket price on December 31, 2008,
which was $30.41 based on the average of the midhaav price of the Company's common stock on dadé.

The total intrinsic value (the amount byieththe fair market value exceeded the exercisepof stock options exercised during 2008,
2007 and 2006 was $23.7 million, $28.3 million &&3.4 million, respectively. The total cash recdi®m employees as a result of
employee stock option exercises during 2008, 20@72006 was $24.1 million, $26.3 million and $46ilion, respectively.

The Company settles employee stock optianoises with newly issued common shares.
Restricted Stoc

The Company recorded stock-based compensaxipense of $15.2 million, $18.4 million and $aillion for 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, related to restricted shares outstgnduring those periods. The stock-based compemsaxpense related to restricted stock for
2008 included $0.6 million related to acceleratesting of restricted stock awards in connectiomait executive officer's separation
arrangement. The stock-based compensation expelased to restricted stock for 2007 included $1iMion related to accelerated vesting of
restricted stock awards in connection with an eteewfficer's severance arrangement.
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As of December 31, 2008, there was $25IBomiof total unrecognized stock-based compensagipense, net of estimated forfeitures,
related to unvested restricted stock granted uthdeBtock and Option Plans. The Company expectctmgnize that expense over a weighted-
average period of 2.41 years.

The following table summarizes the restidcstock activity of the Company during 2008:

Restricted Weighted-Average
Stock Grant-Date Fair Value
(in thousands’

(per share)

Outstanding and unvested at December 31, : 1,67¢ $ 26.62
Granted 755 % 24.1%
Vested (418 3 24.7¢
Cancellec (160) $ 28.0¢

Outstanding and unvested at December 31, : 1,851 $ 25.92

The total fair value of the shares vestingng 2008, 2007 and 2006 (measured on the datestihg) was $11.0 million, $22.5 million
and $9.9 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The stock-based compensation expense detatbie ESPP for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $3.8omil$2.7 million and $2.3 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2008, there wa8 #8llion of total unrecognized compensation exggemet of estimated forfeitures,
related to ESPP shares. The Company expects tgmeeathat expense during 2009.

During 2008, the following shares were &bto employees under the ESPP:

Year Ended
December 31, 2008
(shares in thousands

Number of share 362
Average price paid per she $ 22.7i

The weighted-average fair value of eacltipase right granted during 2008, 2007 and 2006348s14, $8.45, and $13.07, respectively.
The following table reflects the weighted-averagsumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuation iiod®008, 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006
Expected stock price volatilit 66.6% 46.9%% 55.84%
Risk-free interest rat 1.1€% 4.02% 4.9%
Expected tern 0.72year 0.70year 0.75year

Expected annual dividen — — —

The expected stock price volatility for BS8fferings is based on implied volatility. The Quany bases the risk-free interest rate on the
interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury securtiesfect at the time of grant for a period thatdgsnmensurate with the assumed expected
The expected term represents purchases and punphidsds that take place within the offering peridbe expected annual dividends
estimate is $0.00 because the Company has notibalp paid, and does not for the foreseeablertitntend to pay, a dividend.
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On January 1, 2008, the Company adoptedBFaiatement No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements" ASE57"), which establishes a
framework for measuring the fair value of assetslabilities pursuant to GAAP and expands the nemgldisclosure regarding assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value. SFA3 hecame applicable to the Company's financi@tassd liabilities on January 1, 2008 and
became applicable to the Company's nonfinancigtassd liabilities on January 1, 2009.

SFAS 157 did not change the standard ftardening whether assets and liabilities shoulddm®rded at cost or at fair value. For assets
and liabilities required to be disclosed at failuea SFAS 157 introduced, or reiterated, a numbé&eyp concepts that form the foundation of
the fair value measurement approach. In accordaitbheSFAS 157, the fair value of the Company'sfiicial assets and liabilities reflects the
Company's estimate of amounts that it would hageived in connection with the sale of the assetsaaf in connection with the transfer of
the liabilities in an orderly transaction betweearket participants at the measurement date. Ineximm with measuring the fair value of its
assets and liabilities, the Company seeks to magitttie use of observable inputs (market data adddiom sources independent from the
Company) and to minimize the use of unobservalgati(the Company's assumptions about how markgtipants would price assets and
liabilities). SFAS 157 establishes the followingr fealue hierarchy for the use of observable in@urtd unobservable inputs in valuing assets
and liabilities:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identicak#ssr liabilities. An active market for an asseli@bility is a market in which
transactions for the asset or liability occur watlfficient frequency and volume to provide pricinéprmation on an ongoing bas

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 inputs. Exaspf Level 2 inputs include quoted prices in a&tivarkets for similar assets
liabilities and quoted prices for identical assmtsiabilities in markets that are not acti

Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the Company's assessf the assumptions that market participantsla@vose in pricing the asset
or liability.

The Company's investment strategy is fodwsecapital preservation. The Company investastriments that meet credit quality
standards as outlined in the Company's investmaittypguidelines. These guidelines also limit tmecaint of credit exposure to any one is
or type of instrument. Beginning in the fourth geaiof 2007, the Company began to shift its investts to instruments that carry less
exposure to market volatility and liquidity presssirAs of December 31, 2008, the majority of thenfany's investments are in money
market instruments and short-term government gteearsecurities.

As of December 31, 2008, all of the Compafipancial assets that were subject to fair vaheasurements were valued using obser
inputs and the Company had no financial liabilitiest were subject to fair value measurement. Tomgany's financial assets valued based
on Level 1 inputs consisted of money market inseots and government-sponsored enterprise secufitiesCompany's money market
instruments and government-sponsored enterprisgiges are government guaranteed. The Compamdsdial assets valued based on
Level 2 inputs consisted of commercial paper angaate bonds. The Company's investments in comatgraper and corporate bonds
consist of high-grade investments. During 2008 ,Gbenpany did not record an impairment charge réledats investments.
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The following table sets forth the Comparfitancial assets subject to fair value measurésrenof December 31, 2008:

Fair Value Measurements
as of December 31, 2008
Fair Value Hierarchy
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in thousands)

Financial assets carried at fair val

Cash equivalent $383,62: $383,62¢ $ — $ —
Marketable securities, available for s 44298t 350,69 92,29 —
Restricted cas 30,25¢ 30,25¢ — —

Total $856,86¢ $764,57° $92,29: $ —

The adoption of SFAS 157 did not have aemialteffect on the Company's consolidated findrst@tements for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2008.

In the first quarter of 2008, the Compaftspadopted the provisions of FASB Statement N8, IBhe Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities—Including an Amereght of FASB Statement No. 115" ("SFAS 159"). SE&S permits the Company to
measure eligible assets and liabilities at faingakith changes in value recognized in earnings.Madue treatment may be elected either
upon initial recognition of an eligible asset @tility or, for an existing asset or liability,ah event triggers a new basis of accounting. In
2008, the Company did not elect to re-measure &itg existing financial assets or liabilities undlee provisions of SFAS 159.

F. Restructuring Expense

In June 2003, Vertex adopted a plan tauesire its operations to coincide with its inciieggnternal emphasis on advancing drug
candidates through clinical development to comnadimtion. The restructuring was designed to redhed the Company's relative
investments in research and development to baetpgast the Company's long-term strategy. The resiring plan included a workforce
reduction, writeeffs of certain assets and a decision not to oceypyoximately 290,000 square feet of specialiabdiatory and office spa
in Cambridge, Massachusetts under lease to Vetiex'Kendall Square Lease"). The Kendall Squareseemmmenced in January 2003 and
has a 15-year term. In the second quarter of 20@5Company revised its assessment of its reakestquirements and decided to use
approximately 120,000 square feet of the facilitjsct to the Kendall Square Lease (the "Kendalia®g Facility") for its operations,
beginning in 2006. The remaining rentable squaoteige of the Kendall Square Facility currentlyusleased to third parties.

In accordance with SFAS 146, the Compainitisl estimate of its liability for net ongoingsts associated with the Kendall Square
Lease obligation was recorded in the second quaft2003 at fair value. The restructuring expemseiired from the second quarter of 2003
through the end of the first quarter of 2005 (irmmediately prior to the Company's decision to agmrtion of the Kendall Square Facility
its operations) relates to the estimated increnh@etaongoing lease obligations associated withetitere Kendall Square Facility, together
with imputed interest costs relating to the regtrting liability. The restructuring expense incutia the period beginning in the second
quarter of 2005 continues to be estimated in aeoare with SFAS 146, but relates only to the portibthe building that the Company
currently does not intend to occupy for its openagi The remaining lease obligations, which are@ated with the portion of the Kendall
Square Facility that the Company occupies and faséts operations, are recorded as rental expenges period incurred. The
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F. Restructuring Expense (Continued)

Company reviews its assumptions and estimateseqlyaand updates its estimates of this liability)changes in circumstances require. As
required by SFAS 146, the expense and liabilitpréed is calculated using probability-weighted distted cash-flows of the Company's

estimated ongoing lease obligations, including @ual rental and buildut commitments, net of estimated sublease rerttitet by relate
sublease costs.

In estimating the expense and liability @nils Kendall Square Lease obligation, the Compstiymated (i) the costs to be incurred to
satisfy rental and build-out commitments underléase (including operating costs), (ii) the leadetinecessary to sublease the space, (iii) the
projected sublease rental rates, and (iv) the ipatied durations of subleases. The Company usesié-adjusted risk-free rate of
approximately 10% to discount the estimated cashidl The Company reviews its estimates and assongptin at least a quarterly basis, and
intends to continue such reviews until the termarabf the Kendall Square Lease, and will make what modifications the Company
believes necessary, based on the Company's begshéurd, to reflect any changed circumstances. Thepgaay's estimates have changed in
the past, and may change in the future, resultirmgditional adjustments to the estimate of thaillig, and the effect of any such adjustments
could be material. Changes to the Company's estinfahe liability are recorded as additional nesturing expense/(credit). In addition,
because the Company's estimate of the liabilitjuohes the application of a discount rate to refthettime-value of money, the Company will
record imputed interest costs related to the lighdlach quarter. These costs are included inuetstring expense on the Company's
consolidated statements of operations.

The restructuring liability of $34.1 millicat December 31, 2008 relates solely to the podfadhe Kendall Square Facility that the
Company does not intend to use for its operatimasicludes other related lease obligations, rembat net present value. The Company
classified $6.3 million of the total restructuritigbility at December 31, 2008 as short-term, a@d.$ million as long-term. The short-term
portion of the restructuring liability represente thet amount the Company expects to pay in 2009.

In 2003, the Company recorded restructuaing other related expenses of $91.8 million. T9&million included $78.7 million of
lease restructuring expense, $6.0 million of legserating expense incurred prior to the decisidrntmoccupy the Kendall Square Facility,
$2.6 million for severance and related employeesiteon benefits and $4.5 million for a writ#f of leasehold improvements and other as:
The activity related to restructuring and othebility for 2003 was as follows:

Liability

Non-cash as of
Cash December 31

Charge payments  write- off
in 2003 in 2003 in 2003 2003
(in thousands)

Lease restructuring and other operating lease $84,72¢ $(15,200 $ — $ 69,52¢
Employee severance, benefits and related « 2,61¢ (2,61¢) — —
Leasehold improvements and asset impairm 4,48 — (448 —
Total $91,82¢ $(17,81¢) $(4,487) $ 69,52¢
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The activity related to the restructurimgce December 31, 2003 is as follows:
Restructuring

Liability

(in thousands’

Liability: December 31, 2003 $ 69,52¢
Cash payments in 20( (31,550
Cash received from sublease, net of operating cios?904 29:¢
Additional charge in 200 17,57«

Liability: December 31, 2004 55,84:
Cash payments in 20( (24,229
Cash received from subleases in 2 3,23¢
Credit for portion of facility Vertex decided to @gpy in 200! (10,019
Additional charge in 200 18,15:

Liability: December 31, 2005 42,98:
Cash payments in 20( (21,607
Cash received from subleases in 2 8,047
Additional charge in 200 3,651

Liability: December 31, 2006 33,07:
Cash payments in 20( (12,859
Cash received from subleases in 2 7,954
Additional charge in 200 7,11¢

Liability: December 31, 2007 35,29:
Cash payments in 20( (24,017
Cash received from subleases in 2 8,46¢
Additional charge in 200 4,32¢

Liability: December 31, 2008 $ 34,06/

In 2004, the Company recorded restructueiyense of $17.6 million primarily as the restlagevision of estimates and assumptions
about when subtenants would be identified and selcand imputing an interest charge for the relegsttucturing liability.

In 2005, the Company recorded net restringiexpense of $8.1 million. This net expensetdek a $10.0 million credit to the
restructuring liability made when the Company deditb occupy and use a portion of the Kendall Sgj&racility, which was offset by (i) the
estimated incremental net ongoing lease obligatimssciated with the portion of the Kendall Squraaeility that the Company does not
intend to occupy and (ii) imputed interest costatieg to the restructuring liability. The portiarf the $18.2 million additional charge in 2005
that was for incremental lease obligations wagedlto the revision of certain key estimates amstimptions about operating costs, including
real estate taxes associated with the portioneoKindall Square Facility that the Company doesntend to occupy.

In 2006, the Company recorded restructueiyense of $3.7 million, which was primarily ditrtable to imputed interest and to build-
out costs relating to the restructuring liability.

In 2007, the Company recorded restructueygense of $7.1 million, which was primarily tlesult of revising certain key estimates and
assumptions in the first quarter of 2007 aboutding operating costs for the remaining period efldase commitment and the imputed
interest cost relating to the restructuring liapili
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In 2008, the Company recorded restructueygense of $4.3 million, which was primarily ditrtable to imputed interest cost relating to
the restructuring liability.

G. Marketable Securities

A summary of cash, cash equivalents andetalle securities is shown below:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Amortized
December 31, 2008 Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalel
Cash and money market fur $389,11! ¢ — $ — $389,11!

Total cash and cash equivale $389,11' ¢ — $ — $389,11!

Marketable securitie
Governmer-sponsored enterprise securit

Due within 1 yea $347,98. $ 2,71 $ — $350,69!
Total governmer-sponsored enterprise securit ~ $347,98. $ 2,71: $350,69!
Corporate debt securitit

Due within 1 yea $9186: $ 426 $ — $ 92,29
Total corporate debt securiti $9186: $ 428 $ — $ 92,29

Total marketable securitie $439,84! ¢ 3,141 $ — $442,98¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sz $828,96( $ 3,141 $ — $832,10:
December 31, 2007
Cash and cash equivalel
Cash and money market fur $355,66. $§ — $ — $355,66!
Total cash and cash equivale $355,66. $§ — $ — $355,66!
Marketable securitie
Governmer-sponsored enterprise securit
Due within 1 yea $1102¢ $ 49 $ (7) $ 11,06¢
Due after 1 year through 5 ye: 38,971 73C (44) 39,657

Total governmer-sponsored enterprise securit ~ $ 49,997 $ 77¢ $ (51) $ 50,72t
Corporate debt securitit

Due within 1 yea 41,02( 62 (90)  40,99:
Due after 1 year through 5 ye: 20,41¢ 121 (120) 20,41¢
Total corporate debt securiti $6143t $ 18: $ (210 $ 61,40¢
Total marketable securitie $111,43: $ 96z $ (261) $112,13!
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sz $467,09' $ 96z $ (261) $467,79¢
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The Company has marketable securities 48®million and $105.2 million classified as cunrassets on the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respgctwvel $0 and $6.9 million classified as long teagsets on the consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respgctive

The Company reviews investments in marketaécurities for other-that@mporary impairment whenever the fair value ofrarestmen
is less than amortized cost and evidence indidhtdsan investment's carrying amount is not recaserwithin a reasonable period of time.
To determine whether an impairment is other-thanptrary, the Company considers whether it hasbiigyaand intent to hold the
investment until a market price recovery and camrsidvhether the evidence indicating the cost ofrthestment is recoverable outweighs
evidence to the contrary. Evidence consideredinatsessment includes reasons for the impairmemypliance with the Company's
investment policy, the severity and the duratiothefimpairment and changes in value subsequemaoend.

The Company owned 46 available-for-saleketaible securities at December 31, 2008. Of théssedurities, there were no securities
with unrealized losses.

The following table summarizes the fairueahnd gross unrealized losses related to markesablrities, aggregated by investment
category and length of time that individual sec¢esithave been in a continuous unrealized lossiposis of December 31, 2007:

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los  Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los  Fair Value  Gross Unrealized Los
(in thousands)

Governmer-sponsored enterprise securi $ 36  $ — $ 887 % (51) $ 8,90¢ % (52)
Corporate debt securitit 19,41¢ (123 15,57; (87) 34,99. (210
Total $19,45.  $ (127) $24,44¢ ~ $ (136) $43,90( $ (261)

As of December 31, 2007, unrealized logséise portfolio related to various debt securifieduding U.S. government agency securit
government-sponsored enterprise securities, camdebt securities and asset-backed securitieshEse securities, the unrealized losses
were primarily due to increases in interest raté® investments held by the Company were high invest grade and there were no adverse
credit events. Because the Company had the abilidyintent to hold these investments until a regoeéfair value, which may be maturity,
the Company did not consider these investments tther-than-temporarily impaired as of December2807.

Gross realized gains and losses for 2008 $@43,000 and $310,000, respectively. Grosszezhljains and losses for 2007 were
$122,000 and $277,000, respectively. Gross reaia@ts and losses for 2006 were $4,000 and $88r68pectively.

H. Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Combety $30.3 million in restricted cash. At DecemBg&y 2008 and 2007 the balance was
held in deposit with certain banks predominantlgatiateralize conditional stand-by letters of dténlthe names of the Company's landlords
pursuant to certain operating lease agreements.
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I. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg at December 31.:

2008 2007
(in thousands)

Furniture and equipme $118,29: $110,04:
Leasehold improvemen 84,40: 83,05¢
Software 37,89 26,58¢
Computers 21,32¢ 20,20:
Total property and equipment, grc 261,90¢ 239,88t
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize 193,57¢ 173,37¢
Total property and equipment, r $ 68,33. $ 66,50¢

Depreciation and amortization expenseHtentears ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 200$30a% million, $27.3 million and
$25.4 million, respectively.

In 2008, 2007 and 2006, the Company wréteeartain assets that were fully depreciated amtbnger utilized. There was no effect on
the Company's net property and equipment. Additipndne Company wroteff or sold certain assets that were not fully @éepated. The los
on disposal of those assets was $11,000 for 20G8,800 for 2007 and $10,000 for 2006.

J. Altus Investment

Altus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Altus") corefgd an initial public offering in January 2006. &sesult of investments Vertex had made in
Altus while Altus was a private company, Vertex @dr817,749 shares of Altus common stock and wartanpurchase 1,962,494 shares of
Altus common stock (the "Altus Warrants"). In adlthit the Company, as of the completion of the affgrheld 450,000 shares of Altus
redeemable preferred stock, which are not converititto common stock and which are redeemable T6t@ per share plus accrued
dividends at Vertex's option on or after DecemiderZ®10, or by Altus at any time. Dividends haverbaccruing at an annual rate of $0.50
per share since the redeemable preferred stocksaaed in 1999. The Company was restricted frodingpAltus securities for a period of ¢
months following the initial public offering.

In July 2006, the Company sold 817,749 ehaf Altus common stock for $11.7 million, resudfiin a realized gain of $7.7 million.
Upon the expiration of the trading restrictionsluly 2006, the Company began accounting for thasWarrants as derivative instruments
under the FASB Statement No. 133, "Accounting ferilative Instruments and Hedging Activities" ("SEA33"). In accordance with
SFAS 133, in the third quarter of 2006, the Compaprded the Altus Warrants on its consolidatddrize sheets at a fair market value of
$19.1 million and recorded an unrealized gain enf#tir market value of the Altus Warrants of $4.@ion. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the
Company sold the Altus Warrants for $18.3 milliogsulting in a realized loss of $0.7 million. Asesult of the Company's sales of Altus
common stock and Altus Warrants, the Company resgbednet realized gain on a sale of investmeni@fZmillion in 2006.
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Accrued expenses and other current ligdslitonsist of the following at December 31.:

2008 2007
(in thousands)
Research and development contract ¢ $43,61F $62,46¢
Payroll and benefit 39,83t 25,78
Professional fee 6,081 5,95z
Other 4,672 4,151
Total $94,20¢ $98,35(

Other obligations of $21.3 million consiéta deposit received from a collaborator for pagdriuture obligations of the Company.
L. Commitments

The Company leases its facilities and aegguipment under non-cancelable operating led$esCompany's leases have terms through
July 2019. The term of the Kendall Square Leasaidanuary 1, 2003 and lease payments commendéalyi2003. Rent payments will be
subject to increase in May 2013, based on chamgas inflation index. These increases will be &dais contingent rentals. The Kendall
Square Lease will expire in 2018, and the Compasythe option to extend the term for two conseeutvms of ten years each, ultimately
expiring in 2038. The Company occupies and usegdaperations approximately 120,000 square fedteoKendall Square Facility. The
Company has sublease arrangements in place foerttaining rentable square footage of the Kendallb®eg Facility, with initial terms that
expire in April 2011 and August 2012. See NoteRgstructuring Expense" for further information.

As of December 31, 2008, future minimum ogitments under facility operating leases with namaelable terms of more than one year
are as follows:

Sublease income fc

Kendall Square Other Operating  Total Operating
Kendall Square
Year Lease Facility Leases Leases
(in thousands)

2009 $ 24830 $ (8,15¢) $ 20,507 $ 37,181
2010 24,83( (8,156 17,98: 34,65¢
2011 24,83( (4,466€) 5,78¢ 26,15:
2012 24,83( (1,747 6,76( 29,84
2013 26,18¢ — 5,191 31,37
Thereafte 116,41. — 8,30¢ 124,72:
Total minimum lease paymel $ 241,92( $ (22,527 $ 64,53t $ 283,93(

In January 2009 the leases of specifietlitias in Cambridge, Massachusetts were extendezligh December 2015. The commitments
related to the lease extensions are as follow4: $8lion in 2010, $17.8 million in 2011, $18.4 twh in 2012, $19.0 million in 2013 and
$39.7 million thereafter.

Rental expense for 2008 was $31.1 milliehich included $10.7 million related to the Kendadjuare Facility. Rental expense for 2007
was $28.1 million, which included $9.9 million ridd to the
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L. Commitments (Continued)

Kendall Square Facility. Rental expense for 2006 $26.7 million, which included $9.5 million reldte the Kendall Square Facility.

The Company has future contractual commitsa connection with its research and developmesgrams. For 2009 and 2010 the
amount committed under these contracts is $8.7amiind $0.8 million, respectively.

M. Convertible Subordinated Notes Due 2007 and 2011

On January 1, 2006, the Company had outstgr$118.0 million in aggregate principal amouhba5% Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes due in February 2011 (the "20dies") and $42.1 million in aggregate principaloamt of 5% Convertible Subordinated
Notes due in September 2007 (the "2007 Notes").2lHd Notes and 2007 Notes were convertible, apphien of the holder, into commc
stock at a price per share equal to $14.94 an@®89&spectively.

In the third quarter of 2006, the Compargteanged approximately 4.1 million shares of neisgyed common stock for $58.3 million
aggregate principal amount of then outstanding 204tes plus interest. As a result of this exchatiye Company incurred a non-cash charge
of $5.2 million in 2006. This charge correspondethe value of additional shares issued in thestetion over the number that would have
been issued upon the conversion of the 2011 Natdsrutheir original terms, at the original convensprice of $14.94 per share.

In the first quarter of 2007, the Compaaifed all of the remaining outstanding 2011 Notasrédemption. In response and pursuant to
the terms of the 2011 Notes, the holders of allttstanding 2011 Notes converted, at a price équbl4.94 per share, their $59.6 million in
aggregate principal amount of 2011 Notes into 3482 shares of the Company's common stock.

In the third quarter of 2007, the Compasyaid upon maturity the outstanding principal acctaed interest on the remaining
$42.1 million in principal amount of 2007 Notes.

The following items related to the 2006 leeaege and the 2007 conversion were recorded affsa t additional paid-in capital on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets: accrug@shteemaining unamortized issuance costs ofstbeamged and converted notes and
issuance costs of the common stock.

For the years ended December 31, 2007 @06, 20.2 million and $0.5 million, respectivelyasvamortized to interest expense for the
issuance costs of the then outstanding 2007 Noshee 2011 Notes.

N. Equity and Debt Offerings

On September 23, 2008, the Company conpbateoffering of 8,625,000 shares of common sttio (September 2008 Equity
Offering"), which were sold at a price of $25.50 pkare. This offering resulted in $217.4 millidmet proceeds to the Company. The
underwriting discount of $2.2 million and other erges of $0.3 million related to the September Zofidty Offering were recorded as an
offset to additional paid-in-capital.

On February 19, 2008, the Company completedurrent offerings of $287.5 million in aggrematincipal amount of 4.75%
convertible senior subordinated notes due 2013"gB&3 Notes") and 6,900,000 shares of common gtbek'February 2008 Equity
Offering"), which were sold at a price of $17.14 pkare.
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The convertible debt offering resulted @t proceeds of $278.6 million to the Company. Theeauwriting discount of $8.6 million and
other expenses of $0.3 million related to the catite debt offering were recorded as debt issuaosts and are included in other assets on
the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Thei&®t2008 Equity Offering resulted in net proceefi$112.7 million to the Company.

The underwriting discount of $5.3 million and otlespenses of $0.2 million related to the Febru@@&Equity Offering were recorded as an
offset to additional paid-in-capital.

The 2013 Notes are convertible, at theamptif the holder, into common stock at a price étpapproximately $23.14 per share, subject
to adjustment. The 2013 Notes bear interest atateeof 4.75% per annum, and the Company is redjtirenake semi-annual interest
payments on the outstanding principal balance @213 Notes on February 15 and August 15 of eaah {¥he 2013 Notes will mature on
February 15, 2013.

On or after February 15, 2010, the Compaay redeem the 2013 Notes at its option, in whoie part, at the redemption prices stated
in the indenture, plus accrued and unpaid inteifesty, to, but excluding, the redemption datelddos may require the Company to
repurchase some or all of their 2013 Notes upomtiserrence of certain fundamental changes of Xeds set forth in the indenture, at 10
of the principal amount of the 2013 Notes to baurepased, plus any accrued and unpaid interemtyifto, but excluding, the repurchase
date.

If a fundamental change occurs that is alspecific type of change of control under theeirtdre, the Company will pay a make-whole
premium upon the conversion of the 2013 Notes imeation with any such transaction by increasimgapplicable conversion rate on such
2013 Notes. The make-whole premium will be in addito, and not in substitution for, any cash, sies or other assets otherwise due to
holders of the 2013 Notes upon conversion. The mdi@e premium will be determined by reference ®ittdenture and is based on the
on which the fundamental change becomes effectideltze price paid, or deemed to be paid, per stfatee Company's common stock in the
transaction constituting the fundamental changiejestito adjustment.

If an event of default under the indentuglates solely to the Company's failure to compiyits reporting obligations pursuant to the
2013 Notes, at the election of the Company, the sahedy of the holders of the 2013 Notes for its¢ 180 days following such event of
default would consist of the right to receive spétiterest at an annual rate equal to 1.0% obtlistanding principal amount of the 2013
Notes.

Based on the Company's evaluation of tH820otes in accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-2ecbunting for Derivative Financial
Instruments Indexed to, and Potentially Settlechi@ompany's Own Stock," and FASB Statement No, @& ounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities," the Compantedained that the 2013 Notes contain a single ehbeéderivative. This embedded
derivative relates to potential penalty interestrpants that could be imposed on the Company failaré to comply with its reporting
obligations pursuant to the 2013 Notes. This eméeddttrivative required bifurcation as the featues wot clearly and closely related to the
host instrument. The Company has determined teatdhue of this embedded derivative was nominalf&ebruary 19, 2008 and
December 31, 2008.

At December 31, 2008, the Company had $8iillion outstanding in aggregate principal amoofithe 2013 Notes. At December 31,
2008, the 2013 Notes had a fair value of $391.0aniks obtained from a quoted market source.
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In September 2006, the Company complefaabiic offering of 10,900,000 shares of common Iste¢hich were sold at a price of
$33.00 per share. This offering resulted in netpeadls of $313.7 million to the Company. The undiinvg discount of $15.7 million and
other expenses of $0.6 million related to this iirfilg were recorded as an offset to additional paidapital.

O. Income Taxes

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2082006, there is no provision for income taxetuded in the consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company's federal statutory incomerdde for 2008, 2007 and 2006 was 34%. The Compasyriturred losses from operations
has not recorded an income tax benefit for 20087 2hd 2006, as the Company has recorded a valuatawance against its net operating
losses and other net deferred tax assets due éotaimties related to the realizability of these aasets.

The difference between the Company's "etgadax provision (benefit), as computed by apmpdyihe U.S. federal corporate tax rate of
34% to loss before provision for income taxes, actdial tax is reconciled as follows:

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)
Loss before provision for income tax $(459,85) $(391,279) $(206,89)
Expected tax benefit at 34 (156,349 $(133,03) $ (70,349
State taxes, net of federal ben (28,839 (24,539  (12,97)
Unbenefited operating loss 185,01¢ 157,33 81,59:
Non-deductible expense 127 91 1,815
Other 39 14C (95)
Income tax provisiol $ — $ — 3 =

For federal income tax purposes, as of Béez 31, 2008, the Company has net operating krsgforwards of approximately
$1.9 billion, and $45.6 million of tax credits, whimay be used to offset future federal incometardiability, respectively. For state income
tax purposes, the Company has net operating losg@avards of approximately $1.2 billion, and $8illion of tax credits, which may be
used to offset future state income and tax lighiléspectively. These operating loss carryforwémeigan to expire in 2005, and the tax credit
carryforwards began to expire in 2004. After coesition of all the evidence, both positive and tiggamanagement has established a
valuation allowance for the full amount of the 2@iSerred tax asset since it is more likely thanthat the deferred tax asset will not be
realized.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities areaeined based on the difference between finantagment and tax bases using enacted tax
in effect for the year in which the differences arpected to reverse. The components of the defftaxes at December 31 were as follows:

2008 2007
(in thousands)

Deferred Tax Asset:

Net operating los $ 563,27 $ 438,04«
Tax credit carryforward 66,32( 54,72
Property and equipme 19,08¢ 17,72¢
Deferred revenue 99,65¢ 51,04(
Stocl-based compensatic 41,09° 26,61
Capitalized research and developrnr 3,83 9,711
Accrued expenses and ott 11,04( 15,83:
Gross Deferred Tax Asse 804,30t 613,68t
Valuation Allowance (793,249 (602,63()
Total Deferred Tax Asse 11,05¢ 11,05¢
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Gain on Investmer (12,059 (11,059
Net Deferred Tax Assets/(Liabilitie $ — 3 —

As discussed in Note D "Stock-based Comgéars Expense,” the Company adopted SFAS 123(Ryife January 1, 2006 for stock-
based compensation plans. Generally, tax returndadieshs are allowable on such arrangements, but,arise in different amounts and
periods from when compensation costs are recogiizéet financial statements. Pursuant to SFASRP3{ the tax return deduction for an
award exceeds the cumulative compensation expensgmized in the financial statements, any ex@sbéanefit shall be recognized as
additional paid-in capital when the deduction resgtuimcome tax payable. The net tax amount of thealimed excess tax benefits as of
December 31, 2008 is approximately $111.7 millibme gross amount of this excess tax deductioneamé#t operating loss carryforward is
approximately $284.0 million.

The valuation allowance increased by $18@ilBon during 2008 due primarily to the incredasenet operating losses from operations
tax credits.

Effective January 1, 2007, the Company #stbfhe provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48¢c€ounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. {0BIN 48"). At December 31, 2008 and December 3072 the Company had no
material unrecognized tax benefits and no adjustsnteniiabilities or operations were required uneM 48. The Company does not expect
that its unrecognized tax benefits will materialigrease within the next twelve months. The Compiidynot recognize any interest or
penalties related to uncertain tax positions atdbdmer 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

The Company files United States federabine tax returns and income tax returns in vari¢ai® slocal, and foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to any tax assessfr@mmtan income tax examination in any major tayungsdiction for years before 2004,
except where the Company has utilized net operétsges or tax credit carryforwards that origindtetbre 2004. The Company currently is
under examination by the Internal Revenue Servitle respect to 2006. The Company is not under exatian by any other jurisdictions for
any tax year.
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The Company has formed strategic collalmmatwith pharmaceutical companies and other orgdioins in the areas of drug discovery,
development, and commercialization. Research, dpuent and commercialization agreements provid€trapany with financial support
and other valuable resources for its research progy for the development of clinical drug candidasad for the marketing and sales of
products. In the Company's collaborative reseatetielopment and commercialization programs the Gmygeeks to discover, develop and
commercialize pharmaceutical products in conjumctigth and supported by the Company's collaborat@odiaborative research and
development arrangements may provide researchrfgralier an initial contract period with renewal daadnination options that vary by
agreement. The agreements may also include nondealfle, up-front license fees as well as milesfzmanents based on the achievement of
a pre-agreed objective or the occurrence of a dasig event. The agreements may also contain gevelat expense reimbursement
provisions, royalty rights or profit sharing rightsxd manufacturing options. The Company has eshiate significant research and
development collaborations under terms that vasgnfagreement to agreement.

Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.

In June 2006, the Company entered intdlatmaration agreement with Janssen for the devedopmanufacture and commercialization
of telaprevir, the Company's lead investigativediitis C virus protease inhibitor. Under the agreatnJanssen has agreed to be responsible
for 50% of the drug development costs incurred utitke development program for the parties' teiigg(North America for the Company,
and the rest of the world, other than the Far Hastlanssen) and has exclusive rights to comniaeigelaprevir in its territories including
Europe, South America, the Middle East, Africa aastralia. Under the development program for tedapr each party is incurring
reimbursable drug development cost. Reimbursaldts¢ocurred by Janssen are offset against reirbl&rgosts incurred by the Company.
Amounts that Janssen pays to the Company for resement, after the offset, are recorded as revedesrdingly, as Janssen incurs
increased costs under the development prograngdhgany's revenues attributable to the reimbursearerreduced correspondingly.

Janssen made a $165.0 million up-fronnleepayment to the Company in July 2006. The uptfioense payment is being amortized
over the Company's estimated period of performamcker the collaboration agreement. Under the aggagrdanssen agreed to make
contingent milestone payments, which could totalai380.0 million if telaprevir is successfullywddoped, approved and launched as a
product. As of December 31, 2008, the Company laadegl $100.0 million of these contingent milestpagments under the agreement. The
principal remaining milestones under the Compaagieement with Janssen relate to filing for marigetiuthorization for telaprevir with the
European Medicines Evaluation Agency and the lawifdhblaprevir in the European Union. The agreena¢sd provides the Company with
royalties on any sales of telaprevir in the Jans$seitories, with a tiered royalty averaging ire timid-20% range, as a percentage of net sales
in the Janssen territories, depending upon suadessihmercialization of telaprevir. Each of thetpsr will be responsible for drug supply in
their respective territories. However, the agredameovides for the purchase by Janssen from thepgaosnof materials required for Janssen's
manufacture of the active pharmaceutical ingredienaddition, Janssen will be responsible foraiarthird-party royalties on net sales in its
territories. Janssen may terminate the agreemehowuticause at any time upon six months' notidceeédCompany.
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During 2008, the Company recognized $12Gllion in revenues under the Janssen agreememthviticludes an amortized portion of
the up-front payment, a milestone payment of $4&illlon in connection with commencement of patientoliment in the Company's first
Phase 3 clinical trial of telaprevir, a milestorsyment of $10.0 million in connection with the coemement of the Phase 2 clinical trial of
telaprevir in patients with genotype 2 and genotyp¢CV infection, and net reimbursements from Jander telaprevir development costs.
During 2007, the Company recognized $117.7 milllorevenues under the Janssen agreement, whickdeshn amortized portion of the up-
front payment, a milestone payment of $15.0 millioconnection with commencement of patient enrelitin PROVE 3, a milestone
payment of $15.0 million for achieving specifiedeinm results from the Company's Phase 2 clinigallst of telaprevir in treatment-naive
patients, and net reimbursements from Jansseelfgrevir development costs. During 2006, the Compacognized $68.0 million in
revenues under the Janssen agreement, which isciudamortized portion of the digpnt payment, a milestone of $15.0 million for &sting
specified interim results in PROVE 1, and net rainskments from Janssen for telaprevir developmastsc

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpochte

In May 2004, Vertex entered into an agrestméth Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeuticsolporated ("CFFT") that provided
funding through December 31, 2005 for Vertex's-k#ge cystic fibrosis drug discovery effort. Ir0BQVertex amended its agreement with
CFFT to extend the term of funding into 2008. Unttier amended agreement, Vertex retains the rigihévelop and commercialize VX-770,
VX-809 and any other compounds discovered in teearch collaboration, and will pay royalties to Tk net sales of any drug candidate
approved and commercialized under the collaboratio2008, 2007 and 2006, Vertex recognized $0l8amj $15.9 million and
$12.6 million, respectively, in revenues relateitsmgreement with CFFT.

Merck & Co., Inc.

In June 2004, Vertex entered into a glaodibboration with Merck to develop and commera@lAurora kinase inhibitors for the
treatment of cancer. The Merck collaboration age@rprovided for an up-front license payment of &i#llion, which was made in June
2004, and for research funding of $14 million otveo years, ending in June 2006. In 2006, the Companeed with Merck to extend the
research program term and corresponding reseanclniy for the parties' ongoing research collaborator an additional three months
beyond the original research program terminatide.déertex could also receive as much as $350anillh milestone payments. Merck is
responsible for worldwide clinical development amtnmercialization all compounds developed undecti@boration and will pay the
Company royalties on any product sales. Merck meayinate the agreement at any time without cause @p days' advance written notice,
except that six months' advance written noticedgiired for termination at any time when a prodag marketing approval in a major market
and the termination is not the result of a safstyé. Merck is currently developing MK-5108 (VX-$88nd has selected several other
compounds for potential development. In 2008, \fergeeived one milestone payment from Merck foO$6illion. In 2007, Vertex received
one milestone payment from Merck for $9.0 millitm2006, Vertex received three milestone paymemwis Merck totaling $36.3 million.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatit

In June 2004, Vertex entered into a coltabon agreement with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma @®atpon, pursuant to which Mitsubishi
Tanabe agreed to provide financial and other sugpor
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the development and commercialization of telaprévirder the terms of the agreement, Mitsubishi Bartaas the right to develop and
commercialize telaprevir in Japan and certain offa@rEast countries. The agreement provides fompays by Mitsubishi Tanabe to Vertex
through Phase 2 clinical development, includingipfront license fee, development stage milest@yarents and reimbursement of certain
drug development costs for telaprevir. Mitsubisan@be has commenced Phase 3 clinical developmégiapfevir. The Company is
currently negotiating the extent of Mitsubishi Thaa future sharing of the Company's costs beydadd>2 clinical development as provided
in the agreement. The agreement also provides Xait royalties on any sales of telaprevir in Misubishi Tanabe territory. Mitsubishi
Tanabe may terminate the agreement at any timeutitause upon 60 days' prior written notice. ferezognized $9.9 million, $4.4 millic
and $8.6 million in revenues under this agreeme2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The revematgde an amortized portion of the up-
front payment, milestone achievements, and reindmiest of certain of Vertex's expenses incurreélaprevir development.

Novartis Pharma A(

In May 2000, the Company entered into aeeagent with Novartis Pharma AG to collaboratetendiscovery, development and
commercialization of small molecule drugs direci¢grotein kinases. The agreement was amendedmidgy 2004. Under the original
agreement, the Company was responsible for drugdésy and clinical proof-oéoncept testing of all drug candidates. Novartieed to pa
the Company research funding through April 2006} @mnmake loans to the Company on a non-interestifge basis to support clinical proof-
of-concept studies. Development loans with respeahyodrug candidates accepted by Novartis for dgvednt would be forgiven. Under t
amended agreement, Vertex continued to receivargséunding through April 2006 along with develoggmhmilestone payments and
royalties with respect to drug candidates selelsyeNovartis for development. Following completiditioe research term, Novartis'
development option with respect to all compoundsaliered in the research program, none of whicle Wem in development by Novartis,
had expired. Vertex retains all rights to thosedidates, as well as to all of the intellectual pndyp it generated under the collaboration. In
2006, the Company recognized $17.6 million in rexenunder this agreement. In May 2008, the Compgpsid the $20.0 million in loans
outstanding under the loan facility.

Kissei Pharmaceutical Co., Lt

The Company and Kissei Pharmaceutical Gd.,were parties to an agreement to collaborattheridentification of inhibitors of p38
MAP kinase and the development of those compousd®eel, orally active drugs for the treatmentrdflammatory and neurological
diseases. In 2007 and 2006, approximately $3.8aomiind $6.4 million, respectively, was recogniasdevenues under this agreement. In
2007, the Company concluded its agreement withekiss the development and commercialization of Y02 in the Far East, and the
Company received no revenues related to this agneeim 2008. The Company retains worldwide develepnand commercial rights to VX-
702.

GlaxoSmithKline plc

In the fourth quarter of 2005, GlaxoSmitime€l and the Company entered into a collaborativeeagent to develop and commercialize
VX-409 and certain back-up compounds, which weiagmvestigated for the treatment of pain. Undher terms of the agreement,
GlaxoSmithKline had the exclusive right and licetselevelop and commercialize VX-409 and certaickbap compounds worldwide.
Revenues earned from GlaxoSmithKline under thisement were $0 and $2.4 million in

F-34




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)

P. Significant Revenue Arrangements (Continued)

2007 and 2006, respectively. Development undecdfiaborative agreement terminated in the fourtartpr of 2007, and the Company
earned no revenues under this agreement in 2008.

Q. GlaxoSmithKline plc Collaboration and Sale of HV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Stream

In December 1993, the Company and Glaxd8ftiite plc ("GlaxoSmithKline") entered into a cdllaration agreement to research,
develop and commercialize HIV protease inhibitavsluding Agenerase (amprenavir) and Lexiva/Tellmsamprenavir calcium). Under the
collaboration agreement, GlaxoSmithKline agreepéayp the Company royalties on net sales of drugeldped under the collaboration.

The Company began earning a royalty fromx@EmithKline in 1999 on net sales of Ageneras¢hénfourth quarter of 2003 on net s¢
of Lexiva, and in the third quarter of 2004 on sa&les of Telzir. GlaxoSmithKline has the rightéoniinate its arrangement with the Comp
without cause upon twelve months' notice. Termaratf the collaboration agreement by GlaxoSmith&lwill relieve it of its obligation to
make further payments under the agreement anemdllany license granted to GlaxoSmithKline by tenfany under the agreement. In
June 1996, the Company and GlaxoSmithKline obtamerldwide, non-exclusive license under certaid.Gearle & Co. ("Searle," now
owned by Pharmacia/Pfizer) patents in the arealdfgtotease inhibition. Searle is paid royaltiesdd on net sales of Agenerase and
Lexiva/Telzir.

On May 30, 2008, the Company entered imparahase agreement (the "Purchase Agreement")Regamprenavir Royalty, L.P.
("Fosamprenavir Royalty") pursuant to which the @amy sold, and Fosamprenavir Royalty purchasedztmpany's right to receive roye
payments, net of royalty amounts to be earned ardal Searle, arising from sales of Lexiva/Telrid &generase under the Company's 1993
agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, from April 1, 20@8the end of the term of the collaboration agresifer a one-time cash payment of
$160.0 million. In accordance with the Purchaseetgnent, GlaxoSmithKline will make all royalty paymtg net of the subroyalty amounts
payable to Searle, directly to Fosamprenavir Rgydlhe Purchase Agreement also contains otherseptations, warranties, covenants and
indemnification obligations. The Company contint@be obligated for royalty amounts earned anddhadue to Searle, however, in
connection with this transaction, the Company hatucted GlaxoSmithKline to pay such amounts diydo Searle as they become due.

The Company classified the proceeds reddnen Fosamprenavir Royalty as deferred reveniodse recognized as royalty revenues
over the life of the collaboration agreement beeaafthe Company's continuing involvement in thgalty arrangement over the term of the
Purchase Agreement. Such continuing involvemenigiwis required pursuant to covenants containgdérPurchase Agreement, includes
overseeing GlaxoSmithKline's compliance with thiatmration agreement, monitoring and defendin@painfringement, adverse claims or
litigation involving the royalty stream, undertagito cooperate with Fosamprenavir Royalty's efftotind a new license partner in the event
that GlaxoSmithKline terminates the collaboratigneement, and compliance with the license agreemigmiSearle, including the obligation
to make future royalty payments to Searle. Bec#uséransaction was structured as a non-cancelsabde the Company does not have
significant continuing involvement in the generatif the cash flows due to Fosamprenavir Royaltythere are no guaranteed rates of re
to Fosamprenavir Royalty, the Company has recotliegroceeds as deferred revenues pursuant to&8-1B.

The Company recorded $155.1 million, repnéisig the proceeds of the transaction less theoyatty payable to Fosamprenavir Royalty
for the period from April 1, 2008 through May 3@dB, as
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Q. GlaxoSmithKline plc Collaboration and Sale of HV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Stream (Continued)

deferred revenues to be recognized as royalty tmseaver the life of the collaboration agreememtenrthe "units-ofrevenue" method. Und
this method, the amount of deferred revenues tetagnized as royalty revenues in each periodiculzded by multiplying the following:

(1) the net royalty payments due to FosamprenawyaRy for the period by (2) the ratio of the remiag deferred revenue amount to the total
estimated remaining net royalties that GlaxoSmiithéIs expected to pay Fosamprenavir Royalty dvettérm of the collaboration
agreement. On May 31, 2008, the Company began m&ing these deferred revenues. In addition, then@my will continue to recognize
royalty revenues for the portion of the royaltyrest that is due to Searle.

The Company will recognize royalty expensesach period based on (i) deferred transactipem@ses in the same manner and over the
same period in which the related deferred reveauesecognized as royalty revenues plus (ii) thespalty paid by GlaxoSmithKline to
Searle on net sales of Agenerase and Lexiva/Tielzthe period.

R. Employee Benefits

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plae ‘(Vertex 401(k) Plan™) in which substantially aflits permanent employees are eligibli
participate. Participants may contribute up to 6if%heir annual compensation to the Vertex 401{BnhPsubject to statutory limitations. The
Company may declare discretionary matching contidbg to the Vertex 401(k) Plan that are payablentex common stock. The match is
paid in the form of fully vested interests in a ¥arcommon stock fund. Employees have the abilityansfer funds from the Company stock
fund as they choose. The Company declared matdoinigibutions to the Vertex 401(k) Plan as follows:

2008 2007 2006
(in thousands)
Discretionary matching contributions during theryeaded December ¢ $5,027 $4,34C $3,341
Shares issued during the year ended Decembi 19t 13z 91
Shares issuable as of the year ended Decemb 38 48 28

S. Contingencies

The Company has certain contingent liabgithat arise in the ordinary course of its bussrectivities. The Company accrues a reserve
for contingent liabilities when it is probable thHature expenditures will be made and such expareltcan be reasonably estimated. There
were no contingent liabilities accrued as of Decen#i, 2008 or 2007.

T. Guarantees

As permitted under Massachusetts law, th@@any's Articles of Organization and Bylaws previlat the Company will indemnify
certain of its officers and directors for certalaims asserted against them in connection wittr gexvice as an officer or director. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make under thessrindication provisions is
unlimited. However, the Company has purchased wirscand officers' liability insurance policiesattcould reduce its monetary exposure
enable it to recover a portion of any future ameyrgid. No indemnification claims are currentlystahding and the Company believes the
estimated fair value of these indemnification agements is minimal.
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The Company customarily agrees in the engirrourse of its business to indemnification psaris in agreements with clinical trials
investigators and sites in its drug developmengmms, in sponsored research agreements with ag@dadhnot-for-profit institutions, in
various comparable agreements involving partieBpaing services for the Company in the ordinaryrse of business, and in its real estate
leases. The Company also customarily agrees taigendemnification provisions in its drug discoyedevelopment and commercialization
collaboration agreements. With respect to the Cayipalinical trials and sponsored research agragmthese indemnification provisions
typically apply to any claim asserted against theegtigator or the investigator's institution riglgtto personal injury or property damage,
violations of law or certain breaches of the Compmnontractual obligations arising out of the egsh or clinical testing of the Company's
compounds or drug candidates. With respect to lagsgements, the indemnification provisions typycapply to claims asserted against the
landlord relating to personal injury or propertyriege caused by the Company, to violations of lakhkeyCompany or to certain breaches of
the Company's contractual obligations. The indeitetibn provisions appearing in the Company's taltation agreements are similar, bu
addition provide some limited indemnification ftg collaborator in the event of third-party claialeging infringement of intellectual
property rights. In each of the cases above, thenmification obligation generally survives themié@ration of the agreement for some
extended period, although the obligation typichlis the most relevance during the contract ternf@ma short period of time thereafter. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make under thesasas is generally unlimited. The
Company has purchased insurance policies coveargppal injury, property damage and general lightliat reduce its exposure for
indemnification and would enable it in many casesetover a portion of any future amounts paid. Thepany has never paid any material
amounts to defend lawsuits or settle claims reladdtiese indemnification provisions. Accordinglye Company believes the estimated fair
value of these indemnification arrangements is mihi

In March 2003, the Company sold certairetsssf PanVera LLC to Invitrogen Corporation fopegximately $97 million. In December
2003, the Company sold certain instrumentationtageeAurora Discovery, Inc. for approximately $4nllion. The agreements with the
buyers each require the Company to indemnify thebagainst any loss it may suffer by reason otésés breach of certain representations
and warranties, or failure to perform certain cams, contained in such agreement. The represemativarranties and covenants contained
in the agreements are of a type customary in agrreof this sort. The Company's aggregate obtigatunder the indemnity contained in
each agreement are, with a few exceptions whiclCtrapany believes are not material, capped at aifeshthe applicable purchase price,
and apply to claims under representations and wiesamade within fifteen months after closing (@hperiod has ended) although there is
no corresponding time limit for claims made basedmaches of covenants. Neither Invitrogen noofaihas made any claims to date under
the applicable indemnities, and the Company beligiat the estimated fair value of the remainirgmnification obligations is minimal.

On September 14, 2006, the Company entetec purchase agreement with Merrill Lynch, Péerléenner & Smith Incorporated, on
February 12, 2008, the Company entered into undmgagreements with Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen&eBmith Incorporated, and on
September 18, 2008, the Company entered into aarwniting agreement with Goldman, Sachs & Co. @udively, the purchase agreements
and the underwriting agreements, the "Underwrithggeements"), as the representative of the sevaddrwriters, if any, named in such
agreements, relating to the public offering ané sdishares of the Company's common stock or ctiblesubordinated notes. The
Underwriting Agreement relating to each offerinquiges the Company to indemnify the underwriters
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against any loss they may suffer by reason of tagany's breach of representations and warrargiang to that public offering, the
Company's failure to perform certain covenanthosé agreements, the inclusion of any untrue stateof material fact in the prospectus
used in connection with that offering, the omissiérany material fact needed to make those masemiail misleading, and any actions taken
by the Company or its representatives in conneatiitim the offering. The representations, warrangied covenants in the Underwriting
Agreements are of a type customary in agreemeritéogort. The Company believes the estimatedvidire of these indemnification
arrangements is minimal.

U. Subsequent Event—Management Transition

On February 5, 2009, Matthew W. Emmens, afrtbe Company's directors, became the Compamg&sdent and on May 23, 2009, he
will become the Company's Chief Executive Officad&hairman. On February 5, 2009, the Company est@to a transition agreement
with Dr. Joshua S. Boger that set forth certaineffienhe will receive when he steps down as the @om's Chief Executive Officer in May
2009. These benefits include: (i) a lump sum payroéapproximately $2.9 million payable in Novemi2809, (ii) 18 months' accelerated
vesting of his outstanding stock options, whicH vémain exercisable until December 31, 2010, sulgespecified limitations, (iii)

18 months' accelerated vesting of each outstandstgicted stock award, treating each award ds#sts ratably over the term of the grant
rather than the end of the service period andréivibursement for certain expenses. The Compangoexpo record a cash charge of $2.9
million in the first half of 2009 in connection Wwithe lump sum payable in November 2009. In addlitibe Company expects to record in
2009 a non-cash charge of approximately $11 milia$13 million due to the acceleration and extenebeercisability of Dr. Boger's equity
awards. The non-cash charge will include a revedoaif the equity awards, based predominantly &tegk-Scholes analysis or other
valuation method.
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Three Months Ended
March 31, 200¢ June 30, 200 Sept. 30,200 Dec. 31, 200
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues

Royalty revenue $ 10,85 $ 9,741 $ 7,762 $ 9,12¢
Collaborative and other research and developmeenrees 30,82« 59,66¢ 23,84¢ 23,68:
Total revenue 41,67¢ 69,40¢ 31,60¢ 32,81

Costs and expense
Royalty expense 3,57¢ 3,701 4,194 4,21¢
Research and development exper 116,15: 129,39¢ 131,58: 139,16
Sales, general and administrative expel 20,05: 26,62¢ 25,57¢ 29,65¢
Restructuring expens 63C 1,16¢ 88t 1,641
Total costs and expens 140,41 160,89( 162,23° 174,67
Loss from operation (98,736 (91,48) (130,62%) (141,86
Interest incom 4,49¢ 3,99 4,39¢ 3,44:
Interest expens (1,919 (3,839 (3,812 (3,917)
Net loss $ (96,159) $ (91,32) $(130,04) $(142,33)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ 0.72) $ (0.66) $ (099 $ (0.9¢)
Basic and diluted weight-average number of common shares outsta 134,47: 138,72! 140,10¢ 148,78:

Three Months Ended
March 31, 2007 June 30, 200 Sept. 30,200 Dec. 31, 200
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues

Royalty revenue $ 9,79¢ $ 10,967 $ 12,52: $ 14,68¢
Collaborative and other research and developme&enrees 59,01« 27,22¢ 28,49: 36,30¢
Total revenue 68,81( 38,19¢ 41,01« 50,99:

Costs and expense
Royalty expense 3,26¢ 3,401 3,56z 3,67
Research and development expet 133,82 137,24( 130,02- 117,58t
Sales, general and administrative expel 15,28¢ 22,26¢ 20,34 21,20¢
Restructuring expen: 5,05t 90¢€ 882 27¢€
Total costs and expens 157,43¢ 163,81¢ 154,80¢ 142,74(
Loss from operation (88,629 (125,62() (113,79H (91,749
Interest incomt 9,122 8,42 7,25¢€ 5,991
Interest expens (1,227) (570 (499 —
Net loss $ (80,729 $(117,76°) $(107,03) $ (85,75)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ 069 ¢ (091) $ (082 $ (0.6€)
Basic and diluted weight-average number of common shares outstal 125,75t 129,26¢ 130,00¢ 130,74:
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Execution Versior

Amendment No. 3
to
Employment Agreement

This Amendment No. 3 (the_* Amendmeéito the Employment Agreement, dated NovemberdB4] as amended on May 12, 1995 and
November 8, 2004 (tt* Agreement’), between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatédaasachusetts corporation (together with its
successors and assigns, the “ Compamand Joshua S. Boger (the “ Executiyés entered into by the parties on December 8082 The
parties hereby agree that the Agreement shall lended as follows:

1.

Section 6.4 of the Agreement shall be amendeddadfaslfollowing words at the end of the first sewte of such Section:
“, payable in a lump sum within ten (10) busineaggdafter the effective date of termination.”
Section 7.1.4 of the Agreement shall be amendeatlbyng the following at the end of such Section:

“The parties intend that continued health coveragger the Company'’s plans shall not constituteeéeidal of compensation’ under
Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(b) during the peredExecutive would be entitled to continuation gage under COBRA (typically
18 months) and that any continued life, disab#gity accident coverage shall not constitute a ‘d&fef compensation’ during any
period in which such continued coverage qualifiea dimited payment’ of an ‘in kind’ benefit und@reas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1
(b)(9)(V)(C) and (D). Any portion of the continugfi®, disability, accident and health coverage ikaubject to Section 409A of the
Code is intended to qualify as a ‘reimbursemernibind benefit plan’ under Treas. Reg. Sectior024-3(i)(1)(iv). In no event
shall the amount that the Company pays for any beciefit in any one year affect the amount thaflitpay in any other year, and
no event shall the benefits described in this pagatgbe subject to liquidation or exchange. If@mnpany reimburses the Executive
for the amount of any benefit under this Sectidn47.such reimbursement shall be made on or b#ffierkast day of the Executive’s
taxable year following the taxable year in which #xpense was incurred. Notwithstanding the foregaf the Executive is a
‘specified employee’ (as defined in Section 12pfthe date of the Executive’s termination of enyph@nt, no such life, disability or
accident benefits that are not excludable fromirtheme of the Executive and that are, in the agageedn excess of the then current
dollar limit set forth in Section 402(g)(1)(B) dfe¢ Code shall be payable during the first six (6nths after such Executive’s
termination of employment. To the extent that amisuvould otherwise have been payable during suchmenth period in excess of
such limit, the excess amount shall be payabléeriitst day following the end of the six-month ipérafter the Executive’s
termination of employment. The Executive shall htheright during such six-month period to pay anpaid part of the premiums
on such benefits at the Executive’'s own expenseder for the Executive to keep such benefits mdd

Section 7.1.6 of the Agreement shall be amendeatlojng the following at the end of the last sengevicsuch Section:

“, but in no event later than the last day of thxe&utive’s taxable year following the taxable yeawhich the Executive remits the
related taxes.”




4, Section 11.5.1 of the Agreement shall be amendeatklsting the second sentence of such Sectios enitirety.
5. A new Section 12 shall be added, which shall staies entirety as follows:
“12. 409A.

Each payment and benefit payable under this Agratiméntended to constitute a separate paymergudgroses of
Treasury Reg. 8§1.409A-2(b)(2). If the Executiva ispecified employee’ as defined in Treasury REAg409A-1(i), the
commencement of the delivery of any such paymdratisdonstitute nonqualified deferred compensateyaple upon a
‘separation from service’ under Section 409A(a)R(i) of the Code (determined after applying thegarmptions set forth
in Treasury Reg. 81.409A-1(h)(1)) will be delayedilthe later of (i) the first business day th&ore than six months
after the employment termination date and (ii)dh&e such payments would otherwise be payable hdeeuThe
determination of whether, and the extent to whaaty, of the payments to be made to the Executiveumeler are
nonqualified deferred compensation shall be math tife application of all applicable exclusiomsgluding those set forth
under Treasury Reg. § 1.409A-1(b)(9). Any paymémas are intended to qualify for the exclusiondeparation pay due to
involuntary separation from service set forth irgR&1.409A1(b)(9)(iii) must be paid no later than the lasy déthe secon
taxable year following the taxable year in which #mployment termination date occurs. To the exteattthe termination
of the Executive’s employment does not constituse@aration of service under Section 409A(a)(2)jA¥the Code (as the
result of further services that are reasonablycgrated to be provided by the Executive to the Camypat the time the
Executive’s employment is terminated, determinadradpplying the presumptions set forth in Treasteg. §1.409A-1(h)
(1)), the payment of any non-qualified deferred penmsation will be further delayed until the latéfipdate the first
business day that is more than six months afteddte of a subsequent event constituting a separafiservice under
Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and (ii) thatel such payments would otherwise be payable héeelin

6. As so amended, the Agreement shall remain in éutld and effect.

7. This Amendment may be executed in any number ofiteoparts, each of which shall be deemed an ofligimizall of which togethe
shall constitute one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have executed this Amendmetti@date first written above.
VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL
By: /s/Valerie L. Andrews

Valerie L. Andrews
Vice President and Deputy General Coul

/sl Joshua S. Bog
Joshua S. Boge
President and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 10.60
Vertex Employee Compensation Plan

On an annual basis in the first quarter of thealigear the Management Development and Compensatamnittee of our Board of
Directors adopts an employee compensation plaoupofficers and other employees, including our edrexecutive officers together with
performance goals for that fiscal year. The plagresises three components of employee compensatiase-dalary, performance bonus
which serve as short-term incentives and equitptgrevhich serve as long-term incentive—that arégahesl to motivate, reward and retain
employees by aligning compensation with the achearg of strategic corporate goals as well as iddiai performance objectives.

Upon completion of each performance period (usumltalendar year), our Board of Directors assigna performance rating on the
basis of achievement of goals for the company wéhé Board early in the performance period. Thewam available for payment of
performance bonuses is established on the batlissgierformance rating, and is allocated to emgdsyon the basis of salary tier and
individual performance rating. The base salaryheféxecutive officers are set based on market tred oompetitive factors. Merit increases
to base salaries for other employees are madeedpaitis of individual performance rating. Annualigggrants, made in the form of stock
options, restricted stock grants, or a combinatiblboth are made on the basis of salary tier advitual performance.

The Management Development and Compensation Coaanitains broad discretion to determine the apjatepform and level of
compensation, particularly for our executives, loa basis of its assessment of our executives,dimadd for talent, our performance and
other factors. Key corporate performance factoreegaly include, among other things, achievemerspefcific financial objectives, research
productivity, development progression with resgedioth internal development efforts and collabiweatievelopment, and other aspects of
our performance. We reserve the right to modifyplaa, and the key corporate performance factodscaiteria under the plan, at any time.

On February 5, 2009, we determined the cash bomnarda related to the fiscal year ended Decembe2@18 and annual salaries
effective February 2009. The cash bonus awardthéfollowing executive officers were:

Name 2008 Cash Bonu: 2009 Salary

Joshua S. Boge $ 978,75( $ 950,15:
Matthew W. Emmen $ — 3 1,100,00I
Kurt C. Graves $ 369,96¢ $ 470,45:
Peter Muellel $ 385,32: $ 472,48
lan F. Smitr $ 391,50 $ 463,50(
Kenneth S. Boge $ 315,15¢ $ 412,20°




Exhibit 10.64

Amendment No. 2
to
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement

This Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restatepl&ment Agreement, dated November 8, 2004, as detcon February 11, 2008
(the “ Agreement), between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatddaasachusetts corporation (together with its sismresand assigns, the “
Company’) and Kenneth S. Boger (the “ Executif)as entered into by the parties on December 2882 The parties hereby agree that the
Agreement shall be amended as follows:

1. Section 1(g) shall be amended by adding the foligwo the end thereof:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent thay payments under this Agreement that are paygiua disability constitute
nonqualified deferred compensation subject to 8eetD9A of the Code, “DISABILTY” or “DISABLED” shdlmean, by reason of
any medically determinable physical or mental impaint that can be expected to result in death mbeaexpected to last for a
continuous period of not less than 12 months, tkechtive is either (&) unable to engage in anytambial gainful activity or

(b) receiving income replacement benefits for aqokof not less than three months under any disalplan covering employees of
the Company. For purposes of the immediately foregsentence, the existence of a disability welldetermined in all respects in
accordance with the provisions of Section 409A (42 of the Code.

2. Section 8 shall be amended by inserting the follgwanguage at the end of the current language|las/s:
“Any reimbursement in one calendar year shall filgichthe amount that may be reimbursed in anyrathkendar year, and a
reimbursement (or right thereto) may not be exckdray liquidated for another benefit or paymenty&xpense reimbursements
subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be madiater than the end of the calendar year folloviiveycalendar year in which st
business expense is incurred by the Executive.”

3. Section 10(a)(vii) shall be amended in its entitetyead as follows:

“(vii) six months of Severance Pay, payabladécordance with the regular payroll practicethefCompany, commencing on the
first day of the month following the month in whitdrmination under this SECTION 10(a) occurred;”

4. Section 10(b) shall be amended to delete the &sigpaph thereof in its entirety.
5. The first phrase of Section 10(c)(iii) shall be athed to read as follows:

“(ii) Twelve months of Severance Pay, payablaccordance with the regular payroll practicethe Company, commencing
the first day of the month following the month dwgiwhich the Executive’s employment is terminatader this SECTION 10(c);”

6. Section 10(c)(viii) shall be amended in its entiras follows:

“(viii)  until the earlier of (a) the expiratioof the term of the Severance Pay paid under &@etf(c)(iii) above or (b) the date the
Executive receives equivalent coverage and bengfiler the




plan of a subsequent employer, the Company shalige the Executive with medical and dental insaeabenefits substantially
similar to those which the Executive was receiimgediately prior to the termination of his emplogmt, including any employer
paid portion of the premium, subject to the Exea@is election of benefits under the Consolidatechibms Budget Reconciliation
Act of 1985 (“COBRA") in accordance with the applide plan procedures. During such time that thecitxee is receiving such
continued medical and dental benefits from the Camgpthe Company shall also provide Executive Wighinsurance benefits
substantially similar to those which the Executives receiving immediately prior to the terminatadrhis employment

Section 26 shall be amended as follows:
0] By adding the following to the enfitbe first paragraph thereof:
“The Company will pay to Executive the Additional Aomt within 10 days after the Executive deliversht® Company a calculatic
of the Additional Amount, together with such sugpar documentation as the Company may reasonablyines provided that the
Company does not object to such calculation.”
(i) By adding the following to the enfitbe third paragraph thereof:
“Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payments undés Section 26 from the Company to Executive shalinade after the end of the
calendar year immediately following the calendaanjia which the Executive remits the related taeethe applicable taxing
authority.”

Section 27 shall be amended to hdddllowing at the end of the current language:
“Any portion of a payment that constitutes nondfirdi deferred compensation under Section 409A ®fCbde payable as a result of
a termination of employment may only be paid updseparation from service” under Section 409A(a)&20) of the Code. For

purposes of clarification, the foregoing senterteasot cause any forfeiture of benefits on the phathe Executive, but shall only
act as a delay until such time as a “separatiom ervice” occurs.”




As so amended, the Employment Agreement shall remdull force and effect. Executed as of theedsdt forth above:

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL

By: /s/ Valerie Andrew:

V.P. & Deputy General Couns

/s| Kenneth S. Boge

Kenneth S. Boge




Exhibit 10.65

Amendment No. 1
to
Employment Agreement

This Amendment No. 1 to the Employment Agreemeated June 29, 2007 (the “ AgreemBnbetween Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated, a Massachusetts corporation (togethbrits successors and assigns, the “ Comparand Kurt Graves (the “ Executivgis
entered into by the parties on December 29, 200k parties hereby agree that the Agreement sbahiended as follows:

1. Section 5(e) shall be amended to insert the foligvaentence after the current first sentence b asdollows:

“To the extent subject to Section 409A of the CdHe,reimbursement to the Executive shall be madater than December 31,
2009.”

2. Section 8 shall be amended by inserting the follgwanguage at the end of the current language|lass:

“Any reimbursement in one calendar year shall filgichthe amount that may be reimbursed in anyrathiendar year, and a
reimbursement (or right thereto) may not be exckdny liquidated for another benefit or paymenty&xpense reimbursements
subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be madiater than the end of the calendar year folloviiveycalendar year in which st
business expense is incurred by the Executive.”

3. Section 11(a)(vii) shall be amended to read asvia!

“(vii) six months of Severance Pay, payabladécordance with the regular payroll practicethefCompany, commencing on the
first day of the month following the month in whitdrmination under this Section 11(a) occurred; and

4. Section 11(b) shall be amended to delete the &sigpaph thereof in its entirety.
5. The first phrase of Section 11(c)(iii) shall be athed to read as follows:

“(ii) Twelve months of Severance Pay, payablaccordance with the regular payroll practicethe Company, commencing
the first day of the month following the month dwgiwhich the Executive’s employment is terminatadar this Section 11(c)”

6. Section 11(c)(viii) shall be amended in its entiras follows:

“(viii)  until the earlier of (a) the expiratioof the term of the Severance Pay paid under @etti(c)(iii) above or (b) the date the
Executive receives equivalent coverage and benefidger the plan of a subsequent employer, the Coynglaall provide the
Executive with medical, dental and hospitalizaiiosurance benefits substantially similar to thoséctv the Executive was receiving
immediately prior to the termination of his emplasmt, including any employer paid portion of therpiem, subject to the
Executive’s election of benefits under the Consaibd Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (‘BRA”) in accordance with
the applicable plan procedures. During such tina¢ the Executive is receiving such continued nadaental and hospitalization
benefits from the Company, the Company shall atsgige Executive with life insurance benefits salngially similar to those whic
the Executive was receiving immediately prior te tarmination of his employment

7. Section 11 shall be amended by adding the followirtpe end of the final paragraph thereof:




“For purposes of clarification, any portion of aypgent that constitutes nonqualified deferred corspgan under Section 409A of
the Code payable as a result of a termination qgflegment may only be paid upon a “separation fremvise” under Section 409A
(@)(2)(A)(i) of the Code. For purposes of clarifica, the foregoing sentence shall not cause arigifore of benefits on the part of
the Executive, but shall only act as a delay wtdh time as a “separation from service” occurs .”




As so amended, the Employment Agreement shall remdull force and effect. Executed as of theedsdt forth above:

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL

By: /sl Kenneth S. Boge

Kenneth S. Boge
Senior Vice President and General Coul

/s/ Kurt Graves

Kurt Graves




Exhibit 10.66

Amendment No. 1
to
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement

This Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restatepl@®ment Agreement, dated November 8, 2004 (thgreAment), between Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusetts reiquo (together with its successors and assities; Company), and lan F. Smith (the “
Executive”) is entered into by the parties on December 2882 The parties hereby agree that the Agreenhetittse amended as follows:

1. Section 1(g) shall be amended by adding the fohgvthereto:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent thay payments under this Agreement that are paygiua disability constitute
nonqualified deferred compensation subject to 8retDIA of the Code, “DISABILTY” or “DISABLED” shd&lmean, by reason of
any medically determinable physical or mental impaint that can be expected to result in death mbeaexpected to last for a
continuous period of not less than 12 months, tkechtive is either (&) unable to engage in anytambial gainful activity or

(b) receiving income replacement benefits for aqokof not less than three months under any diggalplan covering employees of
the Company. For purposes of the immediately foregsentence, the existence of a disability welldetermined in all respects in
accordance with the provisions of Section 409A2HY) of the Code.”

2. Section 8 shall be amended by inserting the folhmwanguage at the end of the current language|las/s:
“Any reimbursement in one calendar year shall filgichthe amount that may be reimbursed in anyrathkendar year, and a
reimbursement (or right thereto) may not be exckdray liquidated for another benefit or paymenty&xpense reimbursements
subject to Section 409A of the Code shall be madiater than the end of the calendar year follovihgcalendar year in which st
business expense is incurred by the Executive.”

3. Section 10(a)(vii) shall be amended in its entitetyead as follows:

“(vii) six months of Severance Pay, payabladécordance with the regular payroll practicethefCompany, commencing on the
first day of the month following the month in whitdrmination under this SECTION 10(a) occurred;”

4. Section 10(b) shall be amended to delete the setcoladt paragraph thereof in its entirety.
5. The first phrase of Section 10(c)(iii) shall be authed to read as follows:

“(ii) Twelve months of Severance Pay, payablaccordance with the regular payroll practicethe Company, commencing
the first day of the month following the month dwgiwhich the Executive’s employment is terminatader this SECTION 10(c);”

6. Section 10(c)(ix) shall be amended in its entiregyfollows:
“(ix) until the earlier of (a) the expirati of the term of the Severance Pay paid undeid®et®(c)(iii) above or (b) the date the

Executive receives equivalent coverage and benefidger the plan of a subsequent employer, the Coynglaall provide the
Executive with medical, dental and hospitalizatiosurance benefits substantially similar to thoséctv the Executive was




9.

receiving immediately prior to the termination @ kmployment, including any employer paid portddrthe premium, subject to the
Executive’s election of benefits under the Consaibd Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 OBRA ") in accordance wit
the applicable plan procedures. During such tina¢ the Executive is receiving such continued nedaental and hospitalization
benefits from the Company, the Company shall atsgige Executive with life insurance benefits salngially similar to those whic
the Executive was receiving immediately prior te tarmination of his employment.”

Section 10 shall be amended by adding the followiniipe end of the final paragraph thereof:

“For purposes of clarification, any portion of gogyment hereunder that constitutes nonqualifiedrded compensation under
Section 409A of the Code payable as a result efraihation of employment may only be paid uponep&ation from service”
under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code. Forgmses of clarification, the foregoing sentencdl stta cause any forfeiture of
benefits on the part of the Executive, but shaly @tt as a delay until such time as a “separédtiom service” occurs .”

Section 26 is amended by adding the following piovi to the end thereof:

“Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payments undés Section 26 from the Company to Executive shalinade after the end of the
calendar year immediately following the calendaanyjia which the Executive remits the related tawethe applicable taxing
authority.”

The Agreement shall be amended by adding the follgwew Section 27:

“27. 409A COMPLIANCE.

Any severance payment to the Executive under tgiedment shall be bifurcated into two portions,sistimg of a portion that does
not constitute “nonqualified deferred compensatiaithin the meaning of Section 409A of the Code ambrtion, if any, that does
constitute nonqualified deferred compensatiorhéf Executive is a “specified employee” as defimedireasury Reg. 81.409A-1(i),
the commencement of the delivery of any such paysrthat constitute nonqualified deferred compensgtiayable upon a
“separation from service” under Section 409A(ayR2(i) of the Code (determined after applying thegumptions set forth in
Treasury Reg. §1.409A-1(h)(1)) will be delayed Lttt later of (i) the first business day that isrmthan six months after the
employment termination date and (ii) the date uepyments would otherwise be payable hereunderd&t@mination of whether,
and the extent to which, any of the payments tmbde to the Executive hereunder are nonqualifiéerasl compensation shall be
made after the application of all applicable exidas, including those set forth under Treasury RAg409A-1(b)(9). Any payments
that are intended to qualify for the exclusiondeparation pay due to involuntary separation fremise set forth in Treasury

Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) must be paid no laterrthibe last day of the second taxable year follovirggtaxable year in which the
employment termination date occurs. To the exteaitthe termination of the Executive’s employm@ogs not constitute a
separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2))Aithe Code (as the result of further serviced #re reasonably anticipated to be
provided by the Executive to the Company at thetie Executive’'s employment is terminated, deteeaiiafter applying the
presumptions set forth in Treasury Reg. §1.409A¢1{h the payment of any non-qualified deferrechpensation will be further
delayed until the later of (i) date the first buesia day that is more than six months after the afadesubsequent event constituting a
separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2)§Afithe Code and (ii) the date such payments wotliérwise be payable
hereunder. Any portion of a payment that conggutonqualified deferred compensation under Seddi@A of the Code payable as
a result of a termination of employment may onlyplaé upon a “separation from




service” under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Codeor purposes of clarification, the foregoingteece shall not cause any
forfeiture of benefits on the part of the Executilat shall only act as a delay until such tima dseparation from service” occurs . ”




As so amended, the Amended and Restated Employhgeaément shall remain in full force and effecixeButed as of the date set forth
above:

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATEL
By: /s/ Kenneth S. Boge

Kenneth S. Boge
Senior Vice President and General Coul

/s/ lan F. Smitt
lan F. Smittr




Exhibit 10.67
Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement and ChafdControl Agreement

Each of the Employment Agreement and Change ofrGbAgreement (the “ Agreemerits between the undersigned and Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated hereby is amenderbtade that (i) the general release of all claimbé executed by the undersigned as a
condition to payment by the Company of severancefits shall be executed by the undersigned wiBRiays of the last date of the
undersigned’s employment by the Company, (ii) thenPany’s right to waive the notice period uponraiieation by Executive without
Good Reason (in the Employment Agreement) herahgelieted, and (iii) the continuation insuranangums to be paid by the Company
pursuant to an Agreement shall include all applegoemiums under standard medical, dental andngerance coverage, whether or not
covered by COBRA. Defined terms used without spedéfinition in this Amendment to the Agreemertialshave the meanings set forth in
the Agreements.

Date:

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By:

Name:
Title:
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SUBSIDIARIES OF VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diego) LLC, a Delaiiarged liability company

VSD Sub | LLC, a Delaware limited liability compaiiy

VSD Sub Il LLC, a Delaware limited liability compg{2)

Vertex Securities Corporation, a Massachusettsocation

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman) Limited, a Caynstantls company

Vertex Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Vertex Securities Trust, a Massachusetts busimesg3)

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Ltd., a United o limited liability company(4)

1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diég@)
a subsidiary of VSD Sub | LLC
a subsidiary of Vertex Holdings, Inc.

jointly held by Vertex Securities Trust and Vertéaldings, Inc.

EXHIBIT 21.1
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statements (Form S-8 NoA&®0, 33-48348, 33-65472, 333-65666,
33-93324, 333-12325, 333-27011, 333-56179, 333-465883-79549, 333-104362, 333-115458, 333-134482,1317277, 333-150946 and
333-150945 and Form S-3 No. 3333543) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatedunfreports dated February 12, 2009, with respetttd
consolidated financial statements of Vertex Phaguticals Incorporated and the effectiveness ofiatiecontrol over financial reporting of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, included i Amnual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended &eber 31, 2008.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 12, 2009
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Joshua S. Boger, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-R/eftex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated,;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsbsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulatlying the period in which this report is beingpared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmare with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registranttdaisre controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi$ganternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtexhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thatauaanmittee of the registrant's board of direci@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

€)) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsdsehe design or operation of internal contraérofinancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information;
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesniaggement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2009 /s/ JOSHUA S. BOGER

Joshua S. Boger
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2
[, lan F. Smith, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K/eftex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not com@ajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements odimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | a@sponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

(@ designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingpared;

(b) designed such internal control over financial répgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting principles

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdalisre controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the regis¢santernal control over financial reporting tleacurred during the registrar
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofigital quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reportinggdan

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | kalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thataxmmittee of the registrant's board of direcf@nspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsethe design or operation of internal contraérofimancial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize @&port financial information;
and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéamin the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2009 /sl IAN F. SMITH

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Off
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Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamdsy Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Secti350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United St
Code) each of the undersigned officers of VertearRlaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusetts cdipoiighe "Company"), does hereby
certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2008 (the "Form 10-K") of tbenfany fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934, and the informationteored in the Form 10-K fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial conditiod aesults of operations of the Company.

Date: February 13, 20(
/sl JOSHUA S. BOGER

Joshua S. Boger
Chief Executive Office

Date: February 13, 20(
/s/ 1AN F. SMITH

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Ofi

A signed original of this written statemeadjuired by Section 906 has been provided to tirafany and will be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@ammission or its staff upon request.
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